

Proposed Revisions

to the

Rules and Regulations

of the

Colorado Mined Land Reclamation Board

for

Coal Mining

May 13, 2014

Organizational Notes

Proposed rule amendments are arranged sequentially.

Text which is proposed to be deleted in the amended rule is denoted by ~~strikeout~~.

Text which is proposed to be inserted in the amended rule is denoted by **CAPITAL LETTERS**.

Text which is proposed to be inserted in response to the OSM February 27, 2014 letter is denoted by **HIGHLIGHTED CAPITAL LETTERS**.

Text which is proposed to be deleted in response to the OSM February 27, 2014 letter is denoted by ~~highlighted-strikeout~~.

Text which is proposed to be inserted in response to the OSM May 13, 2014 e-mail comment is denoted by **HIGHLIGHTED CAPITAL LETTERS**.

*** indicates no change to existing text.

RULE 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.01-1.02 ***

1.03 RESPONSIBILITIES

1.03.1 ***

1.03.2 The Board is responsible for:

(1)-(3) ***

- (4) Requesting data and technical assistance, as it deems necessary for the performance of reclamation and enforcement duties prescribed by these Rules and the Act from the Department of Agriculture, the Department of Higher Education, the Department of **PUBLIC Health AND ENVIRONMENT**, the State Soil Conservation Board, the Colorado Geological Survey, the Division of Parks and Outdoor Recreation, the Division of Water Resources, the Division of Wildlife, the University of Colorado, Colorado State University, Colorado School of Mines, and the State Forester. It is the duty of these agencies to furnish the Board and its designees such data and technical assistance, as is practically required, in a timely manner that will allow compliance with Sections 34-33-118, 34-33-119 and 34-33-126 of the Act.

1.03.3-1.03.4 ***

1.04 DEFINITIONS

(1) ***

- (1 ~~a.~~ 1) "Acid drainage" means water with a pH of less than 6.0 and in which total acidity exceeds total alkalinity, discharged from an active, inactive, or abandoned surface coal mine and reclamation operation or from an area affected by surface coal mining and reclamation operations.

(2)-(4) ***

- (5) "Administrator" means the director of the Division of ~~Mined Land~~ Reclamation, **MINING AND SAFETY** in the Department of Natural Resources.

(6) – (11)***

- (11.1) "APPLICANT/VIOLATOR SYSTEM" OR "AVS" MEANS AN AUTOMATED INFORMATION SYSTEM OF APPLICANT, PERMITTEE, OPERATOR, VIOLATION AND RELATED DATA OSM MAINTAINS TO ASSIST IN IMPLEMENTING SMCRA.**

(12)-(17)***

(17~~a~~.1) "Blaster certification program" means the requirements set forth in Rule 6 to ensure that all blasting operations are conducted by trained and competent persons.

(18)-(20)***

(20~~a~~.1) "Certified blaster" means a person certified under the requirements of Rule 6 to be directly responsible for the blasting operations in surface coal mining operations, and surface blasting operations of underground coal mining operations. A certified blaster shall be familiar with the blasting requirements of Rules 2.05.43(6)(A) and 4.08. ~~A certified blaster is differentiated from a shotfirer certified by the State of Colorado in accordance with 34-24-116, C.R.S. A certified blaster has design responsibilities, whereas the shotfirer does not. The blaster certification applies only to surface blasting activities, whereas the shotfirer certification applies to surface and underground blasting activities.~~

(21)-(22)***

(22~~a~~.1) "Coal mine waste" means coal processing waste and underground development waste.

(23)-(26)***

(27) "Community or institutional building" means any structure, other than public building or occupied *RESIDENTIAL* dwelling, which is used primarily for meetings, gatherings or functions of local civic organizations or other community groups; functions as an educational, cultural, historic, religious, scientific, correctional, mental health or physical health care facility; or is used for public services, including, but not limited to, water supply, power generation and sewage treatment.

(28)-(30)***

(30.1) "CONTROL" OR "CONTROLLER", WHEN USED IN RULES 2.03.4, 2.03.5, 2.07.6, 2.07.8, 2.07.9, AND 2.11 REFERS TO OR MEANS:

(A) A PERMITTEE OF A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION;

(B) AN OPERATOR OF A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION; OR

(C) ANY PERSON WHO HAS THE ABILITY TO DETERMINE THE MANNER IN WHICH A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION IS CONDUCTED.

(31) ***

(31~~a~~.1) "Cumulative impact area" means the area which includes, at a minimum, the entire projected lives through bond release of: the proposed operation; all existing operations; any operation for which a permit application has been submitted to the Division; all other operations required to meet diligent

development requirements for leased federal coal, for which there is actual mine development information available.

(31**b.2**) "Current assets" means cash or other assets or resources which are reasonably expected to be converted to cash or sold or consumed within one year or within the normal operating cycle of the business.

(31**e.3**) "Current liabilities" means obligations which are reasonably expected to be paid or liquidated within one year or within the normal operating cycle of the business.

(32)-(37)***

(38) "Division" means the Division of ~~Mined Land~~ Reclamation, **MINING AND SAFETY** in the Department of Natural Resources.

(39) ***

(39.1) "DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY" MEANS WATER RECEIVED FROM A WELL OR SPRING AND ANY APPURTENANT DELIVERY SYSTEM THAT PROVIDES WATER FOR DIRECT HUMAN CONSUMPTION OR HOUSEHOLD USE FOR WHICH THE USER AND/OR OWNER HAS SECURED WATER RIGHTS OR ALLOCATIONS RECOGNIZED BY STATE LAW. WELLS AND SPRINGS THAT SERVE ONLY AGRICULTURAL, COMMERCIAL OR INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES ARE NOT INCLUDED EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THE WATER SUPPLY IS FOR DIRECT HUMAN CONSUMPTION OR HUMAN SANITATION, OR DOMESTIC USE.

(40) ***

(41) "Employee" (regarding employee financial interests in **Section**~~RULE~~ **1.4011**) means:

- (a) Any person employed by the Division who performs any function or duty under the Act; and
- (b) Consultants to the Board or Division who perform any function or duty under the Act, which involves decision making functions for the Division under the authority of State law or regulations;
- (c) But does not mean members of the Board.

(42)-(43)***

(43**a.1**) "Excess spoil" means spoil material not necessary to achieve the approximate original contour, provided that spoil material used to blend the mined area with the surrounding terrain in non-steep slope areas shall not be considered excess spoil.

(44)-(46)***

(46**a.1**) "Farming", with respect to alluvial valley floors, is synonymous with the term "agricultural activities".

(47) ***

(47**a.1**) "Fixed assets" means plants and equipment, but does not include land or coal in place.

(48)-(55)***

(56) "Head-of-hollow fill" means a fill structure consisting of any material, other than coal processing waste and organic material, placed in the uppermost reaches of a hollow where side slopes of the existing hollow measured at the steepest point are greater than 20° or the average slope of the profile of the hollow from the toe of the fill to the top of the fill is greater than 10°. In fills with less than 250,000 cubic yards of material, associated with contour mining, the top surface of the fill will be at the elevation of the coal seam. In all other head-of-hollow fills, the top surface of the fill, when completed, is at approximately the same elevation as the adjacent ridge line, and no significant area of natural drainage occurs above the fill draining into the fill area.

(57) ~~Deleted~~RESERVED.

(58)-(63)***

(63**a.1**) "Impounding structure" means a dam, embankment or other structure used to impound water, slurry, or other liquid or semi-liquid material.

(64)-(70)***

(70**a.1**) "**KNOWING**" OR "Knowingly" means, with respect to individual civil **OR CRIMINAL** penalties, that an individual knew or had reason to know in authorizing, ordering or carrying out an act or omission on the part of a corporate permittee that such act or omission constituted a violation, failure or refusal to comply with any regulatory requirements or order of the Board. **THIS DEFINITION IS APPLICABLE TO ANY PERSON, INCLUDING INDIVIDUAL OPERATORS AS WELL AS PERSONS AUTHORIZING, ORDERING OR CARRYING OUT AN ACT OR OMISSION ON THE PART OF A CORPORATE PERMITTEE.**

(71) "Land use" means specific uses or management-related activities rather than the vegetation or cover of the land. Land uses may be identified in combination when joint or seasonal uses occur. All of the land uses defined below may include land used for support facilities which are adjacent to, or are an integral part of the land use. Changes of land uses or uses from one of the following categories to another as a result of surface coal mining and reclamation operations shall be considered as a change to an alternative land use which is subject to approval by the Division.

(a)-(b) ***

(c) "Rangeland" means ~~land on which plant cover is principally valuable for forage. Except for brush control, management is primarily achieved by regulating the intensity of grazing and season of use.~~ **LAND WHERE THE LAND USE IS A COMBINATION OF GRAZINGLAND AND FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT.**

(d)-(h) ***

(i) "Developed water resources" means use of land for storing water for beneficial uses such as stockponds, irrigation, fire protection, flood control, and water supply.

(j) "Undeveloped land" means land with no current use or level of management. It includes land that has never been developed, or if previously developed, land that has been allowed to return naturally to an undeveloped state or has been allowed to return to forest through natural succession.

(K) "GRAZINGLAND" MEANS LANDS WHERE PLANT COVER, DOMINATED BY ADAPTED WILDLAND SPECIES, IS PRINCIPALLY VALUABLE FOR LIVESTOCK FORAGE, AND MANAGEMENT IS PRIMARILY ACHIEVED BY REGULATING THE INTENSITY OF GRAZING AND SEASON OF USE.

(71 a.1) "Liabilities" means obligations to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future as a result of past transactions.

(71.2) "MATERIAL SUBSIDENCE DAMAGE", IN THE CONTEXT OF RULES 2.05.6(6) AND 4.20, MEANS:

(A) ANY FUNCTIONAL IMPAIRMENT OF SURFACE LANDS, FEATURES, STRUCTURES OR FACILITIES;

(B) ANY PHYSICAL CHANGE THAT HAS A SIGNIFICANT ADVERSE IMPACT ON THE AFFECTED LAND'S CAPABILITY TO SUPPORT ANY CURRENT OR REASONABLY FORESEEABLE USES OR CAUSES SIGNIFICANT LOSS IN PRODUCTION OR INCOME; OR

(C) ANY SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN THE CONDITION, APPEARANCE OR UTILITY OF ANY STRUCTURE OR FACILITY FROM ITS PRE-SUBSIDENCE CONDITION.

(72)-(76)***

(77) ~~"No significant recreational, timber, economic or other values incompatible with surface coal mining operations" means those significant values which could be damaged by, and are not capable of existing together with, surface coal mining operations because of the undesirable effects mining would have on those values, either on the area included in the permit application or on off-site areas which could be affected by mining. These values to be evaluated for their importance include:~~

~~(a) Recreation, including hiking, boating, camping, skiing, or other related outdoor activities;~~

~~(b) Timber management or silviculture;~~

~~(c) Agriculture, aquaculture or production of other natural, processed or manufactured products which enter commerce; and~~

~~(d) Scenic, historic, archeologic, esthetic, fish, wildlife, plants, or cultural interests.~~

"NONCOMMERCIAL BUILDING" MEANS ANY BUILDING, OTHER THAN AN OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING, THAT, AT THE TIME SUBSIDENCE ASSOCIATED WITH UNDERGROUND MINING OPERATIONS OCCURS, IS USED ON A REGULAR OR TEMPORARY BASIS AS A PUBLIC BUILDING OR COMMUNITY OR INSTITUTIONAL BUILDING. ANY BUILDING USED ONLY FOR COMMERCIAL AGRICULTURAL, INDUSTRIAL, RETAIL OR OTHER COMMERCIAL ENTERPRISES IS EXCLUDED.

(78) ***

~~(79) "Occupied dwelling" means any building that is currently being used on a regular or temporary basis for human habitation. "OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING" AND STRUCTURES RELATED THERETO MEANS ANY BUILDING OR OTHER STRUCTURE THAT, AT THE TIME SUBSIDENCE FROM UNDERGROUND MINING OPERATIONS OCCURS, IS USED EITHER TEMPORARILY, OCCASIONALLY, SEASONALLY, OR PERMANENTLY FOR HUMAN HABITATION. THIS TERM ALSO INCLUDES ANY BUILDING, STRUCTURE OR FACILITY INSTALLED ON, ABOVE OR BELOW, OR A COMBINATION THEREOF, THE LAND SURFACE IF THAT BUILDING, STRUCTURE, OR FACILITY IS ADJUNCT TO OR USED IN CONNECTION WITH AN OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING. EXAMPLES OF SUCH STRUCTURES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, GARAGES; STORAGE SHEDS AND BARN; GREENHOUSES AND RELATED BUILDINGS; UTILITIES AND CABLES; FENCES AND OTHER ENCLOSURES; RETAINING WALLS; PAVED OR IMPROVED PATIOS, WALKS AND DRIVEWAYS; SEPTIC SEWAGE TREATMENT FACILITIES; AND LOT DRAINAGE AND LAWN AND GARDEN IRRIGATION SYSTEMS. ANY STRUCTURE USED ONLY FOR COMMERCIAL AGRICULTURAL, INDUSTRIAL, RETAIL OR OTHER COMMERCIAL PURPOSES IS EXCLUDED.~~

(80) ***

~~(81) "Other minerals" means clay, stone, sand, gravel, metalliferous and nonmetalliferous ores, oil shale and oil extracted from shale by an in situ process, and any other solid material or substances of commercial value excavated in solid form from natural deposits on or in the earth, exclusive of coal and those minerals which occur naturally in liquid or gaseous form.~~

(81a) "Other treatment facilities" means any chemical treatments, such as flocculation or neutralization, or mechanical structures, such as, but not limited to, clarifiers or precipitators, that have a point source discharge and are utilized:

(i) to prevent additional contributions of dissolved or suspended solids to

streamflow or runoff outside the permit area; or

- (ii) to comply with all applicable State and Federal water-quality laws and regulations.

(82)-(83)***

(83**a.1**) "~~Own~~ ~~ed or controlled~~ ~~and~~ ~~owns or controls~~, "OWNER", OR "OWNERSHIP" AS USED IN RULES 2.03, 2.07, AND 2.11 (EXCEPT WHEN USED IN THE CONTEXT OF OWNERSHIP OF REAL PROPERTY) means, ~~any one or a combination of the relationships specified in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this definition~~ ~~(a) (1) Being a permittee of a surface coal mining operation;~~ (2) based on instruments of ownership or voting securities, *BEING A SOLE PROPRIETOR OR* owning of record in excess of 50 percent *OF THE VOTING SECURITIES OR OTHER INSTRUMENTS OF OWNERSHIP* of an entity, ~~or (3) having any other relationship which gives one person authority directly or indirectly to determine the manner in which an applicant, an operator, and other entity conducts surface coal mining operations.~~

(83**b.2**) "Parent corporation" means a corporation which owns or controls the applicant.

(84)-(85)***

(86**a.1**) "Permanent impoundment" means an impoundment which is approved by the Division, and if required, by other State and Federal agencies for retention as part of the post-mining land use.

(87)-(93)***

(93**a.1**) "Point of compliance" means any geographic location at which compliance with applicable ground water quality standards established by the Water Quality Control Commission must be attained and where this compliance will be demonstrated by compliance monitoring of the groundwater or by other valid means approved by the Division.

(94) ***

(95) "Prime farmland" means land which has been historically used for cropland and that, in accordance with 7 C.F.R. 657, as amended, has the best combination of physical and chemical characteristics of producing food, feed, forage, fiber and oilseed crops, is also available for these uses and as interpreted by the USDA ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service for Colorado.

(96)-(103)***

(103**a.1**) "Reasonably available spoil" means spoil and suitable coal mine waste material generated by a re-mining operation, or other spoil or suitable coal mine waste material located in the permit area that is accessible and available for use and that when rehandled will not cause a hazard to public safety or significant damage to the environment.

(104)-(108)***

(108**a.1**) "Refuse pile" means a surface deposit of coal mine waste that does not impound water, slurry, or other liquid or semi-liquid material.

(109)-(110)***

(110.1) "REPLACEMENT OF WATER SUPPLY" MEANS, WITH RESPECT TO DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES CONTAMINATED, DIMINISHED, OR INTERRUPTED BY COAL MINING OPERATIONS, PROVISION OF WATER SUPPLY ON BOTH A TEMPORARY AND PERMANENT BASIS EQUIVALENT TO PREMINING QUANTITY AND QUALITY. REPLACEMENT INCLUDES PROVISION OF AN EQUIVALENT WATER DELIVERY SYSTEM AND PAYMENT OF OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE COSTS IN EXCESS OF CUSTOMARY AND REASONABLE DELIVERY COSTS FOR PREMINING WATER SUPPLIES.

(A) UPON AGREEMENT BY THE PERMITTEE AND THE WATER SUPPLY OWNER, THE OBLIGATION TO PAY SUCH OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE COSTS MAY BE SATISFIED BY A ONE-TIME PAYMENT IN AN AMOUNT WHICH COVERS THE PRESENT WORTH OF THE INCREASED ANNUAL OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE COSTS FOR THE PERIOD AGREED TO BY THE PERMITTEE AND THE WATER SUPPLY OWNER.

(B) IF THE AFFECTED WATER SUPPLY WAS NOT NEEDED FOR THE LAND USE IN EXISTENCE AT THE TIME OF LOSS, CONTAMINATION, OR DIMINUTION, AND IF THE SUPPLY IS NOT NEEDED TO ACHIEVE THE POSTMINING LAND USE, REPLACEMENT REQUIREMENTS MAY BE SATISFIED BY DEMONSTRATING THAT A SUITABLE ALTERNATIVE WATER SOURCE IS AVAILABLE AND COULD FEASIBLY BE DEVELOPED. IF THE LATTER APPROACH IS SELECTED, WRITTEN CONCURRENCE MUST BE OBTAINED FROM THE WATER SUPPLY OWNER.

(111) "Road" means a surface right-of-way for purposes of travel by land vehicles used in coal exploration or surface coal mining and reclamation operations. A road consists of the entire area within the right-of-way, including the roadbed, shoulders, parking and side area, approach structures, ditches, surface, and such contiguous appendages as are necessary for the total structure. The term does not include public roads, ramps, and routes of travel within or adjacent to the immediate mining pit area or within spoil or coal mine waste disposal areas.

(a) "Haul road" means any road used for the transportation of coal, spoil or coal mine waste.

(b) "Access road" means roads frequently traveled or used for purposes other than the transportation of coal, spoil or coal mine waste, including, but not limited to, roads used for supervision of mining operations, or servicing major facilities including sedimentation or monitoring facilities, or other frequent uses.

(c) "Light-use road" means roads infrequently traveled or used on an intermittent basis for purposes other than transportation of coal, spoil or

coal mine waste, including, but not limited to, roads used for monitoring, periodic maintenance of monitoring facilities, or other occasional uses.

- (D) ***“PUBLIC ROAD” MEANS A STREET, ROAD, OR HIGHWAY, AND ANY RELATED STRUCTURE, THAT HAS BEEN OR WILL BE BUILT AND MAINTAINED WITH APPROPRIATED FUNDS OF THE UNITED STATES; THAT HAS BEEN OR WILL BE BUILT AND MAINTAINED WITH APPROPRIATED FUNDS OF THE STATE OF COLORADO OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF OR THAT HAS BEEN ACQUIRED BY EMINENT DOMAIN OR ADVERSE USE BY THE PUBLIC, JURISDICTION HAVING BEEN ASSUMED BY THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF; THAT HAS BEEN OR WILL BE DEDICATED TO PUBLIC USE; AND WHICH MEETS ROAD CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS FOR OTHER PUBLIC ROADS OF THE SAME CLASSIFICATION IN THE LOCAL JURISDICTION.***

(112)-(116)***

(117) "Significant, environmental harm" to land, air or water resources^u means:

- (a) ***
(b) ***

(118) ***

(118.1) “SIGNIFICANT RECREATIONAL, TIMBER, ECONOMIC, OR OTHER VALUES INCOMPATIBLE WITH SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS” MEANS THOSE VALUES TO BE EVALUATED FOR THEIR SIGNIFICANCE WHICH COULD BE DAMAGED BY, AND ARE NOT CAPABLE OF EXISTING TOGETHER WITH, SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS BECAUSE OF THE UNDESIRABLE EFFECTS MINING WOULD HAVE ON THOSE VALUES EITHER ON THE AREA INCLUDED IN THE PERMIT APPLICATION OR ON OTHER AFFECTED AREAS. THOSE VALUES TO BE EVALUATED FOR THEIR IMPORTANCE INCLUDE:

- (A) RECREATION, INCLUDING HIKING, BOATING, CAMPING, SKIING OR OTHER RELATED OUTDOOR ACTIVITIES;***
(B) TIMBER MANAGEMENT AND SILVICULTURE;
(C) AGRICULTURE, AQUACULTURE OR PRODUCTION OF OTHER NATURAL, PROCESSED OR MANUFACTURED PRODUCTS WHICH ENTER COMMERCE;
(D) SCENIC, HISTORIC, ARCHAEOLOGIC, AESTHETIC, FISH, WILDLIFE, PLANTS OR CULTURAL INTERESTS.

(119) ***

(120) "Soil horizon" means the layers of soil parallel or nearly parallel to the land surface. Major soil horizons are defined as the O, A, E, B and C horizons as defined by the U.S.D.A. ~~Soil~~ ***NATURAL RESOURCES*** Conservation Service in the National Soils Handbook.

(121)-(124)***

(125) "Steep slope" means any slope of more than 20° or such lesser slope as may be designated by the Board or Division after consideration of soil, climate, and other characteristics of the region.

(126)-(127)***

(128) "Substantial legal and financial commitments" in a surface coal mining operation means significant investments that have been made on the basis of a long-term coal contract in power plants, railroads, coal-handling, preparation, extraction or storage facilities and other capital-intensive activities. An example would be an existing mine, not actually producing coal, but in a substantial stage of development prior to production. Costs of acquiring the coal in place or of the right to mine it without an existing mine, as described in the above example, alone are not sufficient to constitute substantial legal and financial commitments.

(129)-(131) ***

(132) "Surface coal mining operations" means:

(a) ***

(b) ***

(c) **SUBSIDENCE DUE TO UNDERGROUND COAL MINING IS NOT INCLUDED IN THE DEFINITION OF SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS UNDER SECTION 103(26) OF THE ACT AND THIS RULE, AND THEREFORE IS NOT PROHIBITED IN AREAS PROTECTED UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) AND SECTION 114(2) OF THE ACT. SUBSIDENCE DUE TO UNDERGROUND COAL MINING AS IT PERTAINS TO AREAS PROTECTED UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) AND SECTION 114(2) OF THE ACT IS ADDRESSED IN RULES 2.05.6 AND 4.20 AND SECTIONS 111 AND 121 OF THE ACT.**

(133)-(134) ***

(135) "Suspended solids" **ALSO REFERRED TO AS** ~~or~~ "nonfilterable residue" (expressed as milligrams per liter), means organic or inorganic materials carried or held in suspension in water which are retained by a standard glass fiber filter in the procedure outlined by the Environmental Protection Agency's regulations for waste water and analyses (40 CFR 136).

(135**a.1**) "Tangible net worth" means net worth minus intangibles such as goodwill and rights to patents or royalties.

(136)-(137)***

(137**a.1**) "Temporary impoundment" means an impoundment used during surface coal mining and reclamation operations, but not approved by the Division to remain as part of the approved post-mining land use.

(138)-(139)***

(140) "Toxic ~~mine~~ drainage" means water that is discharged from active or abandoned mines or other areas affected by coal exploration or surface coal mining and reclamation operations, which contains a substance that through chemical action or physical effects is likely to kill, injure, or impair biota commonly present in the area that might be exposed to it.

(141) "Transfer, assignment, or sale of rights" means a change ~~in ownership or other effective control over the right to conduct surface coal mining and reclamation operations under a permit issued by the Division OF A PERMITTEE.~~

(142)-(145)***

(146) "Unwarranted failure ~~to comply~~" means the failure of a permittee to (1) prevent the occurrence of any violation of his permit or any requirement of these Rules due to indifference, lack of diligence, or lack of reasonable care or (2) the failure to abate any violation of such permit or this article due to indifference, lack of diligence, or lack of reasonable care.

(147) ***

(148) "Valley fill" means a fill structure consisting of any material other than coal waste and organic material that is placed in a valley where side slopes of the existing valley measured at the steepest point are greater than 20~~E~~° or the average slope of the profile of the valley from the toe of the fill to the top of the fill is greater than 10~~E~~°.

(149) "Valid existing rights" means: *A SET OF CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH A PERSON MAY, SUBJECT TO DIVISION APPROVAL, CONDUCT SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS ON LANDS WHERE RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) WOULD OTHERWISE PROHIBIT SUCH OPERATIONS. POSSESSION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS CONFERS AN EXCEPTION FROM THE PROHIBITIONS OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) ONLY. A PERSON SEEKING TO EXERCISE VALID EXISTING RIGHTS MUST COMPLY WITH ALL OTHER PERTINENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE ACT AND THESE RULES. FOR FEDERAL LANDS WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF NATIONAL PARKS, NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGES, NATIONAL SYSTEM OF TRAILS, THE NATIONAL WILDERNESS PRESERVATION SYSTEM, WILD AND SCENIC RIVERS SYSTEMS, NATIONAL RECREATION AREAS DESIGNATED BY ACT OF CONGRESS OR NATIONAL FORESTS, THE FEDERAL DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN 30 CFR §761.5 SHALL APPLY. THE FEDERAL DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS SHALL ALSO APPLY TO NON-FEDERAL LANDS WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF NATIONAL PARKS, NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGES, NATIONAL SYSTEM OF TRAILS, WILD AND SCENIC RIVERS SYSTEMS, OR NATIONAL RECREATION AREAS DESIGNATED BY ACT OF CONGRESS.*

(a) Except for ~~haul~~ roads, "VALID EXISTING RIGHTS MEANS":

- (i) **“PROPERTY RIGHTS”** - Those property rights in existence on August 3, 1977 **OR AT THE TIME THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E)**, that were created by a legally binding conveyance, lease, deed, contract or other document which authorizes the applicant to produce coal by surface coal mining operations. **APPLICABLE STATE STATUTORY OR CASE LAW WILL GOVERN INTERPRETATION OF DOCUMENTS RELIED UPON TO ESTABLISH PROPERTY RIGHTS, UNLESS FEDERAL LAW PROVIDES OTHERWISE. IF NO APPLICABLE STATE LAW EXISTS, CUSTOM AND GENERALLY ACCEPTED USAGE AT THE TIME AND PLACE THAT THE DOCUMENTS CAME INTO EXISTENCE WILL GOVERN THEIR INTERPRETATION;** and
- (ii) The person proposing to conduct surface coal mining operations on such lands either:
- (A) **“GOOD FAITH/ALL PERMITS”** - Had been validly issued ~~on or before August 3, 1977~~ all State and Federal permits **AND OTHER AUTHORIZATIONS** necessary to conduct such operations on those lands, **OR A GOOD FAITH EFFORT TO OBTAIN ALL NECESSARY PERMITS AND AUTHORIZATIONS HAD BEEN MADE, BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E). AT A MINIMUM, AN APPLICATION MUST HAVE BEEN SUBMITTED FOR ANY PERMIT REQUIRED UNDER THESE RULES,** or
- (B) **“NEEDED FOR AND ADJACENT TO”** - Can demonstrate to the Division that the ~~coal~~ **LAND** is both needed for, and immediately adjacent to, an on-going surface coal mining operation for which all permits were obtained ~~prior to August 3, 1977~~, **OR A GOOD FAITH ATTEMPT TO OBTAIN ALL PERMITS AND AUTHORIZATIONS HAD BEEN MADE, BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E). TO MEET THIS STANDARD, A PERSON MUST DEMONSTRATE THAT PROHIBITING EXPANSION OF THE OPERATION ONTO THAT LAND WOULD UNFAIRLY IMPACT THE VIABILITY OF THE OPERATION AS ORIGINALLY PLANNED BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E). EXCEPT FOR OPERATIONS IN EXISTENCE BEFORE AUGUST 3, 1977, OR FOR WHICH A GOOD FAITH EFFORT TO OBTAIN ALL NECESSARY PERMITS HAD BEEN MADE BEFORE AUGUST 3, 1977, THIS STANDARD DOES NOT APPLY TO LANDS ALREADY UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) WHEN THE DIVISION APPROVED THE PERMIT FOR THE ORIGINAL OPERATION OR WHEN THE GOOD FAITH EFFORT TO OBTAIN ALL NECESSARY PERMITS FOR THE ORIGINAL OPERATION WAS MADE. IN EVALUATING WHETHER A PERSON MEETS THIS STANDARD, THE DIVISION MAY CONSIDER FACTORS SUCH AS:**

- (I) THE EXTENT TO WHICH COAL SUPPLY CONTRACTS OR OTHER LEGAL AND BUSINESS COMMITMENTS THAT PRE-DATE THE TIME THAT THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) DEPEND UPON USE OF THAT LAND FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS.
 - (II) THE EXTENT TO WHICH PLANS USED TO OBTAIN FINANCING FOR THE OPERATION BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) RELY ON THE USE OF THAT LAND FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS.
 - (III) THE EXTENT TO WHICH INVESTMENTS IN THE OPERATION BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) RELY ON THE USE OF THAT LAND FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS
 - (IV) WHETHER THE LAND LIES WITHIN THE AREA IDENTIFIED ON THE LIFE-OF-MINE MAP SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 2.10.3(1)(C) BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E);
- (b) For ~~haul~~ roads, A PERSON WHO CLAIMS "valid existing rights" ~~means~~ TO USE OR CONSTRUCT A ROAD ACROSS THE SURFACE OF LANDS PROTECTED BY RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) MUST DEMONSTRATE THAT ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES EXIST IF THE ROAD IS INCLUDED WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS IN RULE 1.04(132):
- (i) A PROPERLY recorded right of way, recorded easement or a permit for a ~~coal haul~~ road recorded ~~as of August 3, 1977~~ WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND, UNDER THE DOCUMENT CREATING THE RIGHT OF WAY OF EASEMENT, AND UNDER SUBSEQUENT CONVEYANCES, THE PERSON HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO USE OR CONSTRUCT A ROAD ACROSS THE RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS, or
 - (ii) Any other road in existence ~~as of August 3, 1977~~ WHEN THE LAND UPON WHICH IT IS LOCATED CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND THE PERSON HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO USE THE ROAD FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS, OR
 - (iii) A VALID PERMIT FOR USE OR CONSTRUCTION OF A ROAD IN THAT LOCATION FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS EXISTED WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), OR

- (iv) VALID EXISTING RIGHTS UNDER PARAGRAPHS (A)(i) AND (A)(ii) OF THIS DEFINITION.

(149.1) "VIOLATION", WHEN USED IN THE CONTEXT OF THE PERMIT APPLICATION INFORMATION OR PERMIT ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 34-33-110 OF THE ACT AND RELATED REGULATIONS, MEANS:

- (A) A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AN APPLICABLE PROVISION OF A FEDERAL OR STATE LAW OR REGULATION PERTAINING TO AIR OR WATER ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, AS EVIDENCED BY A WRITTEN NOTIFICATION FROM A GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY TO THE RESPONSIBLE PERSON; OR
- (B) A NONCOMPLIANCE FOR WHICH THE DIVISION HAS PROVIDED ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING TYPES OF NOTICE:
 - (i) A NOTICE OF VIOLATION UNDER RULE 5.03.
 - (ii) A CESSATION ORDER UNDER RULE 5.03.
 - (iii) A FINAL ORDER, BILL, OR DEMAND LETTER PERTAINING TO A DELINQUENT CIVIL PENALTY ASSESSED UNDER RULES 5.04.3(5) AND 5.05.
 - (iv) A BILL OR DEMAND LETTER PERTAINING TO DELINQUENT RECLAMATION FEES OWED UNDER 30 CFR 870.
 - (v) A NOTICE OF BOND FORFEITURE UNDER RULE 3.04 WHEN:
 - (A) ONE OR MORE VIOLATIONS UPON WHICH THE FORFEITURE WAS BASED HAVE NOT BEEN ABATED OR CORRECTED;
 - (B) THE AMOUNT FORFEITED AND COLLECTED IS INSUFFICIENT FOR FULL RECLAMATION UNDER RULE 3.04.2(6), THE DIVISION ORDERS REIMBURSEMENT FOR ADDITIONAL RECLAMATION COSTS, AND THE PERSON HAS NOT COMPLIED WITH THE REIMBURSEMENT ORDER.
 - (C) THE SITE IS COVERED BY AN ALTERNATIVE BONDING SYSTEM APPROVED UNDER 30 CFR §800.11(E), THAT SYSTEM REQUIRES REIMBURSEMENT OF ANY RECLAMATION COSTS INCURRED BY THE SYSTEM ABOVE THOSE COVERED BY ANY SITE-SPECIFIC BOND, AND THE PERSON HAS NOT COMPLIED WITH THE REIMBURSEMENT REQUIREMENT AND PAID ANY ASSOCIATED PENALTIES.

(149.2) "VIOLATION, FAILURE OR REFUSAL", FOR THE PURPOSES OF RULE 5.05, MEANS:

- (A) A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH A CONDITION OF A PERMIT, DIVISION REQUIREMENT, OR BOARD ORDER; OR

(B) A FAILURE OR REFUSAL TO COMPLY WITH ANY ORDER ISSUED UNDER SECTION 123 OF THE ACT.

(150)-(152)***

(153) "WILLFUL" OR "Willfully" means that, with respect to individual civil penalties, that an individual acted:

- (a) Either intentionally, voluntarily or consciously; and
- (b) With intentional disregard or plain indifference to legal requirements ~~in authorizing, ordering or carrying out a corporate permittee's action or omission that constituted a violation, failure or refusal to comply with any regulatory requirements or order of the Board.~~

Comment [s1]: This definition will remain as is in Rules. It WILL NOT be deleted.

1.05-1.06***

1.07 PROCEDURES FOR VALID EXISTING RIGHTS DETERMINATIONS

(1) VALID EXISTING RIGHTS DETERMINATION REQUESTS FOR FEDERAL LANDS WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF NATIONAL PARKS, NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGES, NATIONAL SYSTEM OF TRAILS, THE NATIONAL WILDERNESS PRESERVATION SYSTEM, WILD AND SCENIC RIVERS SYSTEMS, NATIONAL RECREATION AREAS DESIGNATED BY ACT OF CONGRESS OR NATIONAL FORESTS SHALL BE SUBMITTED DIRECTLY TO THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR. REQUESTS FOR DETERMINATIONS ON NON-FEDERAL LANDS MAY BE SUBMITTED TO THE DIVISION AS DESCRIBED IN RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) AND PROCESSED IN ADVANCE OF PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF A PERMIT APPLICATION OR APPLICATION FOR A BOUNDARY REVISION AS FOLLOWS:

- (A) A "PROPERTY RIGHTS" DEMONSTRATION UNDER RULE 1.04(149)(A)(I) MUST INCLUDE:
 - (i) A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS.
 - (ii) COMPLETE DOCUMENTATION OF THE CHARACTER AND EXTENT OF THE CURRENT INTERESTS IN THE SURFACE AND MINERAL ESTATES OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS.
 - (iii) A COMPLETE CHAIN OF TITLE FOR THE SURFACE AND MINERAL ESTATES OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS.
 - (iv) A DESCRIPTION OF THE NATURE AND EFFECT OF EACH TITLE INSTRUMENT THAT FORMS THE BASIS OF THE REQUEST, INCLUDING ANY PROVISION PERTAINING TO THE TYPE OR METHOD OF MINING OR MINING-RELATED SURFACE DISTURBANCES AND FACILITIES.
 - (v) A DESCRIPTION OF THE TYPE AND EXTENT OF SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS THAT THE APPLICANT CLAIMS THE RIGHT TO CONDUCT, INCLUDING THE METHOD OF MINING, ANY MINING-RELATED SURFACE

ACTIVITIES AND FACILITIES, AND AN EXPLANATION OF HOW THOSE OPERATIONS WOULD BE CONSISTENT WITH STATE PROPERTY LAW.

- (vi) **COMPLETE DOCUMENTATION OF THE NATURE AND OWNERSHIP, AS OF THE DATE THAT THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), OF ALL PROPERTY RIGHTS FOR THE SURFACE AND MINERAL ESTATES OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS.**
 - (vii) **NAMES AND ADDRESSES OF THE CURRENT OWNERS OF THE SURFACE AND MINERAL ESTATES OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS.**
 - (viii) **IF THE COAL INTERESTS HAVE BEEN SEVERED FROM OTHER PROPERTY INTERESTS, DOCUMENTATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NOTIFICATION AND REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY PROVIDED FOR THE OWNERS OF OTHER PROPERTY INTERESTS IN THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS TO COMMENT ON THE VALIDITY OF THE PROPERTY RIGHTS CLAIMS.**
 - (ix) **ANY COMMENTS RECEIVED IN RESPONSE TO THE NOTIFICATION PROVIDED UNDER PARAGRAPH (C)(I)(H) OF THIS PARAGRAPH.**
- (B) **A “GOOD FAITH/ALL PERMITS” DEMONSTRATION UNDER RULE 1.04(149)(A)(II)(A), IN ADDITION TO THE INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE 1.07(1)(A)(I), MUST ALSO INCLUDE:**
- (i) **APPROVAL AND ISSUANCE DATES AND IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS FOR ANY PERMITS, LICENSES, AND AUTHORIZATIONS OBTAINED BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).**
 - (ii) **APPLICATION DATES AND IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS FOR ANY PERMITS, LICENSES, AND AUTHORIZATIONS WHICH WERE SUBMITTED BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).**
 - (iii) **AN EXPLANATION OF ANY OTHER GOOD FAITH EFFORT MADE TO OBTAIN THE NECESSARY PERMITS, LICENSES, AND AUTHORIZATIONS AS OF THE DATE THAT THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).**
- (C) **A “NEEDED FOR AND ADJACENT TO” DEMONSTRATION UNDER RULE 1.04(149)(A)(II)(B), IN ADDITION TO THE INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE 1.07(1)(A)(I), MUST ALSO INCLUDE AN EXPLANATION OF HOW AND WHY THE LAND IS NEEDED FOR AND IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT TO THE OPERATION UPON WHICH THE REQUEST IS BASED, INCLUDING A DEMONSTRATION THAT PROHIBITING EXPANSION OF THE OPERATION ONTO THAT LAND WOULD UNFAIRLY IMPACT THE VIABILITY OF THE OPERATION AS ORIGINALLY PLANNED BEFORE THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).**

(D) **A DEMONSTRATION UNDER THE STANDARDS FOR ROADS (RULE 1.04(149)(B)) MUST INCLUDE DOCUMENTATION THAT:**

(i) **THE ROAD EXISTED WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND THE APPLICANT HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO USE THE ROAD FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS;**

(ii) **A PROPERLY RECORDED RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT FOR A ROAD IN THAT LOCATION EXISTED WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND, UNDER THE DOCUMENT CREATING THE RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT, AND UNDER ANY SUBSEQUENT CONVEYANCES, THE APPLICANT HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO USE OR CONSTRUCT A ROAD ACROSS THAT RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT TO CONDUCT SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS; OR**

(iii) **A VALID PERMIT FOR USE OR CONSTRUCTION OF A ROAD IN THAT LOCATION FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS EXISTED WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).**

(2) **INITIAL REVIEW OF REQUEST**

(A) **THE DIVISION WILL CONDUCT AN INITIAL REVIEW TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE APPLICANT'S REQUEST INCLUDES ALL APPLICABLE COMPONENTS OF THE SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 1.07(1). THIS REVIEW PERTAINS ONLY TO THE COMPLETENESS OF THE REQUEST, NOT THE LEGAL OR TECHNICAL ADEQUACY OF THE MATERIALS SUBMITTED.**

(B) **IF THE REQUEST DOES NOT INCLUDE ALL APPLICABLE COMPONENTS OF THE SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 1.07(1), THE DIVISION WILL NOTIFY THE APPLICANT AND ESTABLISH A REASONABLE TIME FOR SUBMISSION OF THE MISSING INFORMATION.**

(C) **WHEN THE REQUEST INCLUDES ALL APPLICABLE COMPONENTS OF THE SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 1.07(1), THE DIVISION WILL IMPLEMENT THE NOTICE AND COMMENT REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 1.07(3).**

(D) **IF THE APPLICANT DOES NOT PROVIDE INFORMATION THAT THE DIVISION REQUESTS UNDER RULE 1.07(2)(B) WITHIN THE TIME SPECIFIED OR AS SUBSEQUENTLY EXTENDED, THE DIVISION WILL ISSUE A DETERMINATION THAT THE APPLICANT HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED VALID EXISTING RIGHTS, AS PROVIDED IN RULE 1.07(4)(C)(I).**

(3) **NOTICE AND COMMENT REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES.**

(A) **WHEN THE REQUEST SATISFIES THE COMPLETENESS REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 1.07(2), THE APPLICANT WILL PUBLISH A NOTICE IN A NEWSPAPER OF GENERAL CIRCULATION IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE LAND IS LOCATED. THIS NOTICE WILL INVITE COMMENT ON THE MERITS OF THE REQUEST. THE**

APPLICANT MUST PROVIDE THE DIVISION WITH A COPY OF THE PUBLISHED NOTICE. EACH NOTICE MUST INCLUDE:

- (i) THE LOCATION OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE REQUEST PERTAINS.
- (ii) A DESCRIPTION OF THE TYPE OF SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS PLANNED.
- (iii) A REFERENCE TO AND BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICABLE STANDARD(S) UNDER THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149).
 - (A) IF THE REQUEST RELIES UPON THE GOOD FAITH/ALL PERMITS STANDARD OR THE NEEDED FOR AND ADJACENT STANDARD IN PARAGRAPH (B) OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149)(A)(II), THE NOTICE ALSO MUST INCLUDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY RIGHTS THAT THE APPLICANT CLAIMS AND THE BASIS FOR THE CLAIM.
 - (B) IF THE REQUEST RELIES UPON THE STANDARD IN PARAGRAPH (B)(II) OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149), THE NOTICE ALSO MUST INCLUDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE BASIS FOR THE CLAIM THAT THE ROAD EXISTED WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E). IN ADDITION, THE NOTICE MUST INCLUDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE BASIS FOR THE CLAIM THAT THE APPLICANT HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO USE THAT ROAD FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS.
 - (C) IF THE REQUEST RELIES UPON THE STANDARD IN PARAGRAPH (B)(I) OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149), THE NOTICE ALSO MUST INCLUDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE BASIS FOR THE CLAIM THAT A PROPERLY RECORDED RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT FOR A ROAD IN THAT LOCATION EXISTED WHEN THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E). IN ADDITION, THE NOTICE MUST INCLUDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE BASIS FOR THE CLAIM THAT, UNDER THE DOCUMENT CREATING THE RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT, AND UNDER ANY SUBSEQUENT CONVEYANCES, THE APPLICANT HAS A LEGAL RIGHT TO USE OR CONSTRUCT A ROAD ACROSS THE RIGHT OF WAY OR EASEMENT TO CONDUCT SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS.
 - (D) IF THE REQUEST RELIES UPON ONE OR MORE OF THE STANDARDS IN PARAGRAPHS (A), (B)(I), AND (B)(II) OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149), A STATEMENT THAT THE DIVISION WILL NOT MAKE A DECISION ON THE MERITS OF THE REQUEST IF, BY THE CLOSE OF THE COMMENT PERIOD UNDER THIS NOTICE OR THE NOTICE REQUIRED BY 1.07(3)(C), A PERSON WITH A LEGAL INTEREST

IN THE LAND INITIATES APPROPRIATE LEGAL ACTION IN THE PROPER VENUE TO RESOLVE ANY DIFFERENCES CONCERNING THE VALIDITY OR INTERPRETATION OF THE DEED, LEASE, EASEMENT, OR OTHER DOCUMENTS THAT FORM THE BASIS OF THE CLAIM.

- (IV) A DESCRIPTION OF THE PROCEDURES THAT THE DIVISION WILL FOLLOW IN PROCESSING THE REQUEST.*
 - (V) THE CLOSING DATE OF THE COMMENT PERIOD, WHICH MUST BE A MINIMUM OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE PUBLICATION DATE OF THE NOTICE.*
 - (VI) A STATEMENT THAT INTERESTED PERSONS MAY OBTAIN A 30-DAY EXTENSION OF THE COMMENT PERIOD UPON REQUEST.*
 - (VII) THE NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE DIVISION OFFICE(S) WHERE A COPY OF THE REQUEST IS AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION AND TO WHICH COMMENTS AND REQUESTS FOR EXTENSION OF THE COMMENT PERIOD SHOULD BE SENT.*
- (B) THE DIVISION WILL PROMPTLY PROVIDE A COPY OF THE NOTICE REQUIRED UNDER RULE 1.07(3)(A) TO:*
- (I) ALL REASONABLY LOCATABLE OWNERS OF SURFACE AND MINERAL ESTATES IN THE LAND INCLUDED IN THE REQUEST.*
 - (II) THE OWNER OF THE FEATURE CAUSING THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND, WHEN APPLICABLE, THE AGENCY WITH PRIMARY JURISDICTION OVER THE FEATURE WITH RESPECT TO THE VALUES CAUSING THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E). FOR EXAMPLE, BOTH THE LANDOWNER AND THE STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER MUST BE NOTIFIED IF SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS WOULD ADVERSELY IMPACT ANY SITE LISTED ON THE NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES. AS ANOTHER EXAMPLE, BOTH THE SURFACE OWNER AND THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE MUST BE NOTIFIED IF THE REQUEST INCLUDES NON-FEDERAL LANDS WITHIN THE AUTHORIZED BOUNDARIES OF A UNIT OF THE NATIONAL PARK SYSTEM.*
- (C) THE LETTER TRANSMITTING THE NOTICE REQUIRED UNDER RULE 1.07(3)(B) MUST PROVIDE A 30-DAY COMMENT PERIOD, STARTING FROM THE DATE OF SERVICE OF THE LETTER, AND SPECIFY THAT ANOTHER 30 DAYS IS AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST. AT ITS DISCRETION, THE DIVISION MAY GRANT ADDITIONAL TIME FOR GOOD CAUSE UPON REQUEST. THE DIVISION NEED NOT NECESSARILY CONSIDER COMMENTS RECEIVED AFTER THE CLOSING DATE OF THE COMMENT PERIOD.*
- (4) HOW A DECISION WILL BE MADE.*

- (A) *THE DIVISION WILL REVIEW THE MATERIALS SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 1.07(1), COMMENTS RECEIVED UNDER RULE 1.07(3), AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT, REASONABLY AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE RECORD IS SUFFICIENTLY COMPLETE AND ADEQUATE TO SUPPORT A DECISION ON THE MERITS OF THE REQUEST. IF NOT, THE DIVISION WILL NOTIFY THE APPLICANT IN WRITING, EXPLAINING THE INADEQUACY OF THE RECORD AND REQUESTING SUBMITTAL, WITHIN A SPECIFIED REASONABLE TIME, OF ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION THAT THE DIVISION DEEMS NECESSARY TO REMEDY THE INADEQUACY.*
- (B) *ONCE THE RECORD IS COMPLETE AND ADEQUATE, THE DIVISION WILL DETERMINE WHETHER THE APPLICANT HAS DEMONSTRATED VALID EXISTING RIGHTS. THE DECISION DOCUMENT MUST EXPLAIN HOW THE APPLICANT HAS OR HAS NOT SATISFIED ALL APPLICABLE ELEMENTS OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149). IT WILL CONTAIN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS, AND WILL SPECIFY THE REASONS FOR THE CONCLUSIONS.*
- (C) *IMPACT OF PROPERTY RIGHTS DISAGREEMENTS. THIS PARAGRAPH APPLIES ONLY WHEN AN APPLICANT'S REQUEST RELIES UPON ONE OR MORE OF THE STANDARDS IN PARAGRAPHS (A), (B)(i), AND (B)(ii) OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149).*
- (i) *THE DIVISION WILL ISSUE A DETERMINATION THAT THE APPLICANT HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IF THE PROPERTY RIGHTS CLAIMS ARE THE SUBJECT OF PENDING LITIGATION IN A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE BODY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPERTY RIGHTS IN QUESTION. THE DIVISION WILL MAKE THIS DETERMINATION WITHOUT PREJUDICE, MEANING THAT THE APPLICANT MAY REFILE THE REQUEST ONCE THE PROPERTY RIGHTS DISPUTE IS FINALLY ADJUDICATED. THIS PARAGRAPH APPLIES ONLY TO SITUATIONS IN WHICH LEGAL ACTION HAS BEEN INITIATED AS OF THE CLOSING DATE OF THE COMMENT PERIOD UNDER RULE 1.07(3)(A) OR (C).*
- (ii) *IF THE RECORD INDICATES DISAGREEMENT AS TO THE ACCURACY OF THE APPLICANT'S PROPERTY RIGHTS CLAIMS, BUT THIS DISAGREEMENT IS NOT THE SUBJECT OF PENDING LITIGATION IN A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION, THE DIVISION WILL EVALUATE THE MERITS OF THE INFORMATION IN THE RECORD AND DETERMINE WHETHER THE APPLICANT HAS DEMONSTRATED THAT THE REQUISITE PROPERTY RIGHTS EXIST UNDER PARAGRAPH (A), (B)(i), OR (B)(ii) OF THE DEFINITION OF VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IN RULE 1.04(149), AS APPROPRIATE. THE DIVISION WILL THEN PROCEED WITH THE DECISION PROCESS UNDER RULE 1.07(4)(B).*
- (D) *THE DIVISION WILL ISSUE A DETERMINATION THAT THE APPLICANT HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IF THE APPLICANT DOES NOT SUBMIT INFORMATION THAT THE DIVISION REQUESTS UNDER PARAGRAPH 1.07(2)(B)*

OR 1.07(4)(A) WITHIN THE TIME SPECIFIED OR AS SUBSEQUENTLY EXTENDED. THE DIVISION WILL MAKE THIS DETERMINATION WITHOUT PREJUDICE, MEANING THAT THE APPLICANT MAY REFILE A REVISED REQUEST AT ANY TIME.

(E) AFTER MAKING A DETERMINATION, THE DIVISION WILL:

(i) PROVIDE A COPY OF THE DETERMINATION, TOGETHER WITH AN EXPLANATION OF APPEAL RIGHTS AND PROCEDURES, TO THE APPLICANT, TO THE OWNER OR OWNERS OF THE LAND TO WHICH THE DETERMINATION APPLIES, TO THE OWNER OF THE FEATURE CAUSING THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND, WHEN APPLICABLE, TO THE AGENCY WITH PRIMARY JURISDICTION OVER THE FEATURE WITH RESPECT TO THE VALUES THAT CAUSED THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).

(ii) PUBLISH NOTICE OF THE DETERMINATION IN A NEWSPAPER OF GENERAL CIRCULATION IN THE COUNTY IN WHICH THE LAND IS LOCATED.

(5) ADMINISTRATIVE AND JUDICIAL REVIEW. A DETERMINATION THAT THE APPLICANT HAS OR DOES NOT HAVE VALID EXISTING RIGHTS IS SUBJECT TO BOARD REVIEW UNDER RULE 1.12, AND ADMINISTRATIVE AND JUDICIAL REVIEW UNDER SECTIONS 34-33-128 AND 34-33-135 OF THE ACT.

(6) AVAILABILITY OF RECORDS. THE DIVISION, WHEN A REQUEST SUBJECT TO NOTICE AND COMMENT UNDER RULE 1.07(3) IS MADE, WILL MAKE A COPY OF THAT REQUEST AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC IN THE SAME MANNER AS THE DIVISION, WHEN ACTING AS THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY, MUST MAKE PERMIT APPLICATIONS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC UNDER RULE 2.07.5. IN ADDITION, THE DIVISION WILL MAKE RECORDS ASSOCIATED WITH THAT REQUEST, AND ANY SUBSEQUENT DETERMINATION UNDER RULE 1.07(4), AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES OF RULE 1.09.

1.078 NOTICE OF CITIZEN SUITS

- (1) ***
- (2) A person who intends to initiate a civil action on his or her own behalf shall give notice of intent to do so, in accordance with 1.078.
- (3)-(4) ***
- (5) Service of notice under 1.078 is complete upon mailing to the last known address of the person being notified.
- (6)-(7) ***

1.089 AVAILABILITY OF RECORDS

1.0910 COMPUTATION OF TIME

1.4011 RESTRICTIONS ON EMPLOYEE FINANCIAL INTERESTS

1.4011.1 Objective

1.4011.2 Responsibilities

1.4011.3 Penalties

- (1) Any person who knowingly violates the provisions of Section 34-33-122(9), C.R.S., as adopted in 1.4011.2(2) of these Rules, shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of not more than \$2,500, or by imprisonment of not more than one year, or both.
- (2) ***

1.4011.4 Who Shall File

1.4011.5 Where to File

1.4011.6 What to Report

1.4011.7 Gifts and Gratuities

1.4011.8 Resolving Prohibited Interests

1.4011.9 Appeals Procedure

1.4412 REQUESTS TO THE BOARD

1.4213 WATER RIGHTS

1.4314 LIMITATION ON THE EFFECT OF REGULATIONS REQUIRED BY FEDERAL LAW, RULES, OR REGULATIONS WHICH BECOME INEFFECTIVE

1.4415 DECLARATORY ORDERS (C.R.S., 24-4-105)

1.4516 GUIDELINES

1.4516.1 General

1.4516.2 Subject Matter

1.4516.3 Adoption

The Division shall develop guidelines as follows:

(1) ***

(2) Notice of proposed guidelines shall be given to all persons who are on the mailing list prepared in accordance with 1.4516.3(1), above.

(3)-(6)***

1.4516.4 Use of Guidelines

RULE 2 PERMITS

2.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

2.01.1-2.01.2 ***

2.01.3 General Requirements for Permits for All Surface Coal Mining and Reclamation Operations

- (1) Except as provided for in 2.01.3(2) and 2.01.3(5), on and after eight months from the date on which the Colorado regulatory program is approved by the Secretary of the Interior, which date is set forth by Rule of the Board, no person shall conduct, on lands within this State, any surface coal mining and reclamation operations unless such person has

first obtained a valid permit issued under the applicable provisions of these Rules. ***OBLIGATIONS ESTABLISHED UNDER A PERMIT CONTINUE UNTIL COMPLETION OF SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE AUTHORIZATION TO CONDUCT SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS HAS EXPIRED OR HAS BEEN TERMINATED, REVOKED, OR SUSPENDED.***

(2)-(6) ***

2.01.4 – 2.01.6 ***

2.02 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR COAL EXPLORATION

2.02.1 Scope

2.02.2 Exploration Involving Removal of 250 Tons or Less of Coal

- (1) Any person who intends to conduct coal exploration during which 250 tons or less of coal will be removed from the area to be explored outside an approved permit area shall, prior to conducting the exploration, file with the Division a complete written notice of intention to explore. ***EXPLORATION WHICH WILL TAKE PLACE ON LANDS DESIGNATED AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E) SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE PERMITTING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 2.02.3. EXPLORATION CONDUCTED UNDER A NOTICE OF INTENT SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 2.02.6.***

(2)-(7) ***

2.02.3 General Requirements: Exploration Involving Removal of More Than 250 Tons of Coal OR OCCURRING ON LANDS DESIGNATED AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING

Any person who intends to conduct coal exploration in which more than 250 tons of coal are removed in the area to be explored outside an approved permit area or who wishes to conduct coal exploration within an area which has been designated unsuitable for all or certain types of surface coal mining operations ***UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2)(D)*** shall, prior to conducting the exploration, obtain the written approval of the Board or Division, in accordance with the following:

- (1) Contents of complete application for approval. Each application shall contain, at a minimum, the following information:
 - (a)-(b) ***
 - (c) An exploration and reclamation plan, including:
 - (i)-(iv) ***

- (v) A description of the measures to be used to comply with the applicable requirements of **RULE 4.21**.
- (vi) **IF MORE THAN 250 TONS ARE TO BE REMOVED, A** statement of why extraction of more than 250 tons of coal is necessary for exploration.

(d) ***

- (e) A map at a scale of 1:24,000, or larger if requested by the Division, showing the areas of land to be substantially disturbed by the proposed exploration and reclamation. The map shall specifically show existing roads, occupied **RESIDENTIAL** dwellings, and pipelines; proposed location of trenches, roads, and other access routes and structures to be constructed; the location of land excavations to be conducted within each quarter-quarter section (40AC.); water and coal exploratory holes to be drilled or altered within each quarter-quarter section (40AC.); earth or debris disposal areas; existing bodies of surface water; historic, topographic, cultural and drainage features; and habitats of any endangered or threatened species listed pursuant to the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (U.S.C. 1531 et seq.), the Nongame, Endangered or Threatened Species Conservation Act (Section 33-8-101 et seq., C.R.S. as amended), Designated Natural Areas, National Natural Landmarks; and

(f) ***

- (g) **FOR ANY LANDS LISTED IN RULE 2.07.6(2)(D), A DEMONSTRATION THAT, TO THE EXTENT TECHNOLOGICALLY AND ECONOMICALLY FEASIBLE, THE PROPOSED EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES HAVE BEEN DESIGNED TO MINIMIZE INTERFERENCE WITH THE VALUES FOR WHICH THOSE LANDS WERE DESIGNATED AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS. THE APPLICATION MUST INCLUDE DOCUMENTATION OF CONSULTATION WITH THE OWNER OF THE FEATURE CAUSING THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND, WHEN APPLICABLE, WITH THE AGENCY WITH PRIMARY JURISDICTION OVER THE FEATURE WITH RESPECT TO THE VALUES THAT CAUSED THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).**

(2) ***

2.02.4 Applications: Approval or Disapproval of Exploration Involving Removal of More Than 250 Tons of Coal *OR OCCURRING ON LANDS DESIGNATED AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING*

(1)-(2) ***

(3) ***

(a)-(c) ***

(d) *WITH RESPECT TO EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES ON ANY LANDS PROTECTED UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), MINIMIZE INTERFERENCE, TO THE EXTENT TECHNOLOGICALLY AND ECONOMICALLY FEASIBLE, WITH THE VALUES FOR WHICH THOSE LANDS WERE DESIGNATED AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS. BEFORE MAKING THIS FINDING, THE DIVISION MUST PROVIDE REASONABLE OPPORTUNITY TO THE OWNER OF THE FEATURE CAUSING THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), AND, WHEN APPLICABLE, TO THE AGENCY WITH PRIMARY JURISDICTION OVER THE FEATURE WITH RESPECT TO THE VALUES THAT CAUSED THE LAND TO COME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF RULE 2.07.6(2)(D) OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E), TO COMMENT ON WHETHER THE FINDING IS APPROPRIATE.*

(4)-(5) ***

2.02.5 Applications: Notice and Hearing for Exploration Involving Removal of More Than 250 Tons of Coal *OR OCCURRING ON LANDS DESIGNATED AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING*

(1) ***

(2) ***

2.02.6-2.02.8 ***

2.03 APPLICATION FOR PERMIT FOR SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS: MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR LEGAL, FINANCIAL, COMPLIANCE AND RELATED INFORMATION

2.03.1-2.03.2 ***

2.03.3 Format and Supplemental Information

(1)-(3) ***

(4) All water quality sampling and laboratory analyses shall be conducted in accordance with the current edition of "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater", or the methodology in 40 CFR 136 and 434. "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater" is a joint publication of the American Public Health Association, the American Water Works Association, and the Water Pollution Control Federation and is available from the American Public Health Association, ~~1015 Fifteenth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20036~~. This document is also available for inspection at the Division's Denver office.

This publication is hereby incorporated by reference as it exists on the date of adoption of these regulations. This rule does not include later amendments to or editions of the incorporated material. Certified copies of the material are available at cost upon request. The Division director can provide further information regarding how the incorporated material may be obtained or examined.

(5)-(9) ***

(10) THE APPLICANT FOR A PERMIT OR REVISION OF A PERMIT SHALL HAVE THE BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING THAT THE APPLICATION IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH ALL THE REQUIREMENTS OF THESE RULES AND THE ACT.

2.03.4 Identification of Interests

Each application shall contain the following information, ~~except that the submission of a social security number is voluntary.~~

(1) ***

(2) The name, address, telephone number and, ~~as applicable, social security number and employer~~ TAXPAYER identification number of the:

(a) Applicant;

(B) ANY OPERATOR, IF DIFFERENT FROM THE APPLICANT;

(b) Applicant's resident agent; and

(e) ~~Person who will pay the abandoned mine land reclamation fee.~~ EACH BUSINESS ENTITY IN THE APPLICANT'S AND OPERATOR'S ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE, UP TO AND INCLUDING THE ULTIMATE PARENT ENTITY OF THE APPLICANT AND OPERATOR; FOR EVERY SUCH BUSINESS ENTITY, THE APPLICATION SHALL ALSO INCLUDE THE REQUIRED INFORMATION FOR EVERY PRESIDENT, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AND DIRECTOR (OR OTHER PERSONS IN SIMILAR POSITIONS) AND EVERY PERSON WHO OWNS, OF RECORD, 10 PERCENT OR MORE OF THE ENTITY.

(3) ~~For each person who owns or controls the applicant under the definition of "owned or controlled" and "owns and controls" in 4.04(83a), as applicable:~~ A LIST OF ALL NAMES UNDER WHICH THE APPLICANT, OPERATOR, AND PARTNERS OR PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR OPERATE OR PREVIOUSLY OPERATED A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION IN THE UNITED STATES WITHIN THE FIVE-YEAR PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE OF SUBMISSION OF THE APPLICATION.

(A) FOR ANY SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS THAT THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR OWNED OR CONTROLLED WITHIN THE FIVE-YEAR PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE OF SUBMISSION OF THE APPLICATION,

AND FOR ANY SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR OWN OR CONTROL ON THAT DATE:

- (a) The person's name, address, ~~social security number~~ and ~~employer~~ TAXPAYER identification number;
 - (b) The person's ownership or control relationship to the ~~applicant~~ OPERATION, including percentage of ownership and location in organizational structure;
 - (c) The title of the person's position, date position was assumed, and when submitted under 2.07.7(5), date of departure from the position;
 - (d) ~~Each additional name and identifying number, including employer identification number, THE OPERATION'S Federal or State permit number, THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE PERMIT, and MSHA number with date of issuance, under which the person owns or controls, or previously owned or controlled, a surface coal mining and reclamation operation in the United States within the five years preceding the date of the application;~~ and
- (e) **FOR THE APPLICANT AND THE OPERATOR, THE APPLICANT MUST PROVIDE** The application number **AND JURISDICTION** or other identifier of, and the regulatory authority for, any other pending surface coal mining operation permit application filed by the ~~person~~ **APPLICANT OR OPERATOR** in any state in the United States.
- (4) For any surface coal mining operation owned or controlled by ~~either~~ the applicant **OR OPERATOR, EVERY OFFICER, PARTNER, MEMBER, OR DIRECTOR OF THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR, PERSON PERFORMING A FUNCTION SIMILAR TO A DIRECTOR, PERSON WHO OWNS, OF RECORD, 10 PERCENT OR MORE OF THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR,** or by any person who owns or controls the applicant **OR OPERATOR** under the definition of "~~owned or controlled~~ **OWN, OWNER, OR OWNERSHIP**" and "~~owns and controls~~" in **RULE 1.04(83a-1), the operation ENTITY's:**
- (a) Name, address, **TELEPHONE NUMBER,** identifying numbers, including employer identification number, Federal or State permit number, the regulatory authority, MSHA number, and the date of issuance of the MSHA number; **and**
 - (b) Ownership or control relationship to the applicant, including percentage of ownership and location in organizational structure; **AND**
- (c) **THE DATE THE ENTITY BEGAN FUNCTIONING IN THAT POSITION.**
- (5) ***

- (6) Each permit application shall contain the names and addresses of:
- (a) Every legal or equitable owner of record of the property to be mined by surface coal mining activities, or for underground mining activities, areas to be affected by surface operations and facilities incidental thereto, and every legal or equitable owner of record of the coal to be mined;
 - (b) The holders of record of any leasehold interest in the property to be mined by surface coal mining activities, or for underground mining activities, area to be affected by surface operations and facilities incidental thereto, and any ~~purchaser of record under a real estate contract of~~ **HOLDERS OF RECORD OF ANY LEASEHOLD INTEREST IN** the coal to be mined;
 - (c) Any purchaser of record under a real estate contract of the property to be mined by surface coal mining activities or for underground mining activities, areas affected by facilities incidental thereto, and any purchaser of record under a real estate contract of the coal to be mined;
- (7) ***
- (8) Each application shall contain the name of the proposed mine and the Mine Safety and Health Administration identification number for the mine and all ~~sections~~ **STRUCTURES THAT REQUIRE MSHA APPROVAL**, if any.
- (9) ***
- (10) ~~The applicant shall submit the information required by 2.03.4 and by 2.03.5. THE DIVISION NEED NOT MAKE A FINDING AS PROVIDED FOR UNDER RULE 2.07.9(3) BEFORE ENTERING INTO AVS THE INFORMATION REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED UNDER THIS SECTION; HOWEVER, THE MERE LISTING IN AVS OF A PERSON IDENTIFIED IN PARAGRAPH (3) OR (4) OF THIS RULE DOES NOT CREATE A PRESUMPTION OR CONSTITUTE A DETERMINATION THAT SUCH PERSON OWNS OR CONTROLS A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION. CHALLENGES OF INFORMATION LISTED IN AVS MAY BE PURSUED AS SET FORTH IN RULE 2.11.~~
- (11) **BASED ON A COMPLETE PERMIT APPLICATION, THE DIVISION WILL CONDUCT THE REVIEWS REQUIRED UNDER RULES 2.03.4(12)(A), 2.03.4(12)(B)(I), AND 2.03.4(12)(B)(II). THE DIVISION WILL ENTER INTO AVS:**
- (A) **THE INFORMATION SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 2.03.4.**
 - (B) **THE INFORMATION SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 2.03.5 PERTAINING TO VIOLATIONS WHICH ARE UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED AFTER THE ABATEMENT OR CORRECTION PERIOD HAS EXPIRED.**

THE DIVISION WILL UPDATE THE INFORMATION REFERRED TO IN THIS RULE IN AVS UPON VERIFICATION OF ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION SUBMITTED OR DISCOVERED DURING THE PERMIT APPLICATION REVIEW.

- (12) (A) *THE DIVISION WILL RELY UPON THE INFORMATION SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 2.03.4, INFORMATION FROM AVS, AND ANY OTHER AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO REVIEW THE PERMITTEE'S AND OPERATOR'S ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL RELATIONSHIPS. THIS REVIEW WILL BE CONDUCTED BEFORE THE DIVISION CAN MAKE A PERMIT ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATION UNDER RULES 2.07.6(1)(B) AND 2.07.6(2)(G).*
- (B) (i) *THE DIVISION WILL RELY UPON THE PERMIT HISTORY INFORMATION SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 2.03.4(3), INFORMATION FROM AVS, AND ANY OTHER AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO REVIEW THE PERMITTEE'S AND OPERATOR'S PERMIT HISTORIES. THE DIVISION WILL CONDUCT THIS REVIEW BEFORE MAKING A PERMIT ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATION UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2)(G).*
- (ii) *THE DIVISION WILL ALSO DETERMINE IF THE PERMITTEE OR OPERATOR HAS PREVIOUS MINING EXPERIENCE. IF THE PERMITTEE OR OPERATOR DOES NOT HAVE ANY PREVIOUS MINING EXPERIENCE, THE DIVISION MAY CONDUCT AN ADDITIONAL REVIEW UNDER RULE 2.07.9(6). THE PURPOSE OF THIS REVIEW WILL BE TO DETERMINE IF SOMEONE ELSE WITH MINING EXPERIENCE CONTROLS THE MINING OPERATION.*

2.03.5 Compliance Information.

- (1) Each application shall contain:
- (4A) A statement of whether the applicant, *PERMITTEE, OPERATOR*, any subsidiary, affiliate, or ~~persons~~ *ENTITY OWNED OR* controlled by or under common control with the applicant, *PERMITTEE OR OPERATOR*, has:
- (a) Had a Federal or State mining permit for surface coal mining operations suspended or revoked in the last five years prior to the date of submission of the application; or
- (b) Forfeited a ~~mining~~ *PERFORMANCE* bond or similar security deposited in lieu of bond *IN CONNECTION WITH SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS DURING THE FIVE-YEAR PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE OF SUBMISSION OF THE APPLICATION.*
- (2B) If any such suspension, revocation or forfeiture has occurred, a statement of the facts involved, including:

- (a) Identification number and date of issuance of the permit or date and amount of bond or similar security;
 - (b) **DATE OF SUSPENSION, REVOCATION, OR FORFEITURE;**
 - (c) Identification of the authority that suspended or revoked a permit or forfeited a bond and the stated reasons for that action;
 - (d) The current status of the permit, bond, or similar security involved;
 - (e) The date, location, and type of any administrative or judicial proceedings initiated concerning the suspension, revocation or forfeiture; and
 - (f) The current status of these proceedings.
- (3C) A list of all violation notices received by the applicant during the three year period preceding the application date, for any violation of a provision of the Act, or of any law, rule or regulation of the United States, or of any State law, rule or regulation enacted pursuant to Federal law, rule or regulation pertaining to air or water environmental protection incurred in connection with any surface coal mining operation, and a list of all unabated cessation orders and unabated air and water quality violation notices received prior to the date of the application by any surface coal mining and reclamation operation owned or controlled by either the applicant or by any person who owns or controls the applicant. For each violation notice or cessation order reported, the lists shall include the following information, as applicable:
- (a) Any identifying numbers for the operation, including the Federal or State permit number and MSHA number, the dates of issuance of the violation notice and MSHA number, the name of the person to whom the violation notice was issued, and the name of the issuing regulatory authority, department or agency;
 - (b) A brief description of the particular violation alleged in the notice;
 - (c) The date, location and type of any administrative or judicial proceedings initiated concerning the violation, including, but not limited to, proceedings initiated by the applicant to obtain administrative or judicial review of the violations;
 - (d) The current status of the proceedings and of the violation notice;

- (v) The actions, if any, taken by the applicant to abate the violation; and
- (v) The final resolution of any notice of violation.

(2) *THE DIVISION WILL RELY UPON THE VIOLATION INFORMATION SUPPLIED BY THE PERMITTEE UNDER RULE 2.03.5(1), A REPORT FROM AVS, AND ANY OTHER AVAILABLE INFORMATION TO REVIEW HISTORIES OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT OR THE APPLICABLE STATE REGULATORY PROGRAM, AND ANY OTHER APPLICABLE AIR OR WATER QUALITY LAWS FOR:*

- (A) *THE PERMITTEE;*
- (B) *THE OPERATOR;*
- (C) *OPERATIONS OWNED OR CONTROLLED BY THE PERMITTEE; AND*
- (D) *OPERATIONS OWNED OR CONTROLLED BY THE OPERATOR.*

THIS REVIEW WILL BE CONDUCTED BEFORE THE DIVISION CAN MAKE A PERMIT ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATION UNDER RULE 2.07.6(1)(B) AND 2.07.6(2)(G).

- (3) (A) *IF THE APPLICANT HAS PREVIOUSLY APPLIED FOR A PERMIT AND THE REQUIRED INFORMATION IS ALREADY IN AVS, THE APPLICANT MAY UPDATE THE INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER THIS RULE AS FOLLOWS:*
- (i) *IF ALL OR PART OF THE INFORMATION ALREADY IN AVS IS ACCURATE AND COMPLETE, THEN THE APPLICANT MAY CERTIFY TO THE DIVISION BY SWEARING OR AFFIRMING, UNDER OATH AND IN WRITING, THAT THE RELEVANT INFORMATION IN AVS IS ACCURATE, COMPLETE, AND UP TO DATE.*
 - (ii) *IF PART OF THE INFORMATION IN AVS IS MISSING OR INCORRECT THEN THE APPLICANT MUST SUBMIT TO THE DIVISION THE NECESSARY INFORMATION OR CORRECTIONS AND SWEAR OR AFFIRM, UNDER OATH AND IN WRITING, THAT THE INFORMATION THE APPLICANT SUBMITS IS ACCURATE AND COMPLETE.*
 - (iii) *IF THE APPLICANT CAN NEITHER CERTIFY THAT THE DATA IN AVS IS ACCURATE AND COMPLETE NOR MAKE NEEDED CORRECTIONS, THEN THE APPLICANT MUST INCLUDE IN THE PERMIT APPLICATION THE INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER THIS RULE.*
- (B) *THE APPLICANT MUST SWEAR OR AFFIRM, UNDER OATH AND IN WRITING, THAT ALL INFORMATION PROVIDED IN AN APPLICATION IS ACCURATE AND COMPLETE.*

(c) *THE DIVISION MAY ESTABLISH A CENTRAL FILE TO HOUSE AN APPLICANT'S IDENTITY INFORMATION, RATHER THAN PLACE DUPLICATE INFORMATION IN EACH OF THE PERMIT APPLICATION FILES. THE DIVISION WILL MAKE THE INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC UPON REQUEST.*

(4) ***

2.03.6 ***

2.03.7 Relationship to Areas Designated Unsuitable for Mining

(1) ***

(2) If an applicant claims *THE EXEMPTION DESCRIBED IN 7.02(3), THE APPLICATION SHALL CONTAIN INFORMATION SUPPORTING THE ASSERTION THAT THE APPLICANT ~~that the proposed permit area should not be included within an area designated, or under study for designation, as unsuitable for surface coal mining operations because he or she~~* has made substantial legal and financial commitments, in relation to the operation for which he or she is applying for a permit, prior to January 4, 1977. ~~*the application shall contain information supporting such an assertion*~~ *IF THE APPLICANT HAS PREVIOUSLY OBTAINED A FINDING OF THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR OR THE DIVISION DIRECTOR ACKNOWLEDGING VALID EXISTING RIGHTS, OR IS IN THE PROCESS OF APPLYING FOR A VALID EXISTING RIGHTS DETERMINATION ON FEDERAL LANDS, THE DISPOSITION OF THOSE PROCEEDINGS SHALL BE INCLUDED IN THE APPLICATION.*

(3) If an applicant proposes to conduct surface mining activities or conduct or locate surface operations or facilities within 300 feet measured horizontally of an occupied *RESIDENTIAL* dwelling, the application shall contain the written waiver of the owner of the dwelling which states that the owner and signatory had the legal right to deny mining and knowingly waived that right. The waiver must be knowingly made and separate from a lease or deed unless the lease or deed contains an explicit waiver.

2.03.8-2.03.12 ***

2.04 APPLICATION FOR PERMIT FOR SURFACE OR UNDERGROUND MINING ACTIVITIES - MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR INFORMATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES

2.04.1-2.04.4 ***

2.04.5 General Description of Hydrology and Geology

(1) Each application shall contain a description and map, prepared in accordance with *RULE* 2.10, of the geology, surface and ground water systems, including water quality and quantity, of all lands within the proposed permit area, the adjacent area, and the general area. The description shall include information on the characteristics of all surface

and ground waters within the general area, and any water which will flow into or receive discharges of water from the general area. The description shall be prepared according to **RULES** 2.04.5 and 2.04.7, and conform to the following:

- (a) Information on surface and groundwater systems including water quality, water quantity, and geology related to the hydrology of areas outside the permit area and within the general area shall be provided ~~by~~ **TO** the Division, to the extent that this data is available from an appropriate Federal or State agency. **IF THIS INFORMATION IS NOT AVAILABLE FROM THOSE AGENCIES, THE APPLICANT MAY GATHER AND SUBMIT THIS INFORMATION TO THE DIVISION AS PART OF THE PERMIT APPLICATION.**
- ~~(b) If this information is not available from those agencies, the applicant may gather and submit this information to the Division as part of the permit application.~~
- ~~(c)~~ (b) The permit shall not be approved by the Division until this information is made available in the application.

(2)-(3) ***

2.04.6 Geology Description

- (1) ***
- (2) Surface Mining
 - (a) ***
 - (b) (i)-(iii) ***
 - (iv) An applicant may request that the requirement for a statement of the results of the test borings or core samples be waived by the Division. The waiver may be granted only if the Division makes a written determination that the statement is unnecessary because other equivalent information is accessible to it in a satisfactory form. The source(s) of such equivalent information shall be referenced in the Division's written determination and the information itself shall be made readily accessible by the Division for public review as required by 1.089 if such information has not been determined to be of a confidential nature in accordance with 2.02.7 and 2.07.5.
- (3) Underground Mining
 - (a) The description shall include a general statement of the geology (stratigraphy and structure) within the proposed area to be affected over the life of the operation, down to and including the first

aquifer, and ~~other~~ coal seams, if any, below the lowest coal seam to be mined. The geology for the areas proposed to be affected by surface operations and facilities, those surface lands underlain by the coal to be mined, and the coal to be mined shall be separately described as follows including a map and cross sections prepared to the standards of **RULE 2.10** which shows:

(i)-(v) ***

(b) ***

2.04.7-2.04.11 ***

2.04.12 Prime Farmland Investigation.

- (1) For areas where mining was not authorized under permits issued or mining plans approved prior to August 3, 1977, the applicant shall conduct a preapplication investigation of the proposed permit area, or, in the case of underground mining, only those areas proposed to be disturbed by surface operations or facilities, to determine whether lands within the area may be prime farmland. The Division, following consultation with the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service, shall determine the nature and extent of the required prime farmland investigation.
- (2) Land shall not be considered prime farmland where the applicant can demonstrate one of the following:
 - (a)-(e) ***
 - (f) On the basis of a soil survey of lands within the permit area, there are no soil map units that have been designated prime farmland by the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service; or
 - (g) Other factors as determined by the ~~Secretary of Agriculture~~ **STATE CONSERVATIONIST OF THE U.S. NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE** to show that the land is not prime farmland.
- (3)-(4) ***
- (5) If the investigation indicates that land within the proposed permit area may be prime farmland historically used for cropland, the applicant shall contact the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service to determine if a soil survey exists for those lands and whether the applicable soil map units have been designated prime farmland. If no survey has been made for the lands proposed to be affected by surface operations or facilities, the applicant shall cause such a survey to be made in accordance with Rule 2.06.6(2).
 - (a) ***

- (b) When a soil survey for lands within the proposed permit area, or, in the case of underground mining, only those areas proposed to be disturbed by surface operations or facilities contains soil map units which have not been designated as prime farmland after review by the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service, the applicant shall submit a request for negative determination for nondesignated land with the permit application establishing compliance with 2.04.12(2).

2.04.13 Annual Reclamation Report

- (1) By February 15, or other such date as agreed on, each permittee shall file an annual reclamation report covering the previous calendar year for all areas under bond. The report shall include, but not be limited to, ~~text~~**DATA**, discussion and maps which address:
 - (a)-(f) ***
- (2) ***
- (3) ***FOR UNDERGROUND MINES, THE OPERATOR SHALL SUBMIT A MAP OF THE CURRENT LOCATION AND EXTENT OF THE ACTIVE AND INACTIVE MINE WORKINGS. UPON REQUEST OF THE OPERATOR, INFORMATION SUBMITTED WITH THE MAP MAY BE HELD CONFIDENTIAL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 2.07.5(1)(B).***

2.05 APPLICATION FOR PERMIT FOR SURFACE OR UNDERGROUND MINING ACTIVITIES--MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR OPERATION AND RECLAMATION PLANS

2.05.1-2.05.2 ***

2.05.3 Operation Plan - Permit Area

Each application shall contain a detailed description of the specific mining operations proposed to be conducted within the permit area. This description shall include, at a minimum, the following:

- (1)-(2) ***
- (3) Mine facilities.
 - (a)-(b) ***
 - (c) A description of each road, conveyor, or rail system to be constructed, used, or maintained within the proposed permit area. The description shall include a map, prepared in accordance with 2.10, appropriate cross sections, and the following:
 - (i) ***

- (ii) A report of appropriate geotechnical analysis, where approval of the Division is required for alternative specifications, or for steep cut slopes under ~~4.03.1(1)(e)~~, 4.03.1(3)(d), ~~4.03.2(1)(e)~~, or 4.03.2(3)(d).

(iii)-(vii) ***

(4) Ponds, impoundments, other treatment facilities and diversions.

- (a) General. A general plan and detailed design plan shall be submitted for each sediment pond, impoundment, other treatment facility and diversion proposed to be constructed within the permit area.

(i)-(v) ***

- (vi) All impoundments meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in the U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), shall comply with the requirements of this section for structures that meet or exceed the size or other criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a). TR60 and 30 CFR 77.216(a) are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).

- (vii) Each plan for an impoundment which meets the Class B or Class C criteria in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60) or meets the size or other criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a) shall include a stability analysis of the structure. The stability analysis shall include, but shall not be limited to, strength parameters, pore pressure, and long term seepage conditions. The plan shall also contain a description of each engineering design assumption and calculation with a discussion of each alternative considered in selecting the specific design parameters and construction methods. TR60 and 30 CFR 77.216(a) are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).

(b)-(d) ***

(5)-(7) ***

(8) Coal Mine Waste And Non-Coal ~~Processing~~ Waste.

A narrative explaining the construction, modification, use, maintenance, removal, and reclamation of coal ~~MINE WASTE processing~~ and non-coal

waste removal, handling, storage, transportation and disposal areas and structures in the permit area in accordance with ~~Sections~~**RULES** 4.10 and 4.11 including appropriate maps, which meet the requirements of **RULE** 2.10, explaining the location of each source of waste, waste storage area, and waste disposal facility.

- (a) Each application shall contain a general plan and detailed design plan for each coal mine waste and non-coal ~~processing~~ waste bank, dam, or embankment proposed to be constructed within the permit area.
 - (v) All impoundments meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in the U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), shall comply with the requirements of this section for structures that meet or exceed the size or other criteria of the 30 CFR 77.216(a). TR60 and 30 CFR 77.216(a) are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).
 - (vi) Each plan for an impoundment which meets the Class B or Class C criteria in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60) or meets the size or other criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a) shall include a stability analysis of the structure. The stability analysis shall include, but shall not be limited to, strength parameters, pore pressure, and long term seepage conditions. The plan shall also contain a description of each engineering design assumption and calculation with a discussion of each alternative considered in selecting the specific design parameters and construction methods. TR60 and 30 CFR 77.216(a) are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).

(b)-(c) ***

(9) ***

2.05.4 Reclamation Plan

(1) ***

(2) Each plan shall contain the following information for the proposed permit area, including any roads which are to be removed, or modified for retention as part of the post-mining land use:

(a)-(b) ***

(c) A plan for backfilling, soil stabilizing, compacting, and grading with postmining contour maps and appropriate cross sections that are typical and representative of the anticipated character of the final surface configuration of the proposed permit area, in accordance with 4.14, **FOR CLOSURE OF UNDERGROUND OPENINGS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 4.05.10 AND 4.07.3**, for stream channel reconstruction in accordance with 4.05.4, and for road removal or modification in accordance with 4.03.

(d)-(h) ***

2.05.5 ***

2.05.6 Mitigation of the Impacts of Mining Operations.

(1)-(3) ***

(4) Protection of public parks and historic places.

(a) For any publicly owned park or **ANY** place listed on the National Register of Historic Places that may be adversely affected by the proposed operation, each application shall describe the measures to be used to minimize or prevent these impacts and to obtain approval of the Division and the other agencies as required in **RULE 2.07.6(2)(e)(iv)**.

(b) ***

(5) ***

(6) Subsidence Survey, Subsidence Monitoring, and Subsidence Control Plan.

(a) For underground mining activities the application shall include an inventory of all structures, **and** renewable resource lands **AND DRINKING, DOMESTIC, OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** which exist within the proposed permit and adjacent area.

(i) If no such structures, **or** renewable resource lands, **OR DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** exist, no further information need be provided in the application under this **Section**~~Section~~**RULE**.

(ii) If such structures, **or** renewable resource lands, **OR DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** exist, the application shall include:

(A) A brief description of all structures, **and** renewable resource lands, **AND DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR**

RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES which exist within the proposed permit and adjacent area, **DESCRIBING SPECIFICALLY THE PRE-SUBSIDENCE CONDITION OF ANY OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING AND ANY STRUCTURE RELATED THERETO AND ANY NONCOMMERCIAL BUILDING. IF THE APPLICANT CANNOT MAKE THIS SURVEY BECAUSE THE OWNER WILL NOT ALLOW ACCESS TO THE SITE, THE APPLICANT WILL NOTIFY THE OWNER, IN WRITING, OF THE EFFECT THAT DENIAL OF ACCESS WILL HAVE IN ESTABLISHING THE PRE-SUBSIDENCE CONDITION TO DETERMINE WHETHER ANY SUBSEQUENT DAMAGE TO PROTECTED STRUCTURES WAS CAUSED BY SUBSIDENCE FROM UNDERGROUND MINING UNDER RULE 4.20.3(2);** and

- (B) An appropriate map, prepared according to **Section RULE 2.10, WITH THE EXCEPTION THAT THE MAP SHALL BE AT A SCALE OF 1:12,000 OR LARGER IF DETERMINED NECESSARY BY THE DIVISION,** showing the location and configuration of structures, **and** renewable resource lands, **AND DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** within the permit and adjacent area, **IDENTIFYING SPECIFICALLY ANY OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING, ANY STRUCTURE RELATED THERETO, ANY NONCOMMERCIAL BUILDING, AND ANY DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY.**
 - (III) **ANY TECHNICAL ASSESSMENTS, ENGINEERING EVALUATIONS, OR PRE-SUBSIDENCE INVENTORIES OR SURVEYS USED TO DETERMINE THE PRE-SUBSIDENCE CONDITION OF ANY OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING, ANY STRUCTURE RELATED THERETO, OR ANY NONCOMMERCIAL BUILDING, OR USED TO DETERMINE THE PRE-SUBSIDENCE QUALITY OR QUANTITY OF ANY DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY, SHALL BE PAID FOR, PERFORMED, OR OTHERWISE OBTAINED BY THE APPLICANT.**
 - (IV) **COPIES OF ANY PRE-SUBSIDENCE INVENTORIES AND SURVEYS, TECHNICAL ASSESSMENTS, AND ENGINEERING EVALUATIONS, RELATED TO OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS AND STRUCTURES RELATED THERETO, NONCOMMERCIAL BUILDINGS, OR DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE DIVISION AND PROVIDED BY THE APPLICANT TO PROPERTY OWNERS AT THEIR REQUEST.**
- (b) If structures, **and** renewable resource lands, **OR DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** are determined to exist within the proposed permit and adjacent area, the application shall

include a description of the worst possible consequences ~~which~~ **THAT** subsidence, if it occurred, could ~~have~~ **CREATE** for such structures, ~~and~~ renewable resource lands, **OR DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES.**

- (i) ~~The application shall include a determination of whether subsidence, if it occurred, could cause material damage or diminution of reasonably foreseeable use of such structures and renewable resource lands.~~ This description of worst possible ~~subsidence~~ consequences shall include:
- (A) A brief description of pre- and postmining land uses of the permit and adjacent area, as described pursuant to ~~Sections~~**RULES** 2.04.3 and 2.05.5;
 - (B) ***
 - (C) A brief description of material subsidence damage ~~or~~, diminution of reasonably foreseeable use of structures and renewable resource lands **OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** which could result from the occurrence of the subsidence related phenomena described in accordance with ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(b)(i)(B), including consideration of the definitions and considerations contained in ~~Sections~~**RULES** 2.05.6(6)(e)(ii)(A),(B), and (C).
- (ii) If the description of worst possible subsidence consequences, prepared in accordance with ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(b)(i), determines that no material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, ~~or~~, diminution of reasonably foreseeable use **OF STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY** could result in the event of mine subsidence within the permit and adjacent areas, and if the Division concurs with that conclusion, the application shall include a monitoring program designed to determine the accuracy of that conclusion, as described in ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(c).
- (iii) If the description of worst possible subsidence consequences, prepared in accordance with ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(b)(i), determines that material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, ~~or~~ diminution of reasonably foreseeable use **OF STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF A DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY** could result in the event of mine subsidence within the

permit and adjacent areas, the application shall include additional information as required by either one of the following:

- (A) A subsidence survey, as described in ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(e); or
 - (B) A subsidence control plan, as described in ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(f).
- (c) Subsidence Monitoring Program.
- (i) The monitoring program shall be designed to determine the commencement and magnitude of subsidence movements which occur and shall include the following monitoring techniques:
 - (A)-(D) ***
 - (E) **MONITORING OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC AND RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLAN FOR THE COLLECTION, RECORDING, AND REPORTING OF GROUND AND SURFACE WATER QUALITY DATA DESCRIBED IN RULES 2.05.6(3)(B)(IV) AND 4.05.13, AND RESULTS OF MONITORING OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC AND RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES SHALL ALSO BE SUBMITTED WITH THE SUBSIDENCE MONITORING PROGRAM REPORT.**
 - ~~(F)~~(F) Results of the monitoring program shall be submitted to the Division at least semi-annually.
 - ~~(F)~~(G) The monitoring program shall be designed to extend for a time, beyond cessation of mining in any area, consistent with the need for verification of the subsidence prediction.
 - (ii) The application shall include an appropriate map, prepared according to the standards of ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.10, **WITH THE EXCEPTION THAT THE MAP SHALL BE AT A SCALE OF 1:12,000 OR LARGER IF DETERMINED NECESSARY BY THE DIVISION**, showing the location of monuments to be installed and ~~structures to be~~ monitored, **THE LOCATION OF ANY STRUCTURE TO BE MONITORED, AND THE LOCATION OF ANY DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY TO BE MONITORED** within the permit and adjacent area.
- (d) (i) If a subsidence monitoring program determines, in the opinion of the Division, that the subsidence prediction was inaccurate and that material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, ~~or~~

diminution of reasonably foreseeable use of structures or renewable resource lands **OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF A DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY** may occur, the permittee will be required to submit a subsidence control plan, as defined in **SectionRULE 2.05.6(6)(f)**.

- (ii) In order to protect structures, ~~and~~ renewable resource lands, **AND DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** within the permit and adjacent area, the Division, after consultation with the permittee, shall suspend underground coal mining ~~under~~ **NEAR** structures ~~of~~ **OR** renewable resource lands, if imminent danger of material subsidence damage or diminution of reasonably foreseeable use is determined to exist.
- (e) A subsidence survey, prepared by appropriately qualified professionals in accord with the current state-of-the-art of subsidence prediction technology, shall contain the following information:
 - (i) A detailed description of subsidence predicted to occur within the permit and adjacent area, including:
 - (A)-(E)***
 - (F) Appropriate maps, prepared according to the standards of **SectionRULE 2.10, WITH THE EXCEPTION THAT THE MAP SHALL BE AT A SCALE OF 1:12,000 OR LARGER IF DETERMINED NECESSARY BY THE DIVISION**, showing:
 - (I) ***
 - (II) ***
 - (III) The ground surface areal extent of an area determined by the projection of the angle-of-draw, if predicted pursuant to **SectionRULE 2.05.6(6)(e)(i)(E)** or 45°, if no prediction is made by the applicant, from the limits of the proposed mine workings to the ground surface; and
 - (IV) ***
 - (ii) A detailed description of material subsidence damage or diminution of reasonably foreseeable use of structures and renewable resource lands which could result from the occurrence of subsidence related phenomena predicted in accordance with **SectionRULE 2.05.6(6)(e)(i)(D)** within the

permit and adjacent area, including consideration of the following:

- (A) ~~Material subsidence damage means,~~ with respect to structures, changes which make it technologically or economically infeasible to promptly restore the affected structures to the condition they would be in if subsidence had not occurred.
 - (B) ~~Material subsidence damage means,~~ with respect to renewable resource lands, changes which disrupt an aquifer, or a recharge area to an aquifer, which serves as a beneficial use of water or changes which make it technologically or economically infeasible to restore the productivity of the affected renewable resource lands, expressed in terms of food, fiber or forage, to the level it would be if subsidence had not occurred.
 - (C) ~~A determination of~~ **WITH RESPECT TO** diminution of reasonably foreseeable use of structures or renewable resource lands within the permit and adjacent area, ~~THE DESCRIPTION WHICH~~ shall consider the capability of those structures and lands, before and after subsidence occurrence, to support those uses described in ~~Section~~**RULE 2.05.6(6)(b)(i)(A)**, giving consideration to factors such as soil and foundation characteristics, topography, vegetative cover, surface hydrology and groundwater hydrology.
- (iii) If the subsidence survey determines that no material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, ~~or~~ diminution of reasonably foreseeable use **OF STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** could result in the event of subsidence predicted to occur within the permit and adjacent area, and the Division concurs with that conclusion, the application shall include a subsidence monitoring program, **CONSISTENT WITH RULE 2.05.6(6)(c)**, designed to determine the accuracy of the subsidence prediction required by ~~Section~~**RULE 2.05.6(6)(e)(i)(D)**.
 - (iv) If the subsidence survey determines that material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, ~~or~~ diminution of reasonable foreseeable use **OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF A DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY** could result in the event of subsidence predicted to occur within the permit and adjacent area, or if

the Division determines that such damage or diminution could occur, the application shall include a subsidence control plan as described in ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.6(6)(f).

(f) A subsidence control plan, prepared by appropriately qualified professionals, shall contain the following information:

(i)-(ii) ***

(iii) A detailed description of the measures to be taken to prevent subsidence from causing material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, or lessening the value or reasonably foreseeable use of ~~the surface,~~ **STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION, OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC, OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES**, including:

(A) The technique of coal removal, such as longwall mining, room and pillar removal, hydraulic mining or other methods, including the size, sequence, and timing for the development of underground workings as required by ~~Section~~**RULE** 2.05.3(2)(b); and

(B) ***

(C) Measures to be taken on the surface to prevent material **SUBSIDENCE** damage or lessening of the value or **REASONABLY** foreseeable use of ~~the surface~~ **STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION, OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC, OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** including such measures as:

(I)-(IV) ***

(V) Monitoring, if any, to determine the commencement and degree of subsidence so that other appropriate measures can be taken to prevent or reduce material **SUBSIDENCE** damage.

(iv) A detailed description of the measures to be taken to mitigate the effects of any material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, ~~or~~ diminution of value or **REASONABLY** foreseeable use of ~~lands~~ **STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** which may occur, including one or more of the following as required in **RULE** 4.20.3(3):

- (A) Restoration, **REPLACEMENT**, or rehabilitation of structures and features, including approximate land-surface contours, to premining condition.
- (B)-(C) ***
- (D) Purchase **BEFORE MINING** of non-cancellable **PREMIUM PRE-PAID** insurance policies payable to the surface owner in the full amount of the possible material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, **OR DIMINUTION OF REASONABLE FORESEEABLE USE OF STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS** or other comparable measures.
- (E) **PROMPTLY REPLACE, AS REQUIRED IN RULE 4.05.15(2), ANY DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY THAT IS CONTAMINATED, DIMINISHED, OR INTERRUPTED BY UNDERGROUND MINING ACTIVITIES.**
- (v) A detailed description of measures to be taken to determine the degree of material **SUBSIDENCE** damage; or diminution of value or **REASONABLY** foreseeable use of ~~the surface~~ **STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS; OR OF CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES**, including such measures as:
 - (A) The results of pre-subsidence surveys of all structures, ~~and~~ surface features, **RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, AND DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** which might be materially damaged, **OR CONTAMINATED, DIMINISHED, OR INTERRUPTED** by subsidence.
 - (B) ***
- (vi) Appropriate maps, prepared according to the standards of **RULE 2.10, WITH THE EXCEPTION THAT THE MAP SHALL BE AT A SCALE OF 1:12,000 OR LARGER IF DETERMINED NECESSARY BY THE DIVISION**, showing the underground workings, the location of any facilities, ~~of~~ structures, **RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** proposed for subsidence control, and the location and extent of areas in which planned-subsidence mining methods will be used including all areas where measures will be taken to prevent or minimize subsidence and subsidence-related damage.
- (vii) ***

2.06 REQUIREMENTS FOR PERMITS FOR SPECIAL CATEGORIES OF MINING

2.06.1-2.06.5 ***

2.06.6 Prime Farmlands.

- (1) ***
- (2) Application contents for prime farmland. If land within the proposed permit area is prime farmland under 2.04.12, the applicant shall submit a plan for the mining and restoration of the land. Each plan shall contain, at a minimum:
 - (a) A soil survey of the permit area according to standards established by the U.S.D.A. Natural Resources Conservation Service for the National Cooperative Soil Survey. These standards are described in the National Soil Survey Handbook (Soil Survey Staff, 2001).
 - (i) This publication is hereby incorporated by reference as it exists on the date of adoption of these rules and does not include later amendments to or editions of this publication. The National Soil Survey Handbook is available for inspection at the Division's Denver office, at the Denver office of the U.S.D.I. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, and at the Colorado state office **AND WEB SITE** of the U.S.D.A. Natural Resources Conservation Service. ~~It is~~
~~also available on-line at~~
~~<http://www.statlab.iastate.edu/soils/nssh/>~~
 - (ii) ***
 - (b)-(h) ***
- (3) Consultation with the ~~Secretary of Agriculture~~ **STATE CONSERVATIONIST OF THE U.S. NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE**. Before any permit is issued for areas that include prime farmlands, the Division shall consult with the ~~Secretary of Agriculture~~ **STATE CONSERVATIONIST OF THE U.S. NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE**. The ~~Secretary~~ **CONSERVATIONIST** shall be provided, for review and comment, the proposed method of soil reconstruction in this plan submitted under **RULE** 2.06.6(2).
- (4) Issuance of permit. A permit for the mining and reclamation of prime ~~reclamation of prime~~ farmland may be granted by the Division, if it first finds, in writing, upon the basis of a complete application that:
 - (a) ***

- (b) The permit incorporates as specific conditions the contents of the plan submitted under **RULE 2.06.6(2)** after consideration of any revisions to that plan suggested by the ~~Secretary of Agriculture~~ **STATE CONSERVATIONIST OF THE U.S. NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE** under **RULE 2.06.6(3)**;

(c)-(d) ***

2.06.7 ***

2.06.8 Surface Coal Mining and Reclamation Operations on Areas, or Adjacent to Areas, Including Alluvial Valley Floors

- (1) Scope. **RULE 2.06.8** applies to each person who conducts or intends to conduct surface coal mining and reclamation operations in, adjacent to or under a valley holding **A** stream.

(2)-(4) ***

(5) (a) ***

(b) (i) ***

- (ii) For surface coal mining and reclamation operations which satisfy the requirements of 2.06.8(5)(b)(i) above, the geographic extent of lands eligible for such exemption shall be limited to:

(A) ***

(B) For underground mining activities~~;~~

I. ~~The~~ actual extent of the mine workings on August 3, 1977, and

II. ~~A~~adjacent lands for which there existed substantial demonstrable financial or regulatory commitment on August 3, 1977.~~;~~
~~as~~ **THIS WILL BE** determined by the Division on a case-by-case basis using all available information.

(c) ***

(6) ***

2.06.9-2.06.12 ***

2.07 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AND APPROVAL OF PERMIT APPLICATIONS

2.07.1 Scope

This rule establishes the requirements for:

- (1) ***
- (2) The review of permit applications and decisions on these applications by the Division and Board; ~~and~~
- (3) Approval or disapproval of permits to conduct surface coal mining and reclamation operations and for the terms and conditions of permits issued;
- (4) *IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT OF IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED PERMITS; AND*
- (5) *POST-PERMIT ISSUANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DIVISION AND APPLICANT.*

2.07.2 ***

2.07.3 Government Agency and Public Comments on Permit Applications

- (1) ***
- (2) At the time of submission of an application for a permit, ~~or for a~~ permit revision, technical revision, or renewal of an existing permit, the applicant shall submit to the Division the proposed *PUBLIC notice of publication of the ownership, precise location, and boundaries of the land to be affected by the proposed surface coal mining operation* ~~ANNOUNCING THE FILING OF THE APPLICATION. THE NOTICE SHALL INCLUDE, AT A MINIMUM, THE INFORMATION DESCRIBED IN PARAGRAPHS (A) THROUGH (H) OF THIS RULE.~~ Upon notification to the applicant that the application for a permit, ~~or the application for a~~ permit revision, or renewal is complete, the applicant shall place the notice *of ownership, precise location, and boundaries of land to be affected by the proposed surface coal mining operation* in a local newspaper of general circulation in the locality of said operation. This ~~publication~~ *NOTICE* shall be published at least once a week for four consecutive weeks. ~~AND -The publication~~ shall contain, at a minimum, the following information:
 - (a) The name and business address of the applicant;
 - (b)-(g) ***
 - (h) *AN APPLICATION FOR A PERMIT REVISION OR TECHNICAL REVISION SHALL INCLUDE IN THE NOTICE A WRITTEN DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED REVISION AND A MAP OR DESCRIPTION CLEARLY IDENTIFYING THE LANDS SPECIFICALLY SUBJECT TO THE REVISION.*
- (3) (a) Upon receipt of a complete application for a permit, a permit revision, ~~technical revision~~, or permit renewal, the Division shall issue written notification of:

(i)-(iv) ***

(b)-(c) ***

(4)-(6) ***

2.07.4 Division and Board Procedures for Review of Permit Applications

(1) ***

(2) Proposed Decision by the Division on an application for a permit, permit revision, or permit renewal.

(a)-(d) ***

(e) The applicant may file the required performance bond anytime **WITHIN THREE CALENDAR YEARS OF ~~after~~** a proposed or final decision granting a permit. However, such performance bond must be filed and approved prior to the issuance of the permit. **FOR APPLICATIONS APPROVED ON OR AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS RULE, THE DIVISION WILL REVIEW THE TERMS OF THE ORIGINAL PERMIT APPROVAL IF THE PERFORMANCE BOND IS NOT SUBMITTED WITHIN THREE CALENDAR YEARS OF THE FINAL APPROVAL. AT THAT TIME, THE DIVISION MAY REAFFIRM THE APPROVAL OR REQUEST UPDATED AND/OR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.**

(i) UPDATED OR REVISED INFORMATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE NOTIFICATION AND REVIEW REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 2.07.

(ii) IF THE APPLICANT DOES NOT RESPOND TO THE DIVISION'S REQUEST WITHIN 90 DAYS, THE DIVISION WILL REISSUE A PROPOSED DECISION TO DENY THE APPLICATION. NOTICE OF THE DIVISION'S PROPOSED DECISION TO DENY THE PERMIT WILL BE PROVIDED AS SET FORTH IN RULE 2.07.4(2)(C) AND (D), AND ANY OBJECTIONS TO THE DECISION SHALL BE SUBMITTED AS SET FORTH IN RULE 2.07.4(3).

(F) WITHIN TEN DAYS AFTER THE GRANTING OF A PERMIT, INCLUDING THE FILING OF THE PERFORMANCE BOND WHICH COMPLIES WITH RULE 3, THE DIVISION SHALL NOTIFY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS IN THE LOCAL POLITICAL SUBDIVISION IN WHICH THE AREA OF LAND TO BE AFFECTED IS LOCATED, THAT A PERMIT HAS BEEN ISSUED AND SHALL DESCRIBE THE LOCATION OF ALL THE LANDS WITHIN THE PERMIT AREA.

(3) Formal hearing by the Board.

(a)-(c) ***

- (d) When a formal hearing is requested, the Board may grant such temporary relief as it deems appropriate pending final determination of the proceedings if:
 - (i)-(iii) ***
 - (iv) The relief sought is not the issuance of a permit where a permit has been denied, in whole or in part by the Division, **EXCEPT THAT CONTINUATION UNDER AN EXISTING PERMIT MAY BE ALLOWED WHERE THE OPERATION HAS A VALID PERMIT ISSUED UNDER SECTION 114 OF THE ACT.**
- (e) ***
- (f) **EX PARTE CONTACTS BETWEEN REPRESENTATIVES OF THE PARTIES APPEARING BEFORE THE BOARD AND THE BOARD SHALL BE PROHIBITED.**
- (~~f~~g) Judicial appeal. If any applicant or any person with an interest which is or may be adversely affected who has participated in the administrative proceedings as an objector is aggrieved by the decision of the Board or if the Division or Board fails to act within the time limits specified in the Act, such applicant or person shall have the right to appeal in accordance with Section 34-33-128, C.R.S.
- ~~(g) Within ten days after the granting of a permit, including the filing of the performance bond which complies with Rule 3, the Division shall notify the local government officials in the local political subdivision in which the area of land to be affected is located, that a permit has been issued and shall describe the location of all the lands within the permit area.~~
- (h) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing provisions of **RULE** 2.07, no time limit under the Act or **RULE** 2.07 requiring the Board or Division to act shall be considered expired from the time the Board or Division initiates a proceeding under **RULE** 2.07.6(1)(~~e~~) until the final decision of the hearing body.

2.07.5 ***

2.07.6 Criteria for Review of Permit Applications for Permit Approval or Denial

- (1) Review of permit applications.
 - (a) (i) The Division shall review the complete application and written comments, written objections submitted, and records of any informal conference held under **RULE** 2.07.~~3(6)~~.
 - (ii) ***

(b) Based on *THE REVIEWS REQUIRED UNDER RULES 2.03.4(12) AND 2.03.5(2)*, ~~available information concerning Federal and State failure to abate cessation orders, unabated Federal and State imminent harm cessation orders, delinquent civil penalties issued pursuant to Section 518 of the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act, (30 U.S.C.1201 et. seq.), including delinquent civil penalties assessed under any State regulatory programs approved pursuant to SMCRA, bond forfeitures where violations upon which the forfeitures were based have not been corrected, delinquent abandoned mine reclamation fees, and unabated violations of Federal and State laws, rules, and regulations pertaining to air or water environmental protection incurred in connection with any surface coal mining operation,~~ the Division *WILL DETERMINE WHETHER THE APPLICANT IS ELIGIBLE FOR A PERMIT UNDER RULES 2.07.6(2)(G), AND 2.07.6(2)(G) AND 34-33-114(3). EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN 2.07.6(1)(G), THE DIVISION* shall not issue the permit if any surface coal mining and reclamation operation *THAT IS: owned or controlled by either the applicant or by any person who owns or controls the applicant is currently in violation of the Act or any other law, rule or regulation referred to in this paragraph.*

- (i) *DIRECTLY OWNED OR CONTROLLED BY THE APPLICANT HAS AN UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATION; OR*
- (ii) *INDIRECTLY CONTROLLED BY THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR HAS AN UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATION AND THAT CONTROL WAS ESTABLISHED OR THE VIOLATION WAS CITED AFTER NOVEMBER 2, 1988.*

~~In the absence of a failure to abate cessation order, the regulatory authority may presume that a notice of violation issued pursuant to 5.03.2(2) or under a Federal or State program has been or is being corrected to the satisfaction of the agency with jurisdiction over the violation, except where evidence to the contrary is set forth in the permit application, or where the notice of violation is issued for nonpayment of abandoned mine reclamation fees or civil penalties. If a current violation exists, the Division shall require the applicant or person who owns or controls the applicant, to either:~~

- ~~(i) Submit proof to the Division which is satisfactory to the regulatory authority, department or agency which has jurisdiction over such violation that the violation:~~

~~(A) Has been corrected, or~~

~~(B) Is in the process of being corrected; or~~

~~(ii) Establish to the Division that the applicant, any person who owns or control the applicant or any person owned or controlled by either, has filed and is presently pursuing, in good faith, a direct administrative or judicial appeal to contest the validity of that violation. If the administrative or judicial hearing authority either denies the appeal or affirms the violation, then any surface coal mining operations being conducted under a permit issued according to 2.07.6(4) shall be immediately terminated, unless and until the provisions of 2.07.6(1)(b)(i) are satisfied.~~

~~(iii) Any permit that is issued on the basis of proof submitted under the provisions of 2.07.6(1)(b)(i) that a violation is in the process of being corrected, or pending the outcome of an appeal described in 2.07.6(1)(b)(ii), shall be conditionally issued.~~

(C) THE DIVISION WILL NOT ISSUE A PERMIT IF THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR IS PERMANENTLY INELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE A PERMIT UNDER RULE 2.07.9(3).

(D) IF THE APPLICANT IS DEEMED INELIGIBLE FOR A PERMIT UNDER THIS RULE, THE DIVISION WILL SEND WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF ITS DECISION. THE NOTICE WILL TELL WHY THE APPLICANT IS INELIGIBLE AND INCLUDE NOTICE OF THE APPLICANT'S APPEAL RIGHTS UNDER RULE 2.07.4(3) AND 34-33-128 C.R.S.

(eE) Before any final determination of approval or denial of the permit application by the Division or the Board, the applicant, or any person who owns or controls the applicant, or the operator specified in the application whom the Division finds controls or has controlled mining operations with a demonstrated pattern of willful violation of the Act of such nature, duration, and with such resulting irreparable damage to the environment that indicates an intent not to comply with the provisions of the Act, shall be afforded an opportunity for an adjudicatory hearing on the determination as provided for by 2.07.4(3)(b)-2.07.4(3)(fG).

~~(dF) After a written decision is published, but before the permit is issued, the Division shall reconsider its decision to approve the application, based on the compliance review required by 2.07.6(1)(b) in light of any new information submitted under 2.03.4(5) and 2.03.5(4). AFTER FINAL APPROVAL OF A PERMIT UNDER RULE 2.07.6(2), THE DIVISION WILL NOT ISSUE THE PERMIT UNTIL THE INFORMATION UPDATE AND CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENT OF RULE 2.03.5(3) IS RECEIVED. UPON FULFILLMENT OF THAT REQUIREMENT, THE DIVISION WILL AGAIN REQUEST A COMPLIANCE~~

HISTORY REPORT FROM AVS TO DETERMINE IF THERE ARE ANY UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATIONS WHICH AFFECT PERMIT ELIGIBILITY UNDER PARAGRAPHS (B) AND (C) OF THIS RULE. THE DIVISION WILL REQUEST THIS REPORT NO MORE THAN FIVE BUSINESS DAYS BEFORE PERMIT ISSUANCE UNDER RULE 2.07.4.

- (G) (I) THIS RULE APPLIES IF AN APPLICANT OWNS OR CONTROLS A SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATION WITH:
 - (A) A NOTICE OF VIOLATION ISSUED PURSUANT TO RULE 5.03.2(2) OR UNDER A FEDERAL OR STATE PROGRAM FOR WHICH THE ABATEMENT PERIOD HAS NOT YET EXPIRED; OR
 - (B) A VIOLATION THAT IS UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED BEYOND THE ABATEMENT OR CORRECTION PERIOD.
- (II) THE DIVISION WILL FIND THE APPLICANT ELIGIBLE FOR A PROVISIONALLY ISSUED PERMIT UNDER THIS RULE IF THE APPLICANT DEMONSTRATES THAT ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES EXISTS WITH RESPECT TO ALL VIOLATIONS LISTED IN PARAGRAPH (G)(I)(A) OF THIS RULE:
 - (A) FOR VIOLATIONS MEETING THE CRITERIA OF PARAGRAPH (G)(I)(A) OF THIS SECTION, THE APPLICANT CERTIFIES THAT THE VIOLATION IS BEING ABATED TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE VIOLATION, AND THE DIVISION HAS NO EVIDENCE TO THE CONTRARY.
 - (B) AS APPLICABLE, THE APPLICANT, THE OPERATOR, AND OPERATIONS THAT THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR OWN OR CONTROL ARE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE TERMS OF ANY ABATEMENT PLAN (OR, FOR DELINQUENT FEES OR PENALTIES, A PAYMENT SCHEDULE) APPROVED BY THE AGENCY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE VIOLATION.
 - (C) THE APPLICANT IS PURSUING A GOOD FAITH:
 - (I) CHALLENGE TO ALL PERTINENT OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTINGS OR FINDINGS UNDER RULES 2.11.1 THROUGH 2.11.4; OR
 - (II) ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL APPEAL OF ALL PERTINENT OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTINGS OR FINDINGS, UNLESS THERE IS AN INITIAL JUDICIAL DECISION AFFIRMING THE LISTING OR FINDING AND THAT DECISION REMAINS IN FORCE.

- (D) *THE VIOLATION IS THE SUBJECT OF A GOOD FAITH ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL APPEAL CONTESTING THE VALIDITY OF THE VIOLATION, UNLESS THERE IS AN INITIAL JUDICIAL DECISION AFFIRMING THE VIOLATION AND THAT DECISION REMAINS IN FORCE.*
- (iii) *THE DIVISION WILL CONSIDER A PROVISIONALLY ISSUED PERMIT TO BE IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED, AND MUST IMMEDIATELY INITIATE PROCEDURES UNDER RULES 2.07.8(2) AND 2.07.8(3) TO SUSPEND OR RESCIND THAT PERMIT, IF:*
 - (A) *VIOLATIONS INCLUDED IN PARAGRAPH (G)(I)(A) OF THIS RULE ARE NOT ABATED WITHIN THE SPECIFIED ABATEMENT PERIOD;*
 - (B) *THE APPLICANT, OPERATOR, OR OPERATIONS THAT THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR OWN OR CONTROL DO NOT COMPLY WITH THE TERMS OF AN ABATEMENT PLAN OR PAYMENT SCHEDULE MENTIONED IN PARAGRAPH (G)(II)(B) OF THIS RULE;*
 - (C) *IN THE ABSENCE OF A REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW, THE DISPOSITION OF A CHALLENGE AND ANY SUBSEQUENT ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW REFERENCED IN PARAGRAPH (G)(II)(C) OR (D) OF THIS SECTION AFFIRMS THE VALIDITY OF THE VIOLATION OR THE OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING; OR*
 - (D) *THE INITIAL JUDICIAL REVIEW DECISION REFERENCED IN PARAGRAPH (G)(II)(C)(I) OR (G)(II)(D) OF THIS RULE AFFIRMS THE VALIDITY OF THE VIOLATION OR THE OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING.*
- (2) Criteria for permit approval or denial.

No permit or permit revision application shall be approved, unless the application affirmatively demonstrates and the Division or Board finds, in writing, on the basis of information set forth in the application or from information otherwise available, which is documented in the approval and made available to the applicant, that:

(a)-(c) ***

- (d) The affected area is, subject to valid rights existing ~~as of August 3, 1977~~, *AS DETERMINED UNDER RULE 1.04(149)*, and with the further exception of those *LANDS WITHIN THE APPROVED PERMIT BOUNDARIES OF surface coal mining operations WHICH PERMIT BOUNDARIES WERE IN EXISTENCE AT THE TIME THE LAND CAME UNDER THE PROTECTION OF THIS RULE OR 30 U.S.C. 1272(E).*:

- ~~(i) Not included within an area designated unsuitable for surface coal mining operations in an administrative proceeding begun under Rule 7 or 30 CFR 769 of the Federal Regulations; RESERVED.~~
- ~~(ii) Not within an area under study for designation as unsuitable for surface coal mining operations in an administrative proceeding begun under Rule 7 or 30 CFR 769 of the Federal Regulations unless the applicant demonstrates that, before January 4, 1977, he or she has made substantial financial and legal commitments in the relation to the operation for which he or she is applying for a permit. RESERVED.~~
- (iii) Not on any lands subject to the following prohibitions or limitations:
- (A) On any lands within the boundaries of the National Park System; the National Wildlife Refuge System; the National System of Trails; the National Wilderness Preservation System; the Wild and Scenic Rivers System, including study rivers designated under Section 5(a) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (16 U.S.C. 1276(a)) **OR STUDY RIVERS OR STUDY RIVER CORRIDORS ESTABLISHED IN ANY GUIDELINES ISSUED UNDER THAT ACT;** and **OR** National Recreation Areas designated by Act of Congress;
- (B)-(C) ***
- (D) On any Federal lands within the boundaries of any national forest; except that surface coal mining operations may be permitted on such lands if the Secretary finds that there are no significant recreational, timber, economic, or other values which may be incompatible with such surface mining operations, and:
- (I) Surface operations and impacts are incident to an underground coal mine; or
- (II) Where the Secretary of the United States Department of Agriculture determines, with respect to lands in national forests which do not have significant forest cover, that surface mining is in compliance with the "Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960, **16 U.S.C. 528-531**" as amended, **THE FEDERAL COAL LEASING AMENDMENTS ACT OF 1975, 30 U.S.C. 181 ET SEQ.; AND THE NATIONAL FOREST MANAGEMENT**

ACT OF 1976, 16 U.S.C. 1600 ET SEQ. and the provisions of the Act;

(III) IF A PERSON INTENDS TO RELY UPON THE EXCEPTION PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH D, ABOVE, APPROVAL FROM THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR MUST BE OBTAINED. PROCEDURES FOR OBTAINING SECRETARIAL APPROVAL ARE SET FORTH IN 30 CFR §761.13. THE DIVISION MAY NOT ISSUE THE PERMIT OR APPROVE A BOUNDARY REVISION BEFORE THE SECRETARY MAKES THE FINDINGS REQUIRED BY 30 CFR §761.11(B).

(E) ***

- (iv) Not within 100 feet, measured horizontally, of the outside right-of-way line of any public road except where mine access roads or haul roads join such right-of-way line or where the applicant proposes to relocate or close any public road. The Division or Board shall only allow such relocation or closure or affected area within 100 feet, measured horizontally, of the public road if the Division, or the appropriate public road authority, pursuant to being designated as the responsible agency by the Division, allows the public road to be relocated, closed, or the affected area to be within 100 feet, measured horizontally, of such road, after public notice and an opportunity for a public hearing in accordance with 2.047.6(2)(d)(iv)(A) and (B).

(A)-(D) ***

- (v) Not within 300 feet measured horizontally from any occupied **RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, unless the owner thereof has provided a written waiver consenting to surface coal mining operations closer than 300 feet which states that the owner and signatorY had the legal right to deny mining and knowingly waived that right. Valid waivers existing as of August 3, 1977 shall be considered binding for purposes of **RULE 2.07.6(2)(d)(v)** and binding subsequent ~~OWNERS~~ **PURCHASERS** of such valid waivers by prior owners. The waiver must be separate from a lease or deed unless the lease or deed contains an explicit waiver. **A SUBSEQUENT PURCHASER WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE IF THE WAIVER HAS BEEN PROPERLY FILED IN PUBLIC PROPERTY RECORDS PURSUANT TO STATE LAWS OR IF SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS HAVE ENTERED THE 300-FOOT ZONE BEFORE THE DATE OF PURCHASE.**

~~(e) Subject to valid rights existing as of August 3, 1977, and with the further exception of those surface coal mining operations which were in existence on August 3, 1977;~~

(vi) ~~NOT WITHIN ANY LANDS WHERE THE~~ proposed operations ~~will not~~ **WOULD** adversely affect any publicly owned park or **ANY** place listed on or those places eligible for listing, as determined by the SHPO, on the National Register of Historic Places, unless approved jointly by the Board and the Federal, State, or local agency with jurisdiction over the park or place. ~~(ii)~~ Where the proposed surface coal mining operation may adversely affect any publicly owned park or place listed on or those places eligible for listing, as determined by the SHPO, on the National Register of Historic Places, the Division or Board shall transmit to the Federal, State, or local agencies with jurisdiction over the park or historic site a copy of the complete application containing the following:

- (A) A request for the agency's approval or disapproval of the operations;
- (B) A notice to the appropriate agency that it must respond within 30 days from the receipt of the request.

~~(iii) A permit for the operation shall not be issued unless jointly approved by all affected agencies with jurisdiction over the park or historic site.~~

(e) **THE PROPOSED PERMIT AREA IS**

(i) NOT INCLUDED WITHIN AN AREA DESIGNATED UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS IN AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING BEGUN UNDER RULE 7 OR 30 CFR 769.

(ii) NOT WITHIN AN AREA UNDER STUDY FOR DESIGNATION AS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS IN AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING BEGUN UNDER RULE 7 OR 30 CFR 769 UNLESS THE APPLICANT DEMONSTRATES THAT, BEFORE JANUARY 4, 1977, HE OR SHE HAS MADE SUBSTANTIAL FINANCIAL AND LEGAL COMMITMENTS IN THE RELATION TO THE OPERATION FOR WHICH HE OR SHE IS APPLYING FOR A PERMIT.

(f) For operations involving the surface mining of coal where the private mineral estate to be mined has been severed from the private surface estate, the applicant has submitted to the Division the documentation required under **RULE 2.03.6(2)**.

- (g) ~~The applicant has either:~~
~~(i) Submitted the proof required by 2.07.6(1)(b)(i); or~~
~~(ii) Made the demonstration required by 2.07.6(1)(b)(ii).~~
 THE APPLICANT IS ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE A PERMIT, BASED ON THE
 REVIEWS UNDER RULES 2.03.4(11) AND (12), 2.03.5(2),
 2.07.4(2)(B), AND 2.07.6(1).
- (h) ***
- (i) ***
- (j) The applicant will submit the performance bond required under
 the ~~bond of~~ Rule 3, prior to the issuance of permit.
- (k) The applicant has, with respect to both prime farmland and alluvial
 valley floors, obtained either a negative determination or satisfied
 the requirements of **RULES** 2.06.6 and 2.06.8, excluding
 undeveloped range lands which are not significant to farming on
 said alluvial valley floors and those lands upon which the Board
 finds that the farming which will be interrupted, discontinued, or
 precluded is of such small acreage as to be of negligible impact
 on said land's agricultural production.
- (l) The proposed postmining land use of the permit area has been
 approved by the Division in accordance with the requirements of
RULE 4.16.
- (m) The Division has made all specific approvals required under
 Rule 4.
- (n) The Division has found that the activities would not affect the
 continued existence of endangered or threatened species or result
 in the destruction or adverse modification of their critical habitats
 as determined under the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (16
 USC Sec. 1531 et seq.) or the Nongame, Endangered or
 Threatened Species Conservation Act (Section 33-2-101 et seq.,
 C.R.S.).
- (o) The applicant has submitted proof that all reclamation fees
 required by 30 CFR Chapter VII, Subchapter R, have been paid
 for all coal mining operations.
- (p) **THE APPLICANT HAS SATISFIED THE APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS OF
 RULES 4.23 THROUGH 4.29 (REQUIREMENTS FOR SPECIAL
 CATEGORIES OF MINING).**
- (q) **THE APPLICANT HAS, IF APPLICABLE, SATISFIED THE REQUIREMENTS
 FOR APPROVAL OF A LONG-TERM, INTENSIVE AGRICULTURAL
 POSTMINING LAND USE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF**

RULES 4.15.1(2)(C), 4.15.7(3)(B)(I), 4.15.8(1)(A), 4.15.9, AND 4.25.5(2).

2.07.7 ***

2.07.8 IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED PERMITS.

- (1) *INITIAL REVIEW AND FINDING REQUIREMENTS FOR IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED PERMITS.*
 - (A) *IF THE DIVISION HAS REASON TO BELIEVE THAT A PERMIT WAS IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED, THE DIVISION MUST REVIEW THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH THE PERMIT WAS ISSUED. THE DIVISION WILL MAKE A PRELIMINARY FINDING THAT THE PERMIT WAS IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED IF, UNDER THE PERMIT ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA OF THE APPLICABLE REGULATIONS IMPLEMENTING SECTION 114(3) OF THE ACT IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF PERMIT ISSUANCE, THE PERMIT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BECAUSE THE PERMITTEE OR OPERATOR OWNED OR CONTROLLED A SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATION WITH AN UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATION.*
 - (B) *THE DIVISION WILL MAKE A FINDING UNDER PARAGRAPH (A) OF THIS RULE ONLY IF THE PERMITTEE OR OPERATOR:*
 - (i) *CONTINUE TO OWN OR CONTROL THE OPERATION WITH THE UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATION;*
 - (ii) *THE VIOLATION REMAINS UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED; AND*
 - (iii) *THE VIOLATION WOULD CAUSE THE PERMITTEE TO BE INELIGIBLE UNDER THE PERMIT ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA IN THE CURRENT RULES AND REGULATIONS.*
 - (C) *WHEN THE DIVISION MAKES A PRELIMINARY FINDING UNDER PARAGRAPH (A) OF THIS RULE, THE DIVISION MUST SERVE THE PERMITTEE WITH A WRITTEN NOTICE OF THE PRELIMINARY FINDING WHICH MUST BE BASED ON EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE THAT THE PERMIT WAS IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED.*
 - (D) *WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIVING A NOTICE UNDER PARAGRAPH (C) OF THIS RULE, THE PERMITTEE MAY CHALLENGE THE PRELIMINARY FINDING BY PROVIDING THE DIVISION WITH EVIDENCE AS TO WHY THE PERMIT WAS NOT IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED UNDER THE CRITERIA IN PARAGRAPHS (A) AND (B) OF THIS RULE.*
 - (E) *THE PROVISIONS OF RULES 2.11.1 THROUGH 2.11.3 APPLY WHEN A CHALLENGE UNDER PARAGRAPH (D) OF THIS RULE CONCERNS A PRELIMINARY FINDING UNDER PARAGRAPHS (A) AND (B)(I) OF THIS RULE THAT THE PERMITTEE CURRENTLY OWNS OR CONTROLS, OR OWNED OR CONTROLLED, A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION.*

- (2) **NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED PERMITS.**
- (A) **THE DIVISION MUST SERVE THE PERMITTEE WITH A WRITTEN NOTICE OF PROPOSED SUSPENSION OR RESCISSION, TOGETHER WITH A STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE PROPOSED SUSPENSION OF RESCISSION, IF:**
- (I) **AFTER CONSIDERING ANY EVIDENCE SUBMITTED UNDER RULE 2.07.8(1)(D) THE DIVISION FINDS THAT A PERMIT WAS IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED UNDER THE CRITERIA IN PARAGRAPHS (A) AND (B)(1) OF RULE 2.07.8(1); OR**
- (II) **THE PERMIT WAS PROVISIONALLY ISSUED UNDER RULE 2.07.6(1)(G)(II) AND ONE OR MORE OF THE CONDITIONS IN RULE 2.07.6(1)(G)(III)(A) THROUGH (D) EXISTS.**
- (B) **THE DIVISION WILL PROVIDE 60 DAYS NOTICE IF A DECISION IS PROPOSED TO SUSPEND A PERMIT.**
- (C) **THE DIVISION WILL PROVIDE 120 DAYS NOTICE IF A DECISION IS PROPOSED TO RESCIND A PERMIT.**
- (D) **IF THE PERMITTEE WISHES TO APPEAL THE NOTICE, HE/SHE MUST EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES UNDER RULE 2.07.4(3).**
- (E) **AFTER THE DIVISION SERVES A NOTICE OF PROPOSED SUSPENSION OR RESCISSION UNDER THIS RULE, ACTION WILL BE TAKEN UNDER RULE 2.07.8(3).**
- (F) **THE REGULATIONS FOR SERVICE AT RULE 5.03.4 WILL GOVERN SERVICE UNDER THIS SECTION.**
- (G) **THE TIMES SPECIFIED IN PARAGRAPHS (B) AND (C) OF THIS RULE WILL APPLY UNLESS THE PERMITTEE OBTAINS TEMPORARY RELIEF FROM THE BOARD PURSUANT TO RULE 2.07.4(3)(D).**
- (3) **SUSPENSION OR RESCISSION REQUIREMENTS FOR IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED PERMITS.**
- (A) **EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN PARAGRAPH (B) OF THIS RULE, THE DIVISION MUST SUSPEND OR RESCIND A PERMIT UPON EXPIRATION OF THE TIME SPECIFIED IN RULE 2.07.8(2)(B) OR (C) OF THESE RULES UNLESS THE PERMITTEE SUBMITS EVIDENCE AND THE DIVISION FINDS THAT:**
- (I) **THE VIOLATION HAS BEEN ABATED OR CORRECTED TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE AGENCY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE VIOLATION;**
- (II) **THE PERMITTEE OR OPERATOR NO LONGER OWN OR CONTROL THE RELEVANT OPERATION;**

- (iii) *THE DIVISION'S FINDING FOR SUSPENSION OR RESCISSION WAS IN ERROR;*
 - (iv) *THE VIOLATION IS THE SUBJECT OF A GOOD FAITH ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL APPEAL (UNLESS THERE IS AN INITIAL JUDICIAL DECISION AFFIRMING THE VIOLATION, AND THAT DECISION REMAINS IN FORCE);*
 - (v) *THE VIOLATION IS THE SUBJECT OF AN ABATEMENT PLAN OR PAYMENT SCHEDULE THAT IS BEING MET TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE AGENCY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE VIOLATION; OR*
 - (vi) *THE PERMITEE IS PURSUING A GOOD FAITH CHALLENGE OR ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL APPEAL OF THE RELEVANT OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING (UNLESS THERE IS AN INITIAL JUDICIAL DECISION AFFIRMING THE LISTING OR FINDING, AND THAT DECISION REMAINS IN FORCE).*
- (B) *IF THE PERMITEE HAS REQUESTED ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL REVIEW OF A NOTICE OF PROPOSED SUSPENSION OR RESCISSION UNDER RULE 2.07.8(2)(E), THE DIVISION WILL NOT SUSPEND OR RESCIND A PERMIT UNLESS AND UNTIL THE BOARD OR COURT AFFIRMS THE DIVISION'S FINDING THAT THE PERMIT WAS IMPROVIDENTLY ISSUED.*
- (C) *WHEN THE DIVISION SUSPENDS OR RESCINDS A PERMIT UNDER THIS SECTION, THE DIVISION MUST:*
- (i) *ISSUE THE PERMITEE A WRITTEN NOTICE REQUIRING THE PERMITEE TO CEASE ALL SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS UNDER THE PERMIT; AND*
 - (ii) *POST THE NOTICE AT THE DIVISION OFFICE.*
- (D) *IF THE DIVISION SUSPENDS OR RESCINDS A PERMIT UNDER THIS RULE, THE PERMITEE MAY REQUEST ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW OF THE NOTICE UNDER THE PROCEDURES AT RULE 2.07.4.*

2.07.9 POST-PERMIT ISSUANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DIVISION AND OTHER ACTIONS BASED ON OWNERSHIP, CONTROL, AND VIOLATION INFORMATION.

- (1) *FOR THE PURPOSES OF FUTURE PERMIT ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS, THE DIVISION MUST ENTER INTO AVS:*
- (A) *PERMIT RECORDS WITHIN 30 DAYS OF A PERMIT BEING ISSUED OR SUBSEQUENTLY CHANGED.*

- (B) *UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATIONS WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE EXPIRATION OF THE ABATEMENT OR CORRECTION PERIOD FOR THE VIOLATION.*
 - (C) *CHANGES TO INFORMATION INITIALLY REQUIRED TO BE PROVIDED BY THE APPLICANT UNDER RULE 2.03.4 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIVING NOTICE OF A CHANGE.*
 - (D) *CHANGES IN VIOLATION STATUS WITHIN 30 DAYS OF ABATEMENT, CORRECTION, OR TERMINATION OF A VIOLATION, OR A DECISION FROM AN ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL TRIBUNAL.*
- (2) *IF, AT ANY TIME, THE DIVISION DISCOVERS THAT ANY PERSON OWNS OR CONTROLS AN OPERATION WITH AN UNABATED OR UNCORRECTED VIOLATION, THE DIVISION WILL DETERMINE WHETHER ENFORCEMENT ACTION IS APPROPRIATE UNDER RULE 5.03.2, 5.05, OR 5.06. THE DIVISION MUST ENTER THE RESULTS OF EACH ENFORCEMENT ACTION, INCLUDING ADMINISTRATIVE AND JUDICIAL DECISIONS, INTO AVS.*
- (3) *THE DIVISION MUST SERVE A PRELIMINARY FINDING OF PERMANENT PERMIT INELIGIBILITY UNDER SECTION 114(3) OF THE ACT ON AN APPLICANT OR OPERATOR, IF THE CRITERIA IN PARAGRAPHS (3)(A) AND (3)(B) ARE MET. IN MAKING A FINDING UNDER THIS PARAGRAPH, THE DIVISION WILL ONLY CONSIDER CONTROL RELATIONSHIPS AND VIOLATIONS WHICH WOULD MAKE, OR WOULD HAVE MADE, THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR INELIGIBLE FOR A PERMIT UNDER RULES 2.07.6(1)(B)(I) AND (II) AND RULE 2.07.6(1)(C). THE DIVISION MUST MAKE A PRELIMINARY FINDING OF PERMANENT PERMIT INELIGIBILITY IF IT FINDS THAT:*
- (A) *THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR CONTROL OR HAVE CONTROLLED SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATIONS WITH A DEMONSTRATED PATTERN OF WILLFUL VIOLATIONS UNDER SECTION 114(3) OF THE ACT; AND*
 - (B) *THE VIOLATIONS ARE OF SUCH NATURE AND DURATION WITH SUCH RESULTING IRREPARABLE DAMAGE TO THE ENVIRONMENT AS TO INDICATE THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR'S INTENT NOT TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT, ITS IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS, THE REGULATORY PROGRAM, OR HIS/HER PERMIT.*
- (4) *THE APPLICANT OR OPERATOR MAY REQUEST A HEARING ON A PRELIMINARY FINDING OF PERMANENT PERMIT INELIGIBILITY UNDER RULE 2.07.4.*
- (5) *ENTRY INTO AVS.*
- (A) *IF NO REQUEST FOR A HEARING IS MADE, AND THE TIME FOR SEEKING A HEARING HAS EXPIRED, THE DIVISION WILL ENTER ITS FINDING INTO AVS.*

- (B) *IF A HEARING IS REQUESTED, THE DIVISION WILL ENTER ITS FINDING INTO AVS ONLY IF THAT FINDING IS UPHELD ON ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL.*
- (6) *AT ANY TIME, THE DIVISION MAY IDENTIFY ANY PERSON WHO OWNS OR CONTROLS A SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATION OR ANY RELEVANT PORTION OR ASPECT THEREOF. IF THE DIVISION IDENTIFIES SUCH A PERSON, THE DIVISION MUST ISSUE A WRITTEN PRELIMINARY FINDING TO THE PERSON AND THE APPLICANT OR PERMITTEE DESCRIBING THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL. THE DIVISION'S WRITTEN PRELIMINARY FINDING MUST BE BASED ON EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL.*
- (7) *AFTER THE DIVISION ISSUES A WRITTEN PRELIMINARY FINDING UNDER PARAGRAPH (6) OF THIS RULE, THE DIVISION WILL ALLOW THE PERSON SUBJECT TO THE PRELIMINARY FINDING 30 DAYS IN WHICH TO SUBMIT ANY INFORMATION TENDING TO DEMONSTRATE HIS/HER LACK OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL. IF AFTER REVIEWING ANY INFORMATION SUBMITTED, THE DIVISION IS PERSUADED THAT HE/SHE IS NOT AN OWNER OR CONTROLLER, THE DIVISION WILL SERVE THE PERSON A WRITTEN NOTICE TO THAT EFFECT. IF, AFTER REVIEWING ANY INFORMATION THE PERSON SUBMITS, THE DIVISION STILL FINDS THAT HE/SHE IS AN OWNER OR CONTROLLER, OR IF THE PERSON DOES NOT SUBMIT ANY INFORMATION WITHIN THE 30-DAY PERIOD, THE DIVISION WILL ISSUE A WRITTEN FINDING AND ENTER THAT FINDING INTO AVS.*
- (8) *IF THE DIVISION IDENTIFIES A PERSON AS AN OWNER OR CONTROLLER UNDER PARAGRAPH (7) OF THIS SECTION, HE/SHE MAY CHALLENGE THE FINDING USING THE PROVISIONS OF RULES 2.11.1, 2.11.2, AND 2.11.3.*

2.07.10 POST-PERMIT ISSUANCE INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS FOR PERMITTEES.

WITHIN 60 DAYS OF ANY ADDITION, DEPARTURE, OR CHANGE IN POSITION OF ANY PERSON IDENTIFIED IN RULE 2.03.4(3), THE PERMITTEE MUST PROVIDE:

- (1) *THE INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER RULE 2.03.4(4); AND*
- (2) *THE DATE OF ANY DEPARTURE.*

2.08 PERMIT REVIEW, REVISIONS AND RENEWALS AND TRANSFER, SALE AND ASSIGNMENT

2.08.1-2.08.3 ***

2.08.4 Revisions to a Permit

(1)-(4) ***

- (5) Application requirements. An application for all types of revisions ~~of~~ **to** a permit shall contain:

(a)-(d) ***

(6) ~~Hearing and notice requirements.~~ **REVIEW AND NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR REVISIONS TO A PERMIT**

(a) Permit revision. An application for a permit revision shall be subject to the ~~hearing and notice~~ requirements of **RULE 2.07**.

(b) Technical Revision.

(i) An applicant for a technical revision shall place an advertisement in a local newspaper pursuant to the requirements of **RULE 2.07.3(2)**, except that the publication need only be once and no reference to an informal conference shall be made. The applicant shall make a copy of his or her complete application for the public to inspect and copy. This shall be done by filing a copy of the application with the recorder at the courthouse of the county closest to the **SURFACE COAL MINING** operations, or if approved by the Division, at another equivalent public office, if it is determined that the office will be more accessible to local residents than the county courthouse. The public copy shall be filed at the same time as the advertisement. **THE DIVISION SHALL ISSUE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF THE COMPLETE TECHNICAL REVISION APPLICATION TO FEDERAL AND STATE AGENCIES AND VARIOUS LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL BODIES WITH JURISDICTION OVER OR AN INTEREST IN THE AREA OF THE PROPOSED OPERATIONS.**

(ii)-(iii) ***

(c) ***

2.08.5 Right of Successive Renewal

(1) (a) ***

(b) Permit renewal shall not be available for conducting surface coal mining and reclamation operations on lands beyond the boundaries of the permit area approved under the existing permit. **IF AN APPLICATION FOR RENEWAL INCLUDES ANY PROPOSED REVISIONS TO THE PERMIT, SUCH REVISIONS SHALL BE IDENTIFIED AND BE SUBJECT TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 2.08.4.**

(c) ***

(d) If the surface coal mining and reclamation operations authorized under the original permit were not subject to the standards contained in 34-33-114(2)(e)(I)(A) and (B) of the Act and 2.06.8,

because the permittee ~~complied~~ **COMPLIED** with the exception provided in 34-33-114(2)(e)(II) of the Act (for surface coal mining operations located within or adjacent to alluvial valley floors and producing coal in commercial quantities in the year proceeding August 3, 1977, or operations that had obtained permit approval to mine within said alluvial valley floors), the portion of the application for renewal of the permit which addresses any new land areas previously identified in the reclamation plan submitted for the original permit shall not be subject to the standards contained in 34-33-114(2)(e)(I)(A) and (B) of the Act and 2.06.8.

(2)-(3) ***

2.08.6 Transfer, Assignment or Sale of Permit Rights

(1)-(3) ***

(4) The Division may, upon the basis of the applicant's compliance with the requirements of 2.08.6(2) and 2.08.6(3); grant written approval for the transfer, sale, or assignment or rights under a permit, if it first finds, in writing, that:

(a) The person seeking approval is eligible to receive a permit in accordance with Rule 2.07.6(1)(b), ~~(eE)~~ and (2)~~(hG)~~;

(b)-(c) ***

(5)-(8) ***

2.09-2.10 ***

2.11 CHALLENGING OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTINGS AND FINDINGS

2.11.1 WHO MAY CHALLENGE OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTINGS AND FINDINGS.

AN ENTITY MAY CHALLENGE A LISTING OR FINDING OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL USING THE PROVISIONS UNDER RULES 2.11.2 AND 2.11.3 IF HE/SHE/IT IS:

- (1) LISTED IN A PERMIT APPLICATION OR IN AVS AS AN OWNER OR CONTROLLER OF AN ENTIRE SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION, OR ANY PORTION OR ASPECT THEREOF;**
- (2) FOUND TO BE AN OWNER OR CONTROLLER OF AN ENTIRE SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION, OR ANY PORTION OR ASPECT THEREOF, UNDER RULE 2.07.8(1) OR 2.07.9(7) OF THESE RULES; OR**
- (3) AN APPLICANT OR PERMITTEE AFFECTED BY AN OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING.**

2.11.2 HOW TO CHALLENGE AN OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING.

THIS SECTION APPLIES TO THOSE ENTITIES CHALLENGING AN OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING.

- (1) TO CHALLENGE AN OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING, THE CHALLENGER MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN EXPLANATION OF THE BASIS FOR THE CHALLENGE, ALONG WITH ANY EVIDENCE OR EXPLANATORY MATERIALS HE/SHE/IT WISHES TO PROVIDE UNDER RULE 2.11.3(2), TO THE DIVISION, AS FOLLOWS:**
 - (A) IF THE CHALLENGE CONCERNS A PENDING STATE OR FEDERAL PERMIT APPLICATION, THE CHALLENGER MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN EXPLANATION TO THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE APPLICATION.**
 - (B) IF THE CHALLENGE CONCERNS OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL OF A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION, AND THE CHALLENGER IS NOT CURRENTLY SEEKING A PERMIT, THEN A WRITTEN EXPLANATION MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION.**
- (2) THE PROVISIONS OF THIS RULE AND OF RULES 2.11.3 AND 2.11.4 APPLY ONLY TO CHALLENGES TO OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTINGS OR FINDINGS. THESE PROVISIONS MAY NOT BE USED TO CHALLENGE LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY UNDER ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THE ACT OR ITS IMPLEMENTING RULES AND REGULATIONS.**
- (3) WHEN THE CHALLENGE CONCERNS A VIOLATION UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF A DIFFERENT REGULATORY AUTHORITY, THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE PERMIT APPLICATION OR PERMIT MUST CONSULT THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY WITH JURISDICTION OVER THE VIOLATION AND THE AVS OFFICE TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.**
- (4) A REGULATORY AUTHORITY RESPONSIBLE FOR DECIDING A CHALLENGE UNDER PARAGRAPH (A) OF THIS SECTION MAY REQUEST AN INVESTIGATION BY THE AVS OFFICE.**
- (5) AT ANY TIME, A PERSON LISTED IN AVS AS AN OWNER OR CONTROLLER OF A SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION MAY REQUEST AN INFORMAL EXPLANATION FROM THE AVS OFFICE AS TO THE REASON HE/SHE IS SHOWN IN AVS IN AN OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL CAPACITY. WITHIN 14 DAYS OF THE REQUEST, THE AVS OFFICE WILL PROVIDE A RESPONSE DESCRIBING WHY HE/SHE IS LISTED IN AVS.**

2.11.3 BURDEN OF PROOF FOR OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL CHALLENGES.

THIS SECTION APPLIES TO CHALLENGERS OF AN OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTING OR FINDING.

- (1) WHEN CHALLENGING A LISTING OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL, OR A FINDING OF OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL MADE UNDER RULE 2.07.9(7), THE**

CHALLENGER MUST PROVE BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE THAT THE CHALLENGER EITHER:

- (A) DOES NOT OWN OR CONTROL THE ENTIRE OPERATION OR RELEVANT PORTION OR ASPECT THEREOF; OR
 - (B) DID NOT OWN OR CONTROL THE ENTIRE OPERATION OR RELEVANT PORTION OR ASPECT THEREOF DURING THE RELEVANT TIME PERIOD.
- (2) IN MEETING THE BURDEN OF PROOF, THE CHALLENGER MUST PRESENT RELIABLE, CREDIBLE, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND ANY EXPLANATORY MATERIALS TO THE DIVISION. THE MATERIALS PRESENTED IN CONNECTION WITH THE CHALLENGE WILL BECOME PART OF THE PERMIT FILE, AN INVESTIGATION FILE, OR ANOTHER PUBLIC FILE. IF REQUESTED, THE DIVISION WILL HOLD AS CONFIDENTIAL ANY INFORMATION SUBMITTED UNDER THIS PARAGRAPH WHICH IS NOT REQUIRED TO BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC UNDER RULES 2.07.5 AND 5.02.4.
- (3) MATERIALS THAT MAY BE SUBMITTED IN RESPONSE TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF PARAGRAPH (B) OF THIS RULE INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO:
- (A) NOTARIZED AFFIDAVITS CONTAINING SPECIFIC FACTS CONCERNING THE DUTIES THAT THE CHALLENGER PERFORMED FOR THE RELEVANT OPERATION, THE BEGINNING AND ENDING DATES OF HIS/HER OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL OF THE OPERATION, AND THE NATURE AND DETAILS OF ANY TRANSACTION CREATING OR SEVERING HIS/HER OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL OF THE OPERATION.
 - (B) CERTIFIED COPIES OF CORPORATE MINUTES, STOCK LEDGERS, CONTRACTS, PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENTS, LEASES, CORRESPONDENCE, OR OTHER RELEVANT COMPANY RECORDS.
 - (C) CERTIFIED COPIES OF DOCUMENTS FILED WITH OR ISSUED BY ANY STATE, MUNICIPAL, OR FEDERAL GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY.
 - (D) AN OPINION OF COUNSEL, WHEN SUPPORTED BY:
 - (i) EVIDENTIARY MATERIALS;
 - (ii) A STATEMENT BY COUNSEL THAT HE OR SHE IS QUALIFIED TO RENDER THE OPINION; AND
 - (iii) A STATEMENT THAT COUNSEL HAS PERSONALLY AND DILIGENTLY INVESTIGATED THE FACTS OF THE MATTER.

2.11.4 WRITTEN DECISION ON CHALLENGES TO OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL LISTINGS OR FINDINGS.

- (1) WITHIN 60 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF A CHALLENGE UNDER RULE 2.11.2(1), THE DIVISION WILL REVIEW AND INVESTIGATE THE EVIDENCE AND EXPLANATORY MATERIALS SUBMITTED AND ANY OTHER REASONABLY AVAILABLE

INFORMATION BEARING ON THE CHALLENGE AND ISSUE A WRITTEN DECISION. THE DECISION MUST STATE WHETHER THE CHALLENGER OWNS OR CONTROLS THE RELEVANT SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATION, OR OWNED OR CONTROLLED THE OPERATION, DURING THE RELEVANT TIME PERIOD.

- (2) THE DIVISION WILL PROMPTLY PROVIDE THE CHALLENGER WITH A COPY OF ITS DECISION BY EITHER:
 - (A) CERTIFIED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED; OR**
 - (B) ANY MEANS CONSISTENT WITH THE RULES GOVERNING SERVICE OF A SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT UNDER RULE 4 OF CHAPTER 1 OF THE COLORADO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.****
- (3) SERVICE OF THE DECISION IS COMPLETE UPON DELIVERY AND IS NOT INCOMPLETE IF THE CHALLENGER REFUSES TO ACCEPT DELIVERY.**
- (4) THE DIVISION WILL POST ALL DECISIONS MADE UNDER THIS SECTION ON AVS.**
- (5) ANY PERSON WHO RECEIVES A WRITTEN DECISION UNDER THIS SECTION, AND WHO WISHES TO APPEAL THAT DECISION, MAY DO SO AS SET FORTH IN RULE 2.07.4.**
- (6) FOLLOWING THE DIVISION'S WRITTEN DECISION OR ANY DECISION BY THE BOARD OR A REVIEWING ADMINISTRATIVE OR JUDICIAL TRIBUNAL, THE DIVISION MUST REVIEW THE INFORMATION IN AVS TO DETERMINE IF IT IS CONSISTENT WITH THE DECISION. IF IT IS NOT, THE DIVISION MUST PROMPTLY REVISE THE INFORMATION IN AVS TO REFLECT THE DECISION.**

RULE 3 PERFORMANCE BOND REQUIREMENTS

3.01-3.02 ***

3.03 RELEASE OF PERFORMANCE BONDS

3.03.1 ***

3.03.2 Procedures for Seeking Release of Performance Bond

- (1) Bond release application and contents.**

The permittee may file a request with the Division for the release of all or part of a performance bond pursuant to the criteria and schedule described in **RULE 3.03.1**. Prior to filing the request, the permittee shall send written notice of his intention to seek release from bond to adjoining property owners, surface owners, appropriate local government bodies, municipalities, regional planning commissions, boards of county commissioners, county planning agencies, sewage and water treatment authorities, and water conservancy and water conservation districts in the locality in which the surface coal mining operations took place **AND OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES AS DIRECTED BY THE DIVISION**.

Such a request shall include:

(a)-(e) ***

(2)-(6) ***

3.03.3 ***

3.04-3.06 ***

RULE 4 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

4.01-4.02 ***

4.03 ROADS

4.03.1 Haul Roads

(1) General Requirements.

(a)-(d) ***

~~(e) Alternatives to the design criteria and specifications of 4.03.1(3) may be utilized after approval by the Division upon a thorough analytical demonstration by a qualified registered professional engineer that such alternatives will be as environmentally sound as those resulting from haul roads complying with the requirements of 4.03.1(3) and that the alternatives meet such other criteria as are necessary to achieve reclamation in accordance with the requirements of this rule, taking into consideration physical, climatological and other characteristics of the site. Alternatives to the design criteria and specifications of 4.03.1(3)(e) may not be utilized unless, in addition to the referenced demonstration, appropriate engineering tests establish compliance with a minimum static safety factor of 1.3.~~

~~(E)~~ ***

(2) ***

(3) Design and Construction.

Haul roads not within the disturbed area in accordance with **RULE** 4.05.2(4) shall be designed and constructed or reconstructed in compliance with the following standards in order to control erosion and disturbance of the hydrologic balance:

(a) Vertical alignment. Maximum road grades shall be as follows, **EXCEPT THAT ALTERNATIVE DESIGN CRITERIA MAY BE UTILIZED AFTER**

DIVISION REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AN ANALYSIS BY A QUALIFIED REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER DEMONSTRATING THAT THE ALTERNATIVE DESIGN WILL MEET ACCEPTED INDUSTRY STANDARDS FOR SAFETY. THE ALTERNATIVE DESIGN CRITERIA MAY, AS APPROPRIATE, INCLUDE RESTRICTIONS RELATIVE TO MAINTENANCE AND USE UNDER ADVERSE WEATHER CONDITIONS:

- (i) The overall grade shall not be steeper than 10h:1v (10 percent).
 - (ii) Maximum pitch grade shall not be steeper than 6.5h:1v (15 percent).
 - (iii) There shall not be more than 300 feet of pitch grade exceeding 10 percent within any consecutive 1,000 feet, but in no case shall there be any pitch grade steeper than 6.5h:1v (15 percent).
- (b)-(d) ***
- (e) Road embankments.
- (i)-(v) ***
 - (vi) Where the material for an embankment consists of large-size rock, broken stone, or fragmented material that makes placing it in 12 inch layers impossible under ***RULE*** 4.03.1(3)(d)(v), the embankment shall be constructed in uniform layers not exceeding in thickness the approximate average size of the rock used, but the layers shall not exceed 36 inches, rock shall be placed in a manner that will ensure proper placement in the embankment, so that voids, pockets, and bridging will be reduced to a minimum. The final layer of the embankment shall meet the requirements of ***RULE*** 4.03.1(3)(~~d~~E)(v).
 - (vii) Each layer of the embankment shall be completed, leveled, and compacted before the succeeding layer is placed. Loads of material shall be leveled as placed and kept smooth. Embankment layers shall be compacted as necessary to ensure that the embankment is adequate to support the anticipated volume of traffic and weight and speed of vehicles to be used for the duration of the road. In selecting the method to be used for placing embankment material, consideration shall be given in the design to such factors as the foundation, geological structure, soils, type of construction and equipment to be used. If necessary to ensure stability structural and foundation analysis shall be performed to establish design standards for embankment stability appropriate to the site. The degree of compaction shall be determined on the

basis of soil type and the anticipated volume of traffic and weight and speed of vehicles to be used for the duration of the road. No lift shall be placed on a layer until the design density is achieved throughout the layer. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), specifications such as T-99, T-180, and the modified AASHTO test, 12th Edition, published July, 1978 or other comparable specifications approved by the Division may be used as guidelines for the determination of the maximum dry density for granular materials. Incorporation by reference of the above publication does not include future editions. Copies of the above specifications may be obtained by contacting the **DIVISION Director, Mined Land Reclamation Division,** 1313 Sherman Street, Room 215, Denver, Colorado 80203-2273.

(viii)-(xi) ***

(4)-(7) ***

4.03.2 Access Roads

(1) General Requirements.

(a)-(d) ***

~~(e) Alternatives to the design criteria and specifications of 4.03.2(3) may be utilized after approval by the Division upon a thorough analytical demonstration by a qualified registered professional engineer that such alternatives will be as environmentally sound as those resulting from access roads complying with the requirements of 4.03.2(3) and that the alternatives meet such other criteria as are necessary to achieve reclamation in accordance with the requirements of this Rule, taking into consideration the physical, climatological, and other characteristics of the site. Alternatives to the design criteria and specifications of 4.03.2(3)(e) may not be utilized unless, in addition to the referenced demonstration, appropriate engineering tests establish compliance with a minimum static safety factor of 1.3.~~

(fE) (i) The construction or reconstruction of access roads not within the disturbed area in accordance with 4.05.2(4) shall be certified in a report to the Division by a qualified registered professional engineer, except as provided for in Rule 4.03.2(1)(fE)(ii). The certification report shall be submitted to the Division upon completion of any construction or reconstruction and shall indicate that the

road has been constructed or reconstructed as designed and in accordance with the approved plan.

(ii) ***

(9F) ***

(2) ***

(3) Design and Construction.

Access roads not within the disturbed area in accordance with **RULE** 4.05.2(4) shall be designed and constructed or reconstructed in compliance with the following standards in order to control erosion and disturbance of the hydrologic balance:

(a) Vertical alignment. A continuous grade with excessive cuts or embankments shall be avoided. Changes of grade shall be made to conform as closely as possible to the existing terrain, and maximum road grades shall be as follows, **EXCEPT THAT ALTERNATIVE DESIGN CRITERIA MAY BE UTILIZED AFTER DIVISION REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AN ANALYSIS BY A QUALIFIED REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER DEMONSTRATING THAT THE ALTERNATIVE DESIGN WILL MEET ACCEPTED INDUSTRY STANDARDS FOR SAFETY. THE ALTERNATIVE DESIGN CRITERIA MAY, AS APPROPRIATE, INCLUDE RESTRICTIONS RELATIVE TO MAINTENANCE AND USE UNDER ADVERSE WEATHER CONDITIONS:**

(i) The overall grade shall not be steeper than 10h:1v (10 percent).

(ii) The pitch grade shall not be steeper than 6.5h:1v (15 percent), for any consecutive 1,000 feet.

(iii) The pitch grade exceeding 15 percent shall not be longer than 300 feet within any consecutive 1,000 feet.

(b)-(d) ***

(e) Road embankments.

(i)-(iv) ***

(v) Where the material for an embankment consists of large-size rock, broken stone, or fragmented material that makes placing in 12-inch layers impossible under **RULE** 4.03.2(3)(d)(iv), the embankment shall be constructed in uniform layers not exceeding in thickness the approximate average size of the rock used, but the layers shall not exceed 36 inches in thickness. Rock shall be placed in a manner that will ensure proper placement in the

embankment, so that voids, pockets, and bridging will be reduced to a minimum. The final layer of the embankment shall meet the requirements of **RULE 4.03.2(3)(dE)**(iv).

(vi)-(xi) ***

(4)-(7) ***

4.03.3 Light-Use Roads.

(1)-(2) ***

(3) Design and construction.

Field-design methods may be utilized for light-use roads.

(a) Vertical Alignment. Except for pre-existing roads, roads within the disturbed area in accordance with 4.05.2(4), or where lesser grades are necessary to control site-specific conditions as approved by the Division maximum road grades shall be as follows, **EXCEPT THAT ALTERNATIVE DESIGN CRITERIA MAY BE UTILIZED AFTER DIVISION REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AN ANALYSIS BY A QUALIFIED REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER DEMONSTRATING THAT THE ALTERNATIVE DESIGN WILL MEET ACCEPTED INDUSTRY STANDARDS FOR SAFETY. THE ALTERNATIVE DESIGN CRITERIA MAY, AS APPROPRIATE, INCLUDE RESTRICTIONS RELATIVE TO MAINTENANCE AND USE UNDER ADVERSE WEATHER CONDITIONS:**

- (i) The overall grade shall not be steeper than 10h:1v (10 percent).
- (ii) The pitch grade shall not be steeper than 5h:1v (20 percent) for any consecutive 1,000 feet.
- (iii) The pitch grade exceeding 20 percent shall not be longer than 300 feet within any consecutive 1,000 feet.

(b)-(g) ***

(4)-(7) ***

4.04 ***

4.05 HYDROLOGIC BALANCE

4.05.1-4.05.2 ***

4.05.3 Diversions and Conveyance of Overland Flow and Shallow Ground Water Flow, and Ephemeral Streams Draining a Watershed Less Than One Square Mile

(1)-(5) ***

- (6) When no longer needed, each temporary diversion shall be removed and the affected land regraded, topsoiled and revegetated in accordance with 4.06, 4.14, and 4.15. Before diversions are removed, downstream treatment facilities previously protected by the diversion shall be modified or removed, as necessary, to prevent overtopping or failure of the facilities. Removal of any sedimentation pond will be accomplished in accordance with **RULE 4.05.6(~~4.27~~)**. If the temporary diversion were for an ephemeral stream, the channel shall be reestablished to functionally blend with the undisturbed drainage above and below the area to be reclaimed.

(7) ***

4.05.4-4.05.8 ***

4.05.9 Impoundments

(1) ***

- (2) All impoundment spillway systems shall provide for either a combination of principal and emergency spillways, or a single spillway configured as required by 4.05.9(2)(a), designed to safely pass the applicable design precipitation event specified in 4.05.9(2)(c), plus inflow from any underground mine water or water pumped from the pit. Appropriate barriers shall be provided to control piping along conduits that extend through the embankment, unless otherwise approved by the Division. Emergency spillway grades and allowable velocities shall be approved by the Division. Impoundment spillways shall meet the following requirements, as applicable.

(a)-(c) ***

- (d) Impoundments meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in the U.S. Department of Agriculture, **Soil NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October, 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), shall comply with the "Minimum Emergency Spillway Hydrologic Criteria" table in TR60, or greater event as specified by the Division. TR60 is hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).
- (e) The Division may approve a temporary impoundment that relies primarily on storage to control the runoff from the design event specified in 4.05.9(2)(c), when it is demonstrated by the operator and certified by a qualified registered professional engineer, that the temporary impoundment will safely control the design precipitation event, the water from which shall be safely removed

in accordance with current, prudent, engineering practices. Such an impoundment shall be located where failure would not be expected to cause loss of life or serious property damage, except where:

- (i) In the case of a temporary impoundment that meets the size or other criteria of 4.05.9(4), or meets the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October, 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), it is designed to control the probable maximum precipitation of a 24-hour event, or greater event specified by the Division, for good cause shown. TR60 is hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9); or,
 - (ii) ***
- (3) ***
- (4) Where an impoundment meets the size or other criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a) (has an embankment that is greater than 20 feet in height, as measured from the upstream toe of the embankment to the crest of the emergency spillway; or has an embankment that is greater than 5 feet and has a storage volume of 20 acre feet or more; or any impounding structures determined by the District Manager of MSHA to present a hazard to coal miners), then the permittee shall meet the criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a). 30 CFR 77.216(a) is hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(~~a~~9).
- (5) ***
- (6) All impoundment embankments, foundations and abutments shall be stable during all phases of construction and operation and shall be designed based on accurate information on the foundation conditions. For impoundments meeting the size or other criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a), or meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60), October 1985, "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR-60), or having embankments in excess of 10 feet in vertical height measured from the bottom of the channel to the bottom of the spillway at the centerline of the dam, or a surface area of 20 acres, a foundation investigation, and any necessary laboratory testing of foundation material, shall be performed to determine the design requirements for foundation stability. 30 CFR 77.216(a) and TR60 are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).

- (7) ***
- (8) (a) Any impoundment meeting the size or other criteria of 30 CFR 77.216(a), or meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October, 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), or located where failure would be expected to cause loss of life or serious property damage shall have a minimum safety factor of 1.5 for a normal pool with steady state seepage saturation conditions, and a seismic safety factor of at least 1.2, or a higher safety factor as designated by the Division to ensure stability. 30 CFR 77.216(a) and TR60 are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).
- (b) ***
- (9) ***
- (10) All impoundments shall be designed, constructed, and maintained with adequate freeboard to prevent overtopping by waves or by sudden increases in volume. Impoundments meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October, 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), shall comply with the freeboard hydrograph criteria in the "Minimum Emergency Spillway Hydrologic Criteria" in TR60. TR60 is hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).
- (11)-(20) ***
- (21) For an impoundment meeting the size or the other criteria of 4.05.9(4), or meeting the Class B or Class C criteria for dams in U.S. Department of Agriculture, ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service Technical Release No. 60 (210-VI-TR60, October, 1985), "Earth Dams and Reservoirs" (TR60), the examination shall also be in accordance with 30 CFR 77.216-3. The examination report shall be maintained at or near the mine site. TR60 and 30 CFR 77.216-3 are hereby incorporated by reference, and can be viewed and copies can be obtained at the Division as set forth in Rule 1.01(9).

4.05.10-4.05.12 ***

4.05.13 Surface and Ground Water Monitoring

- (1) Ground Water.

- (a) Ground water levels, infiltration rates, subsurface flow and storage characteristics, and the quality of ground water shall be monitored in a manner approved by the Division, including, but not limited to, specific points of compliance, after consultation with the Division of Water Resources, to determine:

- (i)-(iii) ***

- (b)-(e) ***

- (2)-(4) ***

4.05.14 ***

4.05.15 Water Rights and Replacement

- (1) Any person who conducts surface or underground mining activities shall replace the water supply of any owner of a vested water right which is proximately injured as a result of the mining activities in a manner consistent with applicable State law, **AND AS DESCRIBED IN RULE 2.04.7(3).**
- (2) **ANY PERSON WHO CONDUCTS SURFACE OR UNDERGROUND COAL MINING ACTIVITIES SHALL PROMPTLY REPLACE, AS DEFINED IN RULE 1.04(110.1), ANY DRINKING, DOMESTIC, OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY, AS DEFINED IN RULE 1.04(39.1), THAT IS CONTAMINATED, DIMINISHED, OR INTERRUPTED BY MINING ACTIVITIES. THE BASELINE INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULES 2.04.5, 2.04.6, AND 2.04.7, AND THE INFORMATION REQUIRED BY RULE 2.05.6(3) SHALL BE USED TO DETERMINE THE IMPACT OF MINING ACTIVITIES UPON THE WATER SUPPLY. NOTHING IN THIS RULE SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO PROHIBIT OR INTERRUPT UNDERGROUND COAL MINING OPERATIONS.**

4.05.16-4.05.18 ***

4.06 TOPSOIL

4.06.1-4.06.3 ***

4.06.4 Redistribution

- (1) ***
- (2) Topsoil and other materials shall be redistributed in a manner that:
 - (a) Achieves an approximate~~LY~~ uniform, stable thickness **WHEN** consistent with **THE** approved postmining land uses, contours, **AND** surface water drainage systems ~~and requirements of the vegetation proposed to be established~~. **SOIL THICKNESS MAY ALSO BE VARIED TO THE EXTENT SUCH VARIATIONS HELP MEET THE SPECIFIC REVEGETATION GOALS IDENTIFIED IN THE PERMIT APPLICATION. PERMIT APPLICATIONS SHALL DESCRIBE A RANGE IN REPLACEMENT THICKNESS FOR DEFINED AREAS OF THE RECLAIMED**

LANDSCAPE, BASED ON THE PERTINENT LAND USE, TOPOGRAPHY, DRAINAGE SYSTEM, AND REVEGETATION FACTORS AND OBJECTIVES;

- (b) Prevents excess compaction and contamination of topsoil and spoil or subsoil;
- (c) Minimizes deterioration of the biological, chemical, and physical properties of the topsoil; and
- (d) Protects the topsoil from wind and water erosion during redistribution and before and after it is seeded and planted.

(3) FINAL SURFACE OR SEEDBED PREPARATION OF TOPSOIL SHALL BE DONE ALONG THE CONTOUR TO MINIMIZE SUBSEQUENT EROSION AND INSTABILITY. IF SUCH PREPARATION OF TOPSOIL ALONG THE CONTOUR IS HAZARDOUS TO EQUIPMENT OPERATORS, THEN PREPARATION IN A DIRECTION OTHER THAN PARALLEL TO THE CONTOUR MAY BE USED.

4.06.5 ***

4.07 SEALING OF DRILLED HOLES AND UNDERGROUND OPENINGS

4.07.1-4.07.2 ***

4.07.3 Permanent Sealing

When no longer needed for its intended use and upon a finding by the Division of no adverse environmental or health and safety effect, each exploration hole, other drilled hole or borehole, wells, or other exposed underground opening including but not limited to shaft, drift, adit, tunnel, or entryway shall be capped, sealed, backfilled, or otherwise properly managed, as ~~required by the Division and consistent with 30 CFR 75.4744~~, **FOLLOWS:**

(1) SHAFTS, DRIFTS, ADITS, TUNNELS, OR MINE ENTRYWAYS

Permanent closure measures shall be designed to prevent access to the mine workings by people, livestock, fish and wildlife, machinery and to keep acid or other toxic drainage from entering ground or surface waters. **CLOSURE CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE CERTIFIED BY A QUALIFIED REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER. THE CERTIFICATION REPORT SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO THE DIVISION UPON COMPLETION OF ANY CONSTRUCTION AND SHALL INDICATE THAT THE CLOSURE HAS BEEN COMPLETED AS DESIGNED AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPROVED PLAN AND THIS RULE.**

- (A) SHAFT OPENINGS SHALL BE EFFECTIVELY CAPPED OR FILLED. FILLING SHALL BE FOR THE ENTIRE LENGTH OF THE SHAFT AND, FOR THE FIRST FIFTY (50) FEET FROM THE BOTTOM OF THE COALBED, THE FILL SHALL CONSIST OF INCOMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL. CAPS CONSISTING OF A SIX (6) INCH THICK CONCRETE CAP OR OTHER EQUIVALENT MEANS MAY BE USED FOR SEALING. CAPS SHALL BE EQUIPPED WITH A VENT PIPE AT LEAST TWO (2) INCHES IN DIAMETER**

EXTENDING FOR A DISTANCE OF AT LEAST FIFTEEN (15) FEET ABOVE THE SURFACE OF THE SHAFT.

(B) SLOPE OR DRIFT OPENINGS SHALL BE SEALED WITH EITHER:

(I) A BULKHEAD SEAL CONSISTING OF SOLID, SUBSTANTIAL, INCOMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL, SUCH AS CONCRETE BLOCKS, BRICKS OR TILE PLACED A DISTANCE OF AT LEAST TWENTY-FIVE (25) FEET INTO THE OPENING; AND COMPLETE BACKFILL WITH INCOMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL FROM THE BULKHEAD SEAL TO THE ROOF EDGE OF THE OPENING WITH NO SPACES BETWEEN THE TOP OF THE FILL AND THE ROOF OF THE ADIT THAT EXCEED THREE (3) INCHES, AND NO SPACE BETWEEN THE TOP OF THE FILL AND THE ROOF OF THE ADIT AT THE ENTRANCE OF THE ADIT; OR

(II) COMPLETE BACKFILL, WITH INCOMBUSTIBLE MATERIAL FROM TWENTY-FIVE (25) FEET INTO THE OPENING TO THE ROOF EDGE OF THE OPENING,

(A) WITH NO SPACES BETWEEN THE TOP OF THE FILL AND THE ROOF OF THE ADIT THAT EXCEED THREE (3) INCHES AND NO SPACE BETWEEN THE TOP OF THE FILL AND THE ROOF OF THE ADIT AT THE ENTRANCE OF THE ADIT, AND

(B) THE INNERMOST THREE (3) FEET OF THE BACKFILL CONSISTING ENTIRELY OF ROCK WITH A MINIMUM TWO (2) FEET IN DIAMETER.

(2) EXPLORATION HOLES, DRILL HOLES, BOREHOLES, OR WELLS

(A) Exploration holes, drill holes or boreholes, wells or other exposed underground openings not completed to aquifers shall be sealed by replacing cuttings or other suitable media in the hole and placing a suitable plug 10 feet below the ground surface to support a cement plug or other media approved by the Division to within 3 feet of the ground surface. Sealing by a surface plug only may be approved by the Division on a case by case basis where both physical and chemical properties of the formation allow. The hole will be marked.

(B) Exploration holes, drill holes or boreholes, wells, or other underground openings completed in aquifers shall be sealed using cement or other suitable sealant by placing the sealant in the hole from the bottom to within 10 feet of the surface. Holes which have multiple aquifers or bedrock aquifers not exhibiting artesian flow at the surface may be sealed using a solid cement plug or other suitable media approved by the Division extending 20 feet above and below the water bearing zone. A surface plug shall be placed in accordance with 4.07.3**(A)** and the hole shall be marked.

~~(c)~~(c) Proof of compliance. Within 60 days after abandoning a drill hole, specific drilling program approved by the Division, or when requested by the Division, the operator shall submit a report detailing the following information:

- (a) Location of the drill hole as spotted accurately on a topographic map;
- (b) Depth of drill hole;
- (c) Surface elevation of drill hole;
- (d) Intervals where water was encountered during drilling activities;
- (e) Diameter of drill hole;
- (f) Type of cement or other approved sealant used;
- (g) Amount of cement and volume of slurry mixture or other sealant used in plugging drill hole;
- (h) Name of drilling contractor and license number of drill and rig; and
- (i) How the hole was worked.

4.07.4 ***

4.08 USE OF EXPLOSIVES

4.08.1 General Requirements

(1)-(3) ***

(4) (a) An anticipated blast design, prepared and signed by a certified blaster, shall be submitted, either as part of a permit application or at a time before the blast approved by the Division, if blasting operations will be conducted within:

(i) 1,000 feet of any ~~building used as a~~ **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, public building, school, church or community or institutional building outside the permit area; or

(ii) ***

(b)-(c) ***

4.08.2 Pre-blasting Survey

- (1) At least 30 days before initiation of blasting, the operator shall provide written notification to all residents or owners of **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwellings or other structures located within one-half mile of the permit area which explains how to request a preblasting survey. Upon request to the Division by a resident or owner of a **N OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling or structure that is located within one-half mile of any part of the permit area for surface mining activities, or in the case of surface blasting activities incident to underground mining activities, within one-half mile of such blasting activity, the person who conducts surface or underground mining activities shall promptly conduct a pre-blasting survey of the **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling or structure and promptly submit a report of the survey to the Division and to the person requesting the survey. If a structure is renovated or added to, subsequent to a pre-blasting survey, then upon request to the Division a survey of such additions and renovations shall be performed in accordance with **RULE 4.08.2**.
- (2) The survey shall determine the condition of the **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling or structure and document any pre-blasting damage and other physical factors that could reasonably be affected by the blasting. Assessments of structures such as pipes, cables, transmission lines, and wells and other water systems shall be limited to surface conditions and readily available data. Special attention shall be given to the pre-blasting condition of well and other water systems used for human, animal, or agricultural purposes and to the quantity and quality of the water.
- (3) ***

4.08.3 ***

4.08.4 Surface Blasting Requirements

- (1)-(3) ***
- (4) A resident or owner of a **N OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling or structure that is located within one-half mile of any area affected by surface blasting activities shall be notified no less than 24 hours prior to any surface blasting. ~~or less frequently as each resident occupant in such areas shall approve in writing to the Division~~ **NOTIFICATION MAY BE PROVIDED LESS FREQUENTLY IF APPROVED IN WRITING BY SAID RESIDENT OR OWNER.**
- (5) ***
- (6) (a) Airblast shall be controlled so that it does not exceed the values specified below at any **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, public building, school, church, or community or institutional structure, outside the permit area, unless such structure is owned by the person who conducts the surface coal mining operations and is not leased to any other person. If a building owned by the person conducting surface coal mining operations is leased to another

person, the lessee may sign a waiver relieving the operator from meeting the airblast limitations of 4.08.4(6)(a).

Lower Frequency Limit of Measuring System, Hz (3dB)	Maximum Level in dB
0.1 Hz or lower – flat response ¹	134 peak
2 Hz or lower -- flat response	133 peak
6 Hz or lower -- flat response	129 peak
C-weighted, slow response.....	105 C

¹ Only when approved by the Division

- (b) ***
- (c) ***
- (7) Except where lesser distances are approved by the Division, based upon a pre-blasting survey, seismic investigation, or other appropriate investigation, blasting shall not be conducted within:
 - (a) 1,000 feet of any ~~building used as a~~ **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, school, church, hospital, or nursing facility; and
 - (b) ***
- (8) Flyrock, including blasted material traveling along the ground, shall not be cast from the blasting vicinity more than half the distance to the nearest **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling or other occupied structure, **BEYOND THE TOPSOIL STRIPPING LIMIT RESULTING IN LOSS OF RESOURCE**, and in no case beyond the line of property owned or leased by the permittee, or beyond the area of regulated access required under **RULE** 4.08.4(5).
- (9) ***
- (10) Except as provided in **RULE** 4.08.4(10)(b), the maximum peak particle velocity in blasting operations shall not exceed the following limits at the location of any **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, public building, school, church, or community or institutional building, outside the permit area:

Distance (D) from the Blasting Site (in feet)	Maximum Allowable Peak Particle Velocity (V max) for Ground Vibration (in inches/second†)	Scaled-Distance Factor to be Applied without Seismic Monitoring (Ds‡)
0 to 300	1.25	50
301 to 5000	1.00	55
5001 and beyond	0.75	65

† Ground velocity shall be measured as the particle velocity. Peak particle velocities shall be recorded in three mutually perpendicular directions from the blasting site. The maximum peak particle velocity shall be the largest of any of the three measurements.

‡ Applicable to the scaled-distance equation of **paragraph RULE 4.08.4(10)(c)(i)**

(a)-(b) ***

(c) (i) If blasting is conducted in accordance with the following equation, the peak particle velocity shall be deemed to be within the limit. The maximum weight of explosives to be detonated within any 8-millisecond period may be determined by the formula $W = (D/D_s)^2$ where W = the maximum weight of explosives, in pounds, that can be detonated in any 8-millisecond period; D = the distance, in feet, from the blast to the nearest **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, school, church, or community or institutional building; and D_s = the scaled-distance factor, using the values listed in the table in **paragraph RULE 4.08.4(10)**.

(ii) ***

4.08.5 Records of Blasting for Surface Coal Mining Operations

A record of each blast, including seismograph reports, shall be retained for at least 3 years and shall be available for inspection by the Division and by the public on request. The record shall contain the following data:

(1)-(3) ***

(4) Identification, direction and distance, in feet, from the nearest blast hole to the nearest **OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL** dwelling, school, church, or community or institutional building either:

(a)-(b)***

(5)-(18)***

4.08.6 ***

4.09 DISPOSAL OF EXCESS SPOIL

4.09.1 General Requirements.

(1)-(11) ***

(12) Coal mine wastes may only be disposed of in excess spoil fills; if such waste is:

(a)-(c) ***

4.09.2 ***

4.09.3 Head of Hollow Fill

Disposal of spoil in the head-of-hollow fill shall meet all the standards set forth in **RULES** 4.09.1 and 4.09.2 and the additional requirements of **RULE** 4.09.3.

- (1) The fill shall be designed to completely fill the disposal site to the approximate elevation of the ridgeline. A rock-core chimney drain may be utilized instead of the subdrain and surface diversion system required for valley ~~4.09.2(v)(iii)~~ fills. If the crest of the fill is not approximately at the same elevation as the low point of the adjacent ridgeline, the fill must be designed as specified in 4.09.2 with diversion of runoff around the fill. A fill associated with contour mining and placed at or near the coal seam, and which does not exceed 250,000 cubic yards may use the rock core chimney drain.

(2)-(3) ***

4.09.4 ***

4.10 COAL MINE WASTE BANKS

4.10.1 ***

4.10.2 Site Inspection

- (1) All coal mine waste banks shall be inspected, on behalf of the person conducting surface coal mining operations, by a qualified registered engineer, or other qualified professional specialist under the direction of the professional engineer, experienced in construction of similar earth and waste structures, ~~approved by the Division.~~
- (2) Inspection of coal mine waste banks shall be performed in accordance with rule 4.09.1(11), and the following additional requirements:
 - (a) Inspection shall occur at least quarterly, beginning within 7 days after the preparation of the disposal area begins. The Division may require more frequent inspection based upon an evaluation of the potential danger to the health or safety of the public and the potential harm to land, air and water resources. Inspections may terminate when the coal mine waste bank has been graded, covered in accordance with **RULE** 4.10.4(~~45~~), topsoil has been distributed on the bank in accordance with **RULE** 4.06.4, and revegetated, or at such a later time as the Division may require.

(b)-(d) ***

(3) ***

4.10.3 ***

4.10.4 Construction Requirements

(1) Coal mine waste banks shall be constructed in compliance with **RULE** 4.09.1 and **RULE** 4.09.2, except to the extent that the requirements of those **RULES Subsections** are varied in **RULE** 4.10.4.

(2)-(3) ***

(a) ***

(b) Compacted to attain 90 percent of the maximum dry density to prevent spontaneous combustion and to provide the strength required for stability of the coal mine waste bank. Dry densities shall be determined in accordance with the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Specifications T99-74 (Twelfth Edition)(July 1978) or an equivalent method. AASHTO T99-74 is hereby incorporated by reference as it exists on the date of adoption of **RULE** 4.10. This publication is on file and available for inspection at the office of the Division; and

(c) ***

(4) In no case shall the slope of a terrace on a coal mine waste bank be steeper than 2h:1v (50 percent).

(5) Following grading of the coal mine waste bank, the site shall be covered with a minimum of 4 feet of the best available non-toxic and non-combustible material, in accordance with **RULE** ~~4.06.2~~ **14.3**, and in a manner that does not impede flow from subdrainage systems. The coal mine waste bank shall be revegetated in accordance with **RULE** 4.15. The Division may allow less than 4 feet of cover material based on physical and chemical analyses which show that the requirements of **RULE** 4.15 will be met.

4.11 COAL MINE WASTE

4.11.1-4.11.2 ***

4.11.3 Return to Underground Workings

Coal mine waste may be returned to underground mine workings only in accordance with the waste disposal program approved by the Division and Mine Safety and Health Administration under **RULE** 2.05.3(9).

4.11.4 ***

4.11.5 Dams and Embankments.

(1)-(2) ***

(3) Design and Construction.

(a) The design of each dam and embankment constructed of coal mine waste or intended to impound such waste shall comply with the requirements of 4.05.9 modified as follows:

(i) The design freeboard between the lowest point on the embankment crest and the maximum water elevation shall be at least 3 feet. The maximum water elevation shall be that determined by the freeboard hydrograph criteria contained in the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service criteria referenced in 4.05.9;

(ii)-(iii) ***

(b)-(d) ***

4.12-4.13 ***

4.14 BACKFILLING AND GRADING

4.14.1 ***

4.14.2 General Grading Requirements

(1)-(4) ***

(5) Grading, preparation, or placement of material shall be conducted in a manner which minimizes erosion and slippage and provides a surface for the replacement of topsoil. ~~Final surface or seedbed preparation of topsoil shall be done along the contour to minimize subsequent erosion and instability. If such preparation of topsoil along the contour is hazardous to equipment operators, then preparation in a direction other than parallel to the contour may be used.~~

4.14.3 ***

4.14.4 Thin Overburden

(1) The provisions of **RULE** 4.14.4 apply only where **THERE IS INSUFFICIENT SPOIL AND OTHER WASTE MATERIALS AVAILABLE FROM THE AREA DISTURBED BY SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS TO RESTORE THE DISTURBED AREA TO ITS APPROXIMATE ORIGINAL CONTOUR. INSUFFICIENT SPOIL AND OTHER WASTE MATERIALS OCCUR WHERE THE OVERBURDEN THICKNESS TIMES THE SWELL FACTOR, PLUS THE THICKNESS OF OTHER AVAILABLE WASTE**

MATERIALS, IS LESS THAN THE COMBINED THICKNESS OF THE OVERBURDEN AND COAL BED PRIOR TO REMOVING THE COAL, SO THAT AFTER BACKFILLING AND GRADING THE SURFACE CONFIGURATION OF THE RECLAIMED AREA WOULD NOT:

- (A) CLOSELY RESEMBLE THE SURFACE CONFIGURATION OF THE LAND PRIOR TO MINING; OR
- (B) BLEND INTO AND COMPLEMENT THE DRAINAGE PATTERN OF THE SURROUNDING TERRAIN.

~~the final volume is less than 0.8 of the initial volume. Initial volume is the sum of overburden volume and coal volume prior to removal of coal. Final volume is the product of the overburden volume prior to the removal of coal, times the bulking factor to be determined for each permit area.~~ These provisions of **RULE** 4.14.4 apply only when surface mining activities cannot be carried out to comply with **RULE** 4.14.1 to achieve the approximate original contour.

(2) ***

4.14.5 Thick Overburden

- (1) The provisions of **RULE** 4.14.5 apply only where **THERE IS MORE THAN SUFFICIENT SPOIL AND OTHER WASTE MATERIALS AVAILABLE FROM THE AREA DISTURBED BY SURFACE COAL MINING OPERATIONS TO RESTORE THE DISTURBED AREA TO ITS APPROXIMATE ORIGINAL CONTOUR. MORE THAN SUFFICIENT SPOIL AND OTHER WASTE MATERIALS OCCUR WHERE THE OVERBURDEN THICKNESS TIMES THE SWELL FACTOR EXCEEDS THE COMBINED THICKNESS OF THE OVERBURDEN AND COAL BED PRIOR TO REMOVING THE COAL, SO THAT AFTER BACKFILLING AND GRADING THE SURFACE CONFIGURATION OF THE RECLAIMED AREA WOULD NOT:**

- (A) CLOSELY RESEMBLE THE SURFACE CONFIGURATION OF THE LAND PRIOR TO MINING; OR
- (B) BLEND INTO AND COMPLEMENT THE DRAINAGE PATTERN OF THE SURROUNDING TERRAIN.

~~the final volume is greater than 1.2 of the initial volumes. Initial volume is the sum of overburden volume and coal volume prior to removal of coal. Final volume is the product of the overburden volume prior to the removal of coal, times the bulking factor to be determined for each permit area.~~ The provisions of **RULE** 4.14.5 apply only when surface mining activities cannot be carried out to comply with **RULE** 4.14.1 to achieve the approximate original contour.

(2) ***

4.14.6 ***

4.15 REVEGETATION

4.15.1 General Requirements.

- (1) ***
- (2) All revegetation shall be in compliance with the plans submitted under 2.05.3 and 2.05.4, as approved by the Division in the permit, and carried out in a manner that encourages the prompt establishment of vegetation cover and recovery of productivity levels compatible with the approved postmining land use.
 - (a) ***
 - (b) The vegetation cover shall be capable of stabilizing the soil surface to achieve erosion control equal to **OR GREATER THAN** premining levels.
 - (c)-(d) ***
- (3)-(5) ***

4.15.2-4.15.6 ***

4.15.7 Determining Revegetation Success: General Requirements and Standards

- (1) ***
- (2) The plan for revegetation required as part of a permit application in 2.05.4(2)(e) includes a description of measures proposed to be used to determine the success of revegetation. Such description shall, at a minimum, contain the following information:
 - (a)-(c) ***
 - (d) A discussion of the comparisons to be made between the reclaimed and undisturbed areas in order to demonstrate that the success criteria in **RULES** 4.15.8, 4.15.9 or 4.15.10 have been met. Upon approval of the Division, such comparisons of vegetative cover and herbaceous productivity, woody plant density, species diversity, seasonal variety or other applicable parameters shall be based on one or more of the following:
 - (i) ***
 - (ii) Standards of vegetative cover or herbaceous productivity, or other applicable parameters, established by reference to technical documents of the United States Department of Agriculture, United States Department of Interior, or other authorities. These documents must be approved by the Division **and the Director**;

(iii)-(vi)***

(3)-(4) ***

- (5) The liability period under the performance bond requirements of 3.02.3 begins after the last year of augmented seeding, fertilization, irrigation or other work. The liability period shall continue for not less than either five (5) or ten (10) years, as appropriate, as described in 3.02.3. ~~The revegetation success criteria as defined in relevant subsections of 4.16, shall be met for at least two of the last four years of the liability period. Sampling for final revegetation success shall not be initiated prior to year nine (9) of the liability period.~~

FOR GRAZINGLAND, PASTURELAND, OR CROPLAND, APPLICABLE REVEGETATION SUCCESS STANDARDS SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING THE GROWING SEASON OF ANY TWO YEARS FOLLOWING YEAR SIX, WHERE THE MINIMUM TEN YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3; BUT BOND RELEASE CANNOT BE APPROVED PRIOR TO YEAR TEN. SUCH STANDARDS SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING ANY TWO GROWING SEASONS EXCEPT THE FIRST YEAR OF THE LIABILITY PERIOD, WHERE THE MINIMUM FIVE YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3.

FOR AREAS APPROVED FOR FORESTRY, RECREATION, WILDLIFE HABITAT, OR UNDEVELOPED LAND POSTMINING LAND USE, APPLICABLE SUCCESS STANDARDS SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING ANY GROWING SEASON AFTER YEAR NINE OF THE LIABILITY PERIOD, WHERE THE MINIMUM TEN YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES. SUCH STANDARDS SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING ANY TWO GROWING SEASONS EXCEPT THE FIRST YEAR OF THE LIABILITY PERIOD, WHERE THE MINIMUM FIVE YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3.

FOR AREAS APPROVED FOR A POSTMINING LAND USE OF RANGELAND, THE SUCCESS OF COVER, DIVERSITY, AND HERBACEOUS PRODUCTION SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING THE GROWING SEASON OF ANY TWO YEARS FOLLOWING YEAR SIX, WHERE THE MINIMUM TEN YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3; BUT BOND RELEASE CANNOT BE APPROVED PRIOR TO YEAR TEN. SUCH STANDARDS SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING ANY TWO GROWING SEASONS EXCEPT THE FIRST YEAR OF THE LIABILITY PERIOD, WHERE THE MINIMUM FIVE YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3. THE SUCCESS OF WOODY PLANT REESTABLISHMENT SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING ANY GROWING SEASON AFTER YEAR NINE, WHERE THE MINIMUM TEN YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3. WOODY PLANT REESTABLISHMENT SUCCESS SHALL BE DEMONSTRATED DURING ANY GROWING SEASON AFTER YEAR FOUR OF THE LIABILITY PERIOD, WHERE THE MINIMUM FIVE YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO RULE 3.02.3.

The liability period shall re-initiate whenever augmented seeding, planting, fertilization, irrigation, or other augmentive work is required or conducted. Management activities that are not augmentive and are approved as normal husbandry practices may be conducted without re-initiating the liability period under the following specified conditions:

- (a) ***
- (b) Weed control measures conducted in compliance with the "Colorado Weed Management Act" (§ 35-5.5-115) and the Division's "Guideline for the Management of Noxious Weeds on Coal Mine Permit Areas" are considered normal husbandry practices. The revegetation specifically necessitated by such measures and approved by the Division shall not re-initiate the liability period, if less than five percent of the acreage initially reclaimed in any one year is revegetated. The location and extent of such revegetation must be fully described in the annual reclamation report.

The "Colorado Weed Management Act" (§ 35-5.5-115) and the Division's "Guideline for the Management of Noxious Weeds on Coal Mine Permit Areas" are hereby incorporated by reference as they existed on the date of these regulations. This rule does not include later amendments to or editions of the incorporated material. Copies of the Weed Management Act are available on the Department of Agriculture's, Division of Plant Materials, web site. The Guideline for Management of Noxious Weeds on Coal Mine Permit Areas is available on the Division's ~~of Minerals and Geology's~~ web site. Both documents are also available at cost upon request from the Division and are available at the Division's Denver office.

- (c)-(d) ***
- (e) Fertilization, **INTERSEEDING**, and irrigation associated with pasture land forage production are considered to be normal husbandry practices when such practices are consistent with normal or prudent management in the region and could reasonably be expected to occur after final bond release. Documentation that irrigation, **INTERSEEDING**, and fertilization application rates and methods are appropriate shall be based on applicable publications, **OR SITE-SPECIFIC WRITTEN RECOMMENDATIONS** of the Cooperative Extension Service of Colorado State University, the Colorado Department of Agriculture, **OR** the United States Department of Agriculture, ~~or the written recommendations of the Colorado State University Cooperative Extension director for the county in which the mine is located.~~

- (f) ***

- (g) Interseeding is considered a normal husbandry practice to enhance species or life form diversity on rangeland, **GRAZINGLAND**, or wildlife habitat. Interseeding is not an allowable substitute for complete reseeding when a stand is dominated by species which do not support the approved post mine land use, or when vegetation cover is deficient and excessive erosion has resulted. Interseeding shall be permitted within the first four years of any ten-year liability period, upon approval by the Division. The nature, location and extent of the interseeding must be fully described in the annual reclamation report.

Interseeding is defined as a tool to enhance the diversity of established vegetation. Forb, shrub, and grass species native to the area are considered acceptable. The exact species to be used depends upon the post mining land use. Interseeding only applies to lands where vegetation is established and no other management tools are necessary. In contrast, augmented seeding is reseeding with fertilizer or irrigation, or in response to an unsuccessful reclaimed parcel. If a reclaimed parcel is deficient in vegetative cover due to insufficient moisture, poor germination or improper planting methodologies, augmented seeding would be necessary and the ten year liability period is reinitiated.

4.15.8 Revegetation Success Criteria

- (1) ~~This Subsection~~ **RULE 4.15.8** defines the success criteria which must be met for the postmining vegetation to be judged adequate for final bond release. Exceptions to the requirements of 4.15.8 may be granted only under the following conditions:

(a)-(b) ***

- (2) **WITHIN 4.15.8, APPLICABLE SUCCESS CRITERIA ARE BASED ON THE APPROVED POSTMINING LAND USE AS FOLLOWS:**

(A) **IF THE APPROVED POSTMINING LAND USE IS GRAZINGLAND OR PASTURELAND, APPLICABLE VEGETATION SUCCESS CRITERIA SHALL INCLUDE VEGETATION COVER AND HERBACEOUS PRODUCTION.**

(B) **IF THE APPROVED POSTMINING LAND USE IS RECREATION, FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT, OR UNDEVELOPED LAND, APPLICABLE VEGETATION SUCCESS CRITERIA SHALL INCLUDE WOODY PLANT DENSITY, SPECIES DIVERSITY, AND VEGETATION COVER.**

(C) **IF THE APPROVED POSTMINING LAND USE IS FORESTRY, APPLICABLE SUCCESS CRITERIA SHALL INCLUDE TREE STOCKING DENSITY, AND VEGETATION COVER.**

(D) **IF THE APPROVED POSTMINING LAND USE IS RANGELAND, APPLICABLE SUCCESS CRITERIA SHALL INCLUDE VEGETATION COVER,**

HERBACEOUS PRODUCTION, SPECIES DIVERSITY AND WOODY PLANT DENSITY.

- (23) Vegetative cover and herbaceous production, species diversity and woody plant density on the reclaimed surface (**APPLICABLE CRITERIA BASED ON APPROVED POSTMINING LAND USE PURSUANT TO RULE 4.15.8(2)**) shall be at least equal to (as defined below) the vegetative cover and herbaceous production, species diversity and woody plant density of living plants on the approved reference area or to the standards established in 4.15.7(2)(d). In addition, the vegetation on the reclaimed area shall be of the same seasonal variety native to the area of disturbed land, or shall consist of species that support the approved postmining land use.
- (34) (a) For vegetative cover the revegetated area shall be considered acceptable if statistically adequate sampling and testing pursuant to 4.15.11 demonstrate that the revegetated area cover is not less than 90 percent of the reference area cover or 90 percent of the approved standard or that the revegetated area cover exceeds 90 percent of the reference area cover or 90 percent of the approved standard, unless the Division makes a finding that:
- (i) A higher percentage of herbaceous cover than existed before mining is practicable and is desirable for reducing erosion; or
 - (ii) A lower percentage of herbaceous cover is advisable where there is danger that herbaceous vegetation will out-compete the woody vegetation and hinder its successful establishment, and the lower percentage will be adequate for erosion control.
- (b) For purposes of 4.15.8, cover means either canopy or basal cover of living herbaceous or herbaceous and woody vegetation.
- (45) For herbaceous production the revegetated area shall be considered acceptable if statistically adequate sampling and testing (**OR COMPLETE HARVEST**) pursuant to **RULE** 4.15.11 demonstrate that the revegetated area production is not less than 90 percent of the reference area production or 90 percent of the approved standard, or that the revegetated area production exceeds 90 percent of the reference area production or 90 percent of the approved standard. Production shall be measured as current year above-ground biomass of herbaceous vegetation on **GRAZINGLAND**, rangeland, pasture land, or for forage crops. For grain crops, or other non-forage crops, measurement of production shall be limited to the primary harvestable commodity.
- (56) The permittee shall be required to demonstrate, using techniques approved by the Division, that adequate species diversity has been achieved on the revegetated area. Such techniques may include, but not be limited to, diversity indices and/or comparisons of species composition

(based on cover or production) between the reclaimed area and the undisturbed vegetation.

~~(67)~~ The permittee shall be required to demonstrate, using techniques approved by the Division, that the vegetation on the reclaimed surface consists of a mixture of the species of the same seasonal variety native to the area of disturbed land, or of species that support the approved postmining land use. The vegetation on the reclaimed surface must be of equal or superior utility for the approved postmining land use when compared with the utility of naturally occurring vegetation during each season of the year.

~~(78)~~ For areas with a fish and wildlife habitat, rangeland, or recreation postmining land use, establishment of woody plants on the revegetated area shall be considered acceptable **IF A COMPLETE CENSUS DEMONSTRATES THAT WOODY PLANT DENSITY EXCEEDS 90 PERCENT OF THE APPROVED STANDARD. ALTERNATIVELY,** statistically valid sampling and testing pursuant to **RULE 4.15.11 SHALL BE USED TO** demonstrate that woody plant density mean is not less than 90 percent of the reference area or 90 percent of the approved standard, or that the woody plant density mean exceeds 90 percent of the reference area or 90 percent of the approved standard, or that the woody plant density median exceeds 70 percent of the approved technical standard. For areas with a **RANGELAND OR** wildlife postmining land use minimum stocking levels, planting arrangements, and methods for mitigation of potential adverse impacts must be determined on the basis of local and regional conditions after consultation with the and approval by the Colorado Division of Wildlife.

(a) ***

(b) For areas with a fish and wildlife, rangeland, or recreation postmining land use initially seeded after November 30, 2005, demonstrations of successful establishment of woody plants shall include documentation showing that all required woody plant establishment efforts were completed during the first four years of the liability period. Any natural woody plant regeneration will count towards the success standard.

~~(89)~~ Where the approved postmining land use is forestry, the revegetated area will be stocked using documented local and regional reforestation practices of appropriate State or Federal agencies for the species to be planted in the commercial forest, with the exception that, where no such practices exist, the minimum acceptable stocking rate shall be 450 trees per acre. The stocking rate and planting arrangement for commercial tree species shall be approved by the State Forester. Establishment of the trees shall be considered acceptable if the density is not less than 90 percent of the standard. Stocking rates shall be determined on the basis of countable trees which can be used in the calculation of density under the following criteria:

(a)-(c) ***

4.15.9 Revegetation Success Criteria: Cropland

For areas to be used as cropland, success of revegetation shall be determined on the basis of crop production from the mined area as compared to approved reference areas or other approved standard(s). Crop production from the mined area shall not be less than that of the approved reference area or standard *DURING THE GROWING SEASON OF ANY TWO YEARS FOLLOWING YEAR SIX, WHERE MINIMUM 10 YEAR LIABILITY PERIOD APPLIES, PURSUANT TO 3.02.3; BUT BOND RELEASE CANNOT BE APPROVED PRIOR TO YEAR 10. ~~two of the last four years of the liability period established in 3.02.3. Crop production shall not be considered prior to year nine of the liability period. With respect to annual grain crops for which the cropping cycle may incorporate a summer fallow year, two of the last four cropping years will be considered.~~* This liability period shall commence on the date of initial planting of the crop being grown. Production shall be considered equal if it is not less than 90% of the production as determined from the reference area or approved standard ~~with 90% statistical confidence~~ *BASED ON APPLICABLE DEMONSTRATION METHODS OF 4.15.11.*

4.15.10 ***

4.15.11 Revegetation Sampling Methods and Statistical Demonstrations for Revegetation Success

- (1) All aspects of the vegetation sampling program must be conducted to ensure a repeatable, unbiased estimate of the appropriate population parameter. Consistency in sampling shall be required in comparisons between the reclaimed area and the undisturbed areas. Both random and systematic sampling designs are acceptable. Double sampling (involving measurements and estimations as equivalent sample data) is not acceptable.

TOTAL HARVEST SUCCESS DEMONSTRATION CAN BE SUBSTITUTED FOR HERBACEOUS PRODUCTION SAMPLING; AND TOTAL WOODY PLANT COUNT (COMPLETE CENSUS) CAN BE SUBSTITUTED FOR WOODY PLANT DENSITY SAMPLING, UPON APPROVAL BY THE DIVISION, BASED ON DEMONSTRATION THAT THE TOTAL HARVEST OR CENSUS METHOD EMPLOYED IS APPROPRIATE AND PRACTICABLE, AND NO LESS EFFECTIVE THAN STATISTICALLY VALID SAMPLING.

(a)-(c) ***

- (2) Demonstrations of sample adequacy and revegetation success for cover and productivity shall be made with one of the following statistically valid approaches in (a), (b), ~~(c)~~, *OR (D)*. Demonstrations of sample adequacy and revegetation success for woody plant density shall be made with one of the following statistically valid approaches in (a), (b), ~~(c)~~, *OR (D)*, or with one of the alternative approaches specified 4.15.11(3).

(a)-(b) ***

- (c) If the reclaimed area sample mean is greater than 90 percent of the standard, and sample adequacy is not demonstrated using the formula in (a), success may be demonstrated by use of the “reverse” null hypothesis. Under the reverse null approach, a one sided t-test with alpha error probability of 0.20, is used to demonstrate that the reclaimed area mean is greater than 90 percent of the relevant success standard with 80 percent statistical confidence. The basic assumption, or null hypothesis, is that the reclaimed area mean is less than or equal to 90 percent of the standard. If the null hypothesis of equality is rejected by the test, then reclamation is considered successful for the parameter tested. A minimum sample size of thirty is required. The general form of the “reverse null” t-test is:

$$t_c = \frac{\bar{x} - Q}{S_{\bar{x}}}$$

Where:

\bar{x} = Bond Release Block Sample Mean

Q = 90% of Standard

$S_{\bar{x}}$ = Standard error of mean [s / \sqrt{n}]

S = Sample standard deviation

n = Sample size

t_c = Calculated t value

t_t = Table t value

The null hypothesis being tested is that the bond release block mean (μ) is less than or equal to 90% of the standard, stated as $H_0: \mu \leq Q$.

If t_c is greater than the 1-tailed t table value for alpha error probability of .20, with (n-1) degrees of freedom (infinite degrees of freedom may be used if $n > 30$), then H_0 is rejected, and revegetation is deemed successful.

THE GENERAL FORM OF THE REVERSE NULL (PRESENTED ABOVE) IS FOR A ONE SAMPLE T-TEST, WHICH IS VALID WHEN SAMPLE ADEQUACY IS ACHIEVED IN THE REFERENCE AREA. A TWO SAMPLE T-TEST (WITH SATTERTHWAITTE CORRECTED STANDARD ERROR AND DEGREES OF FREEDOM) IS REQUIRED IF SAMPLE ADEQUACY IS NOT ACHIEVED IN THE REFERENCE AREA. IN THE LATTER CASE, A MINIMUM SAMPLE SIZE OF 30 IS REQUIRED IN THE REFERENCE AREA AS WELL AS IN THE RECLAIMED AREA.

- (d) ***AS APPROVED BY THE DIVISION, TECHNIQUES FOR SAMPLE ADEQUACY AND STATISTICAL TESTS ARE ALLOWED FOR DETERMINING RECLAMATION SUCCESS FROM THE DOCUMENT “EVALUATION AND***

COMPARISON OF HYPOTHESIS TESTING TECHNIQUES FOR BOND RELEASE APPLICATIONS”, MAY 28, 2003, PREPARED BY MCDONALD, HOWLIN, POLYAKOVA AND BILBROUGH, FOR THE WYOMING ABANDONED COAL MINE LANDS RESEARCH PROGRAM. THIS DOCUMENT IS HEREBY INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE AS IT EXISTS ON THE DATE OF THESE REGULATIONS. THIS RULE DOES NOT INCLUDE LATER AMENDMENTS TO OR EDITIONS OF THE INCORPORATED MATERIAL. CERTIFIED COPIES OF THE DOCUMENT ARE AVAILABLE AT COST UPON REQUEST FROM THE DIVISION AND ARE AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION AT THE DIVISION'S DENVER OFFICE AND ON THE DIVISION'S WEBSITE. THE DIVISION DIRECTOR CAN PROVIDE FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING HOW THE INCORPORATED MATERIAL MAY BE OBTAINED OR EXAMINED.

(3) Demonstrations of sample adequacy and revegetation success for woody plant density may be made with one of the following valid approaches, in lieu of the approaches in (2) above.

(a) ***

(b) If the reclaimed area sample mean is equal to or greater than 90 percent of the relevant success standard, but sample adequacy is not achieved using the formula in 4.15.11(2)(a) above, success may be demonstrated by direct comparison and sample adequacy may be established by:

(i) a minimum sample size of 75, and minimum quadrat size of 100 square meters.

~~(ii) a stabilization of the reclaimed area shrub density mean as a demonstration of sample adequacy using the formula below. In this formula, variance of the running sample mean is substituted for sample variance in the numerator, with a specified precision level of 0.03 in the denominator. A minimum of 40 sample observations shall be taken even if statistical sample adequacy is achieved with fewer observations.~~

$$n_m = \frac{t^2(\text{Var}\bar{x})}{(d\bar{x})^2}$$

where:

~~Var \bar{x} = Variance of Running Sample Mean (n-1 degrees of freedom)~~

~~d = Precision (0.03)~~

~~\bar{x} = Sample arithmetic mean~~

~~t = The (α = .10) t table value for a 1 tail t test, n-1 degrees of freedom (infinite degrees of freedom may be used if n > 30)~~
~~n = Sample size~~

~~(c) If the reclaimed area sample mean is less than 90 percent of the relevant standard, a one-sided t test with alpha error probability of 0.10 shall be used to demonstrate that the reclaimed area mean is not less than 90 percent of the applicable success standard with 90 percent statistical confidence. If the basic assumption, or null hypothesis, of equality between the reclaimed area and 90 percent of the standard is not rejected by the test, then reclamation is considered successful for woody plant density. Statistical sample size adequacy must be demonstrated, and the formula in 2(b)(ii) based on stabilization of the running sample mean may be used in lieu of the formula in 2(a). If sample size adequacy is demonstrated using the formula in 2(b)(ii), a minimum of 40 sample observations shall be taken even if statistical sample adequacy is achieved with fewer observations. In addition, if this variant of the sample adequacy formula is employed, the standard deviation of the running sample mean (square root of the variance of the running sample mean) must be substituted in the t test formula for the sample standard deviation ["s" in the formula specified in 2(b)].~~

4.16 POSTMINING LAND USE

4.16.1-4.16.2 ***

4.16.3 Alternative Land Uses

Alternative land uses may be approved by the Division after consultation with the landowner or the land-management agency having jurisdiction over the lands, if the following criteria are met:

(1)-(5) ***

(6) Proposals to change premining land uses of range **LAND, GRAZINGLAND**, fish and wildlife habitat, forest land, hayland, or pasture to a postmining cropland would require continuous maintenance such as seeding, plowing, cultivation, fertilization, or other similar practices to be practicable or to comply with applicable Federal, State, and local laws, shall be reviewed by the Division to ensure that:

(a) ***

(b) ***

4.17 AIR RESOURCE PROTECTION

Each person who conducts surface coal mining and reclamation operations shall stabilize and protect all surface areas, including spoil piles, to effectively control erosion and attendant air pollution and shall conduct such operations in such a manner so as to comply with all applicable State and Federal air quality statutes and regulations.

~~Editor's Note: The following section replaces 2 CCR 407-2, 5.~~

4.18 PROTECTION OF FISH, WILDLIFE, AND RELATED ENVIRONMENTAL VALUES

(1)-(4) ***

(5) Each person who conducts surface coal mining operations, to the extent possible using the best technology currently available, shall:

(a)-(j) ***

(k) Where the primary land use is to be residential, ~~public service~~ **RECREATION**, or industrial land use, intersperse reclaimed lands with greenbelts utilizing species of grass, shrubs and trees useful as food and cover for birds and small animals, unless such green belts are inconsistent with the approved postmining land use.

4.19 ***

4.20 SUBSIDENCE CONTROL

4.20.1 General Requirements

(1) Underground mining activities shall be planned and conducted so as to **MAXIMIZE MINE STABILITY**, prevent **MATERIAL** subsidence ~~from causing material damage to the surface~~, **PREVENT DIMINUTION OF REASONABLY FORESEEABLE USE OF STRUCTURES AND RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, AND PREVENT CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION AND INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC AND RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES**, to the extent technologically and economically feasible, so as to maintain the value and reasonably foreseeable use of surface lands. This may be accomplished by leaving adequate coal in place, backfilling, or other measures to support the surface, or by conducting underground mining in a manner that provides for planned and controlled subsidence. Nothing in **RULE** 4.20 shall be construed to prohibit the standard method of room and pillar mining.

(2)-(3) ***

4.20.2 ***

4.20.3 Surface Owner Protection

- (1) Each person who conducts underground mining activities ~~shall~~ **MUST EITHER adopt all measures CONSISTENT WITH KNOWN TECHNOLOGY THAT of the subsidence control plan approved by the Division to reduce the likelihood of subsidence, to prevent subsidence from causing material SUBSIDENCE damage TO THE EXTENT TECHNOLOGICALLY AND ECONOMICALLY FEASIBLE, MAXIMIZE MINE STABILITY, AND MAINTAIN of reducing the value of AND reasonably foreseeable use of surface lands, and to mitigate the effects of any such damage or reduction which may occur OR ADOPT MINING TECHNOLOGY THAT PROVIDES FOR PLANNED SUBSIDENCE IN A PREDICTABLE AND CONTROLLED MANNER.**

IF A PERMITTEE EMPLOYS MINING TECHNOLOGY THAT PROVIDES FOR PLANNED SUBSIDENCE IN A PREDICTABLE AND CONTROLLED MANNER, THE PERMITTEE MUST TAKE NECESSARY AND PRUDENT MEASURES, CONSISTENT WITH THE MINING METHOD EMPLOYED, TO MINIMIZE MATERIAL SUBSIDENCE DAMAGE TO THE EXTENT TECHNOLOGICALLY AND ECONOMICALLY FEASIBLE TO NON-COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS AND OCCUPIED RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS AND STRUCTURES RELATED THERETO EXCEPT THAT MEASURES REQUIRED TO MINIMIZE MATERIAL SUBSIDENCE DAMAGE TO SUCH STRUCTURES ARE NOT REQUIRED IF:

- (A) THE PERMITTEE HAS THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF THEIR OWNERS, OR**
- (B) UNLESS THE ANTICIPATED DAMAGE WOULD CONSTITUTE A THREAT TO HEALTH OR SAFETY, THE COSTS OF SUCH MEASURES EXCEED THE ANTICIPATED COSTS OF REPAIR.**

- (2) Each person who conducts underground mining activities which result in subsidence that causes material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, or reduces the value or reasonably foreseeable use of surface lands, **STRUCTURES OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION, OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES** shall, with respect to each of the following surface ~~areas of~~ **LANDS, uses, OR WATER SUPPLIES** affected by subsidence:

- (a) Promptly restore or rehabilitate any **SURFACE LANDS OR** renewable resource lands for which the value or reasonably foreseeable use has been reduced or which have been materially damaged **BY SUBSIDENCE**. Such lands shall be restored or rehabilitated to a condition capable of maintaining the value and reasonably foreseeable and appropriate uses they were capable of supporting before subsidence, to the extent technologically and economically feasible.
- (b)
 - (i) Promptly **AND FULLY** repair, rehabilitate, restore, or replace damaged occupied residential dwellings and related structures or noncommercial buildings; or
 - (ii) ***

(c) **IN ANY DETERMINATION WHETHER DAMAGE TO PROTECTED STRUCTURES WAS CAUSED BY SUBSIDENCE FROM UNDERGROUND MINING, ALL RELEVANT AND REASONABLY AVAILABLE INFORMATION WILL BE CONSIDERED BY THE REGULATORY AUTHORITY.**

- (3) **EACH PERSON WHO CONDUCTS UNDERGROUND MINING ACTIVITIES WHICH RESULT IN SUBSIDENCE THAT CAUSES MATERIAL SUBSIDENCE DAMAGE, DIMINUTION IN THE REASONABLY FORESEEABLE USE OF USE OF SURFACE LANDS, STRUCTURES, OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION, OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES SHALL OBTAIN ADDITIONAL PERFORMANCE BOND IN THE AMOUNT OF THE ESTIMATED COST OF THE REPAIRS IF THE PERMITTEE WILL BE REPAIRING, OR IN THE AMOUNT OF THE DECREASE IN VALUE IF THE PERMITTEE WILL BE COMPENSATING THE OWNER, OR IN THE AMOUNT OF THE ESTIMATED COSTS TO REPLACE THE PROTECTED DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLY, IF THE PERMITTEE WILL BE REPLACING THE WATER SUPPLY, UNTIL THE REPAIR, COMPENSATION, OR REPLACEMENT IS COMPLETED. IF REPAIR, COMPENSATION, OR REPLACEMENT IS COMPLETED WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE OCCURRENCE OF THE SUBSIDENCE RELATED DAMAGE, SUBSIDENCE RELATED DIMINUTION IN USE OF SURFACE LANDS, STRUCTURES, OR RENEWABLE RESOURCE LANDS, OR THE SUBSIDENCE RELATED CONTAMINATION, DIMINUTION OR INTERRUPTION OF DRINKING, DOMESTIC OR RESIDENTIAL WATER SUPPLIES, ADDITIONAL BOND NEED NOT BE OBTAINED. THE DIVISION MAY EXTEND THE 90-DAY TIME FRAME, BUT NOT TO EXCEED ONE YEAR, IF THE PERMITTEE DEMONSTRATES AND THE DIVISION FINDS IN WRITING THAT SUBSIDENCE IS NOT COMPLETE, THAT NOT ALL PROBABLE SUBSIDENCE-RELATED MATERIAL DAMAGE HAS OCCURRED TO LANDS OR PROTECTED STRUCTURES, OR THAT NOT ALL REASONABLY ANTICIPATED CHANGES HAVE OCCURRED AFFECTING THE PROTECTED WATER SUPPLY, AND THAT THEREFORE IT WOULD BE UNREASONABLE TO COMPLETE WITHIN 90 DAYS THE REPAIR OF THE SUBSIDENCE-RELATED MATERIAL DAMAGE TO LANDS OR PROTECTED STRUCTURES, OR THE REPLACEMENT OF THE PROTECTED WATER SUPPLY.**
- (4) Nothing in **RULE** 4.20.3 shall be deemed to grant or authorize an exercise of power of condemnation or the right of eminent domain by any person engaged in underground mining activities.

4.20.4 Buffer Zones

- (1) Underground mining activities shall not be conducted beneath or adjacent to any perennial stream, or impoundment having a storage volume of 20 acre-feet or more, or bodies of water with a volume of 20 acre-feet or more unless the Division, on the basis of detailed subsurface information, determines that subsidence will not cause material **SUBSIDENCE** damage to streams, water bodies and associated structures. If subsidence causes material **SUBSIDENCE** damage, then measures will be taken to the extent technologically and economically feasible to correct the damage and prevent additional subsidence from occurring. **IF THE DIVISION DETERMINES THAT IT IS NECESSARY IN ORDER TO MINIMIZE THE POTENTIAL FOR MATERIAL DAMAGE TO THE FEATURES OR FACILITIES DESCRIBED ABOVE, IT MAY LIMIT THE PERCENTAGE OF COAL EXTRACTED UNDER OR ADJACENT THERETO.**
- (2) Underground mining activities beneath any **BODY OF WATER OR** aquifer that serves as a significant source of water supply to any public water system shall be conducted so as to avoid disruption of the **BODY OF WATER OR** aquifer and consequent exchange of **ground** water between the **BODY OF WATER OR** aquifer and other strata. The Division may prohibit mining in the vicinity of the **BODY OF WATER OR** aquifer or may limit the percentage of coal extraction to protect the **BODY OF WATER OR** aquifer and water supply.
- (3) Underground mining activities shall not be conducted beneath or adjacent to any public buildings and facilities, including but not limited to, churches, schools, hospitals, courthouses and government offices, unless the Division, on the basis of detailed subsurface information, determines that subsidence from those activities will not cause material **SUBSIDENCE** damage to these structures and specifically authorizes the mining activities. **IF THE DIVISION DETERMINES THAT IT IS NECESSARY IN ORDER TO MINIMIZE THE POTENTIAL FOR MATERIAL DAMAGE TO THE FEATURES OR FACILITIES DESCRIBED ABOVE, IT MAY LIMIT THE PERCENTAGE OF COAL EXTRACTED UNDER OR ADJACENT THERETO.**
- (4) **IF SUBSIDENCE CAUSES MATERIAL DAMAGE TO ANY OF THE FEATURES OR FACILITIES COVERED BY PARAGRAPHS (1), (2), OR (3) OF THIS RULE, THE DIVISION MAY SUSPEND MINING UNDER OR ADJACENT TO SUCH FEATURES OR FACILITIES UNTIL THE SUBSIDENCE CONTROL PLAN IS MODIFIED TO ENSURE PREVENTION OF FURTHER MATERIAL DAMAGE TO SUCH FEATURES OR FACILITIES.**
- (5) In order to protect the stability of affected land, the Division, after consultation with the operator and the ~~Colorado Division of Mines~~ **MINE SAFETY AND TRAINING PROGRAM OF THE COLORADO DIVISION OF RECLAMATION, MINING AND SAFETY**, shall suspend underground coal mining under urbanized areas, cities, towns, and communities, and adjacent to industrial or commercial buildings, major impoundments or permanent streams, if imminent danger is found to inhabitants of the urbanized areas, cities, towns, or communities. If, in the opinion of the

Division, the delay necessary for consultation would exacerbate the imminent danger to inhabitants, the Division shall suspend underground coal mining prior to consultation.

4.21 ***

4.22 CONCURRENT SURFACE AND UNDERGROUND MINING

4.22.1-4.22.3 ***

4.22.4 Performance Standards

In addition to the applicable requirements of Rule 4 each person who conducts combined surface and underground mining activities shall comply with the following:

- (1) A 500-foot barrier, measured horizontally, shall be maintained between the surface and underground mining activities, except that the Division shall permit an operator to mine near, through, or partially through an abandoned underground mine or closer to an active underground mine if the nature, timing and sequencing of the approximate coincidence of specific surface coal mining activities with specific underground mine activities are jointly approved by the Division and by the Mine Safety and Health Administration, or its successor, if such operations will result in:
 - (a) Improved coal resources recovery;
 - (b) Abatement of water pollution; or
 - (c) Elimination of hazards to the health and safety of the public.

(2)-(3) ***

4.22.5 ***

4.23-4.24 ***

4.25 OPERATIONS ON PRIME FARMLAND

4.25.1 ***

4.25.2 Special Requirements

(1)-(2) ***

- (3) Revegetation success on prime farmlands shall be measured upon the basis of comparison of actual crop production from the disturbed area, compared to the target level of crop production based on the requirements of 4.15.409 and 4.25.5 as approved by the Division in accordance with 2.06.6(32)(g). If such undisturbed prime farmland is not available for comparison purposes, comparison of production on

disturbed areas shall be made with the premining target yields approved by the Division in the permit in accordance with 2.06.6(32)(g).

(4) ***

4.25.3 Soil Removal and Stockpiling

Unless exempted by Section 34-33-114(4)(b) of the Act, surface coal mining operation for all prime farmlands as identified in Section 34-33-110(2)(q) of the Act to be mined and reclaimed, must comply with specifications for soil removal, storage, replacement, and reconstruction to be established by the ~~Secretary of the United States Department of Agriculture~~ **STATE CONSERVATIONIST OF THE U.S. NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE**, and the operator shall be required, as a minimum to:

(1) ***

(2) Segregate the B horizon of the natural soil, or underlying C horizons or other strata, or a combination of such or other strata that are shown to be texturally and chemically suitable for plant growth and that can be shown to be equally or more favorable for plant growth than the B horizon, in sufficient quantities to create in the regraded soil a root zone of comparable depth and quality to that which existed in the natural soil, and, if not utilized immediately, stockpile within the permit area this material separately from other removed soil materials and spoil and provide needed protection from wind and water erosion or contamination by acid or toxic material in accordance with 4.06.3.

(3) ***

4.25.4 ***

4.25.5 Revegetation

Each person who conducts surface coal mining activities on prime farmland shall meet the following revegetation requirements during reclamation:

(1)-(2) ***

(3) Measurement of success in prime farmland revegetation will be determined based upon the techniques approved in the permit by the Division under **RULE** 2.06.6. At a minimum, the following shall be met:

(a) ***

(b) Reference crop yields for a given crop season are to be determined from:

(i) The current yield records of representative local farms in the surrounding area, with concurrence by the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service; or

(ii) The average county yields recognized by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, which have been adjusted by the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service for local yield variation within the county that is associated with differences between non-mined prime farmland soil and all other soils that produce the reference crop. The average reference crop yield may be adjusted with the concurrence of the U.S. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service for disease, pest, and weather-induced seasonal variability, or differences in specific management practices where the overall management practices of the crops being compared are equivalent;

(c) ***

(d) In measuring revegetation success on prime farmlands, **AN APPROPRIATE TOTAL HARVEST METHOD, OR** a statistically valid sampling technique shall be employed. **IF STATISTICAL METHODS ARE EMPLOYED, A** positive determination of revegetation success shall be made with not less than 90 percent level of confidence in accordance with statistical methods as approved by the Division after consultation with the U.S.D.A. ~~Soil~~ **NATURAL RESOURCES** Conservation Service.

4.26-4.29 ***

4.30 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS

4.30.1 Temporary

(1) ***

(2) Before temporary cessation of mining and reclamation operations for a period of 30 days or more, or as soon as it is known that a temporary cessation will extend beyond 30 days, the permittee shall notify the Division. Within 90 days after notifying the Division, the permittee shall submit to the Division a notice of intention to cease temporarily or abandon operations. This notice shall include a statement of:

(a) ***

(b) The extent and kind ~~of~~ reclamation of surface area which will have been accomplished through the date of cessation or abandonment;

(c)-(d) ***

(3) ***

4.30.2 ***

RULE 5 INSPECTIONS, EFORCEMENT AND CIVIL PENALTIES

5.01 ***

5.02 INSPECTIONS

5.02.1 Scope

5.02.2 Frequency, Time and Manner of Inspections

(1)-(3) ***

(4) For the purposes of this section, an inactive surface coal mining and reclamation operation is one for which:

(a) The Division has secured from the permittee the written notice provided for under Section 4.30.1(2) of these regulations: or

(b) ***

(5)-(7) ***

(8) ***

(a) In selecting an alternate inspection frequency authorized under the paragraph above, the Division shall first conduct a complete inspection of the abandoned site and provide public notice under paragraph (8)(b) of this section. Following the inspection, the Division shall prepare and maintain for public review a written finding and proposed decision justifying the alternative inspection frequency selected. This written finding shall justify the new inspection frequency by affirmatively addressing in detail all of the following criteria:

(i)-(iv) ***

(v) The extent to which the site is located near or above urbanized areas, communities, occupied **RESIDENTIAL** dwellings, schools, and other public or commercial buildings and facilities;

(vi)-(vii) ***

(b)-(c) ***

5.02.3-5.02.6 ***

5.03 ENFORCEMENT

5.03.1 ***

5.03.2 Cessation Orders and Notices of Violation

- (1) ***
- (2) (a)-(d) ***
 - (e) If any of the conditions in paragraph (c) of this section exist, the permittee or other person who is issued a notice of violation pursuant to (a) above may request the authorized representative to grant an abatement period exceeding 90 days~~---~~. **The** authorized representative shall not grant such an abatement period without the concurrence of the Administrator or his or her designee and the abatement period granted shall not exceed the shortest possible time necessary to abate the violation. The permittee or other person who is issued a notice of violation pursuant to (a) above shall have the burden of establishing by clear and convincing proof that he or she is entitled to an extension under the provisions of 5.03.2(2)(b) and (c). In determining whether or not to grant an abatement period exceeding 90 days the authorized representative may consider any relevant written or oral information from the permittee or any other source. The authorized representative shall promptly and fully document in the file his or her reasons for granting or denying the request. The authorized representative's immediate supervisor shall review this document before concurring in or disapproving the extended abatement date and shall promptly and fully document the reasons for his or her concurrence or disapproval in the file.
 - (f)-(h) ***
- (3) ***
- (4) (a) Each notice of violation or cessation order issued shall be on a form approved by the Board, shall be signed by the authorized representative issuing it, and shall set forth with reasonable specificity the following:
 - (i) ***
 - (ii) A description of the steps necessary to abate the violation in the most expeditious manner physically possible, including a description of any affirmative obligations imposed under 5.03.2(1)(~~b~~**c**) above;
 - (iii)-(iv)***
- (b) The notice of violation or cessation order additionally shall:

- (i) ***
- (ii) Inform such person that he or she has the right to review the notice of violation or cessation order in **AN INFORMAL PUBLIC HEARING IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 5.03.2(7) AND/OR** a public hearing before the Board in accordance with **RULE 5.03.5**; and

(iii) ***

(5) (a)-(b) ***

- (c) An authorized representative may, upon written request and a showing of good cause, extend the time for abatement, subject to the overall 90 day limitation of 5.03.2(~~4~~2)(b), if the failure to abate within the time previously fixed in a cessation order was not caused by lack of diligence on the part of the person issued such order.

(d) ***

(E) RECLAMATION OPERATIONS AND OTHER ACTIVITIES INTENDED TO PROTECT PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY AND THE ENVIRONMENT SHALL CONTINUE DURING THE PERIOD OF ANY ORDER UNLESS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE ORDER.

(6)-(7) ***

5.03.3-5.03.4 ***

5.03.5 Formal Review by the Board

(1) (a)-(c) ***

- (d) A person issued any notice of proposed individual civil penalty assessment under 5.0~~54.7~~ may request review thereof by the Board within 30 days after issuance of the proposed individual civil penalty assessment.

(2)-(5) ***

5.03.6-5.03.7 ***

5.04 CIVIL PENALTIES

5.04.1-5.04.2 ***

5.04.3 Procedures for Assessment of Civil Penalties

(1)-(4) ***

- (5) (a) If any person issued a notice of violation or cessation order does not request an assessment conference under (2) above, if an assessment conference is held but the issues are not resolved, or if an agreed penalty is fixed in an assessment agreement but is not paid within the prescribed time, then the Division shall order the civil penalty fixed at an amount determined to be appropriate, in the light of the criteria set forth in 5.04.5~~(2)~~⁽³⁾ and relevant information received at any assessment conference.

(b)-(c) ***

5.04.4-5.04.6 ***

~~5.04.7~~5.05 Individual CIVIL Penalties

5.05.1 SCOPE

THIS RULE ADDRESSES THE ASSESSMENT OF INDIVIDUAL CIVIL PENALTIES UNDER SECTION 123(10) OF THE ACT.

5.05.2 WHEN AN INDIVIDUAL CIVIL PENALTY MAY BE ASSESSED

~~(4)~~The Division may assess an individual civil penalty against any Corporate Director, Officer or Agent of a Corporate Permittee who knowingly and willingly authorized, ordered or carried out a violation, failure or refusal to comply with any regulatory requirements or order of the Board. An individual civil penalty shall not be assessed in situations resulting from a violation until a cessation order has been issued by the Division to the Corporate Permittee for the violation, and the cessation order has remained unabated for 30 days.

5.05.3 AMOUNT OF INDIVIDUAL CIVIL PENALTY

~~(2)~~ The amount of civil penalty shall be based on the criteria set forth in 5.04.5 and 5.04.6.

~~(2)~~5.05.4 Procedure for assessment of individual civil penalty.

~~(a)~~⁽¹⁾ Notice. The Division shall serve on each individual a Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty assessment, including a narrative explanation of the reasons for the penalty, the amount to be assessed, and a copy of any underlying Notice of Violation and cessation order. Such notice shall be served by certified mail directed to such person, and service shall not be incomplete due to any refusal to accept service. Notifications shall be sufficient if the certified mail is directed to such person at the address set forth in the permit application as required by 2.03.4.

~~(b)~~⁽²⁾ Final order and opportunity for review. The Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty assessment shall become a final order of the Division 30 days after service upon the individual unless:

- (iA) The individual files a request for review by the Board within 30 days of service of the Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty assessment. Upon submission of a request for hearing, such hearing shall be held in accordance with 5.03.5(2) - (4); or
- (iiB) The Division and the individual or responsible Corporate Permittee agree within 30 days of service of the Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty Assessment to a schedule or plan for the abatement or correction of the violation, failure or refusal.

(4)5.05.5 Payment of Penalty

- (a1) No abatement or appeal. If a Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty Assessment becomes a final order in the absence of a request for review or abatement agreement, the penalty shall be due upon issuance of the final order.
- (b2) Appeal. If an individual named in a Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty Assessment files a request for review in accordance with 5.03.5 the penalty shall be due upon issuance of the Board Order.
- (c3) Abatement Agreement. Where the Division and the Corporate Permittee or an individual have agreed in writing on a plan for the abatement of or compliance with the unabated order, an individual named in a Notice of Proposed Individual Civil Penalty assessment may postpone payment until receiving either a final order from the Division stating that the penalty is due on the date of such final order, or written notice that abatement or compliance is satisfactory and the penalty has been withdrawn.
- (d4) Delinquent Payment. Following the expiration of 30 days after the issuance of a final order assessing an individual civil penalty, any delinquent penalty may be recovered in a civil action brought by the Attorney General, at the request of the Board, in the District Court of this State for the district in which any of the affected land is located or in such other district agreeable to all parties of such action.

5.06 ALTERNATIVE ENFORCEMENT

5.06.1 SCOPE

THIS RULE GOVERNS THE USE OF MEASURES PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 123(9), (11) AND (12) OF THE ACT FOR CRIMINAL PENALTIES AND CIVIL ACTIONS TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE WITH PROVISIONS OF THE ACT.

5.06.2 GENERAL PROVISIONS.

- (1) ***WHENEVER A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION ENTERS A JUDGMENT AGAINST OR CONVICTS A PERSON UNDER THESE PROVISIONS, THE DIVISION MUST UPDATE AVS TO REFLECT THE JUDGMENT OR CONVICTION.***

- (2) *THE EXISTENCE OF A PERFORMANCE BOND OR BOND FORFEITURE CANNOT BE USED AS THE SOLE BASIS FOR DETERMINING THAT AN ALTERNATIVE ENFORCEMENT ACTION IS UNWARRANTED.*
- (3) *NOTHING IN THIS RULE ELIMINATES OR LIMITS ANY ADDITIONAL ENFORCEMENT RIGHTS OR PROCEDURES AVAILABLE UNDER FEDERAL OR STATE LAW.*

5.06.3 CRIMINAL PENALTIES.

UNDER SECTIONS 123(9) AND (11) OF THE ACT, THE DIVISION OR BOARD MAY REQUEST THE ATTORNEY GENERAL TO PURSUE CRIMINAL PENALTIES AGAINST ANY PERSON WHO:

- (1) *WILLFULLY AND KNOWINGLY VIOLATES A CONDITION OF THE PERMIT;*
- (2) *WILLFULLY AND KNOWINGLY FAILS OR REFUSES TO COMPLY WITH:*
 - (A) *ANY ORDER ISSUED UNDER SECTION 123 OR 128 OF THE ACT; OR*
 - (B) *ANY ORDER INCORPORATED INTO A FINAL DECISION ISSUED BY THE BOARD UNDER THE ACT (EXCEPT FOR THOSE ORDERS SPECIFICALLY EXCLUDED UNDER SECTION 123(9) OF THE ACT); OR*
- (3) *KNOWINGLY MAKES ANY FALSE STATEMENT, REPRESENTATION, OR CERTIFICATION, OR KNOWINGLY FAILS TO MAKE ANY STATEMENT, REPRESENTATION, OR CERTIFICATION IN ANY APPLICATION, RECORD, REPORT, PLAN, OR OTHER DOCUMENT FILED OR REQUIRED TO BE MAINTAINED BY THE DIVISION OR ANY ORDER OR DECISION ISSUED BY THE BOARD UNDER THE ACT.*

5.046.34 CIVIL ACTIONS FOR Injunctive or Relief

- (1) *****
- (2) *A CIVIL ACTION FOR RELIEF INCLUDES A PERMANENT OR TEMPORARY INJUNCTION, RESTRAINING ORDER, OR ANY OTHER APPROPRIATE ORDER BY A DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE DISTRICT IN WHICH THE SURFACE COAL MINING AND RECLAMATION OPERATION IS LOCATED OR IN WHICH THE PERMITTEE HAS HIS/HER PRINCIPAL OFFICE.*
- (3) *TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDERS WILL BE ISSUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 65 OF CHAPTER 7 OF THE COLORADO RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, AS AMENDED.*
- (~~4~~) *Any relief granted by the court to enforce an order based on a violation or failure or refusal to comply with any order or decision issued by the Board or Division under the Act or these Rules shall continue in effect until the completion or final termination of all proceedings for review of such order under the Act, unless, prior thereto, the district court granting such relief sets such order aside or modifies it.*

RULE 6 BLASTERS TRAINING AND CERTIFICATION

6.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

6.01.1 Scope

This section establishes the minimum requirements for the blaster training and certification program for the State of Colorado. The objectives of this section are to ensure that all surface blasting operations are conducted by trained and competent persons certified under a program which meets the minimum criteria established by applicable law.

As used in this Rule a certified blaster means a person certified under the requirements of Rule 6 to be directly responsible for the blasting operations in surface coal mining operations and surface blasting operations of underground coal mining operations. A certified blaster shall be familiar with the blasting requirements of Rule 2.05.43(6)(A) and Rule 4.08. ~~A certified blaster is differentiated from a shotfirer certified by the State of Colorado in accordance with 24-32-116, C.R.S. A certified blaster has design responsibilities, whereas the shotfirer does not. The blaster certification applies only to surface blasting activities, whereas the shotfirer certification applies to surface and underground blasting activities.~~

6.01.2 ***

6.01.3 Duties of Blasters and Operators

(1)-(2) ***

(3) A certified blaster shall produce on-site or at the mine office his certificate to any authorized representative of the ~~Colorado~~ Division ~~of Mines, the Colorado Mined Land Reclamation Division~~ or the Office of Surface Mining upon request.

(4)-(6) ***

6.02-6.03***

6.04 SUSPENSION OR REVOCATION OF CERTIFICATIONS

~~6.04.1~~ (1) The following are grounds for suspension or revocation of blaster certification:

(a)-(e) ***

(f) Failure to present certification upon request of the Division ~~of Mines, the Mined Land Reclamation Division~~, or Office of Surface Mining personnel;

(g)-(h) ***

(2)-(3) ***

RULE 7 DESIGNATING AREAS UNSUITABLE FOR SURFACE COAL MINING

7.01-7.05 ***

7.06 PETITION PROCEDURE

7.06.1 ***

7.06.2 Petition Requirements: Designation

A petition for designation shall be in writing, shall be directed to the Board, and shall contain the following information:

- (1) The name, address, ~~and~~ telephone number, **AND NOTARIZED SIGNATURE** of the petitioner.

(2)-(4) ***

7.06.3 Petition Requirements: Termination

A petition to terminate an unsuitability designation shall be in writing, shall be directed to the Board, and shall contain the following information:

- (1) The name, address, ~~and~~ telephone number, **AND NOTARIZED SIGNATURE** of the petitioner.

(2)-(4) ***

7.06.4 to end ***